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Income statement (IFRS) 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 Change in % 

Net interest income 1,006 873 15.1 

Risk provisions 44 (75) - 

Net interest income after risk provisions 1,050 799 31.5 

Net commission income 189 154 22.8 

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 145 51 >100 

Gains or losses on hedge accounting (3) (9) (65.8) 

Gains or losses on derecognised financial assets1 5 (1) - 

Gains or losses on financial investments 7 31 (77.1) 

Administrative expenses (754) (764) (1.3) 

Expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee 
scheme (170) (142) 20.0 

Other income and expenses 14 38 (64.1) 

Gains or losses on restructuring 1 0 >100 

Profit/loss before taxes 485 158 >100 

Cost/income ratio (CIR) 55.3% 67.2% (11.9) pp2 

Return on equity (RoE) 9.5% 3.2% +6.3 pp2 

 

Quarterly comparison 

The table below compares performance in the first and second quarters of 2021: 

EUR million Q2 2021 Q1 2021 

Net interest income 530 476 

Risk provisions 13 32 

Net interest income after risk provisions 542 508 

Net commission income 95 94 

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 60 85 

Gains or losses on hedge accounting (9) 6 

Gains or losses on derecognised financial assets1 2 3 

Gains or losses on financial investments 1 6 

Administrative expenses (361) (394) 

Expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme (26) (144) 

Other income and expenses 14 0 

Gains or losses on restructuring 2 (1) 

Profit/loss before taxes 321 164 
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Balance sheet (IFRS) 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 Change in % 

Total assets 282,448 256,271 10.2 

Business volume 328,362 302,142 8.7 
Credit volume 224,925 219,827 2.3 

Total deposits 210,666 185,774 13.4 

Securitised liabilities 45,981 43,037 6.8 

Subordinated capital 2,222 1,685 31.8 
Equity 11,963 11,576 3.3 

Banking supervisory capital and ratios under CRR/CRD IV  

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 Change in % 

Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1 capital) 10,148 10,301 (1.5) 

Own funds 12,370 11,993 3.1 

Total RWAs 65,075 64,974 0.2 

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio 15.6% 15.9% (0.3) pp2 

Total capital ratio 19.0% 18.5% +0.5 pp2 

Employees 

  30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 Change in % 

Number of employees 8,484 8,532 (0.6) 

Current ratings 

  Issuer rating 
Short term, 
unsecured Pfandbriefs3 

Fitch Ratings A- (stable) F1 AAA 

Moody’s Investors Service Aa3 (stable) P-1 Aaa 

 

Rounding differences may occur in the tables. 

1 For financial assets measured at amortised cost. 

2 Percentage points. 

3 Applies to public Pfandbriefs (Fitch and Moody’s) and mortgage Pfandbriefs (Moody’s).  
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Group structure 

The Group’s legal structure in the first half of 2021 remained the same as it was at the end of 

2020. Further information can be found in the “Foundations of the BayernLB Group” section of 

the combined management report for financial year 2020.  

Group management and controls 

The following changes were made to the Board of Management:  

At its meeting on 24 September 2020, BayernLB’s Supervisory Board appointed Gero Bergmann 

to the Board of Management of the Bank. With effect from 1 May 2021, he succeeded Dr Edgar 

Zoller, who retired after his contract came to an end on 30 April 2021. Mr Bergmann is responsi-

ble for the Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institutions segment. 

At its meeting on 17 December 2020, BayernLB’s Supervisory Board appointed Johannes Anschott 

to the Board of Management of the Bank. From 1 April 2021, he succeeded Michael Bücker, who 

left the Bank by mutual agreement on 31 March 2021. Mr Anschott is responsible for the Corpo-

rates & Markets segment.  

There were no changes to the members of the Supervisory Board in the first half of 2021. 

The members of the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of BayernLB are listed un-

der the “Administrative bodies of BayernLB” note in the notes to the consolidated half-yearly fi-

nancial statements.  

Changes in the scope of consolidation and the investment portfolio 

No material purchases or sales of companies were made in the first half of financial year 2021.  

Information on changes to companies in the scope of consolidation can be found in the “Scope 

of consolidation” note.  

Foundations of the BayernLB Group 
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Macroeconomic and sector-specific environment 

Global environment much brighter 

As expected, the coronavirus pandemic continued to dominate the global economy in the first 

half of 2021. Economic performance varied between regions and countries due to the differ-

ences in lockdown strategies, the speed of the vaccination rollout and the degree to which ailing 

sections of the economy and businesses could be protected from the impact of the crisis. In the 

Far East, especially China, the authorities managed to suppress the spread of the virus early and 

effectively so that a recovery quickly set in during 2021. In the US, the fast pace of the immunisa-

tion programme in the first half of 2021 unlocked the doors to an early easing of restrictions and 

a decisive, unexpectedly generous fiscal package by the Biden administration unleashed a con-

siderably more dynamic recovery than had originally been anticipated. Europe also felt this tail-

wind from Asian and North America, largely in the form of higher demand for industrial goods. 

Manufacturing sentiment hit cyclical highs in the second quarter. Overall, the eurozone had a 

better start to 2021 than predicted, with only a small contraction in real economic output com-

pared with the end of 2020 due to high infection rates, tight restrictions on industry and busi-

nesses and a sluggish vaccination campaign1. Italy reported a significant recovery in capital ex-

penditure following the change in government at the start of the year, while Ireland started off 

2021 in a strong position in spite of or due to Brexit, which managed to take place without mas-

sive disruption to supply chains.   

Economic recovery and higher inflation after lockdown in Germany ends 

In Germany, real economic output deflated by an unusually high, seasonally adjusted 1.8 percent 

compared with the previous quarter.2 Key factors here besides the inclement weather, were the 

strict lockdown and VAT hike, which severely curtailed private consumption. But by spring, eco-

nomic output was already roaring back. Leading indicators pointed to strong growth both for 

the services sector and industry, with the latter benefiting from the EU (Next Generation EU) and 

the US investment programmes. Order intake is now well ahead of the level before the crisis.3 

And last but not least, it became increasingly difficult to obtain supplies of raw materials and in-

termediate goods. For example, the automotive industry had problems sourcing semi-conduc-

tors. Industrial production did not therefore keep pace with incoming orders.4 The construction 

industry was hit too.  

The division of the German real estate market into two very different halves continued into the 

first half of 2021 as well. Residential property prices climbed even higher in the first quarter of 

2021 than had been expected at the end of 2020, rising 8.4 percent compared with the same 

 
1  See Eurostat, press release 66/2021, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/11563119/2-08062021-

AP-EN.pdf  
2  See Federal Statistical Office press release no. 244 dated 25 May 2021, https://www.desta-

tis.de/EN/Press/2021/05/PE21_244_81.html  
3  See Federal Statistical Office, Auftragseingang im Verarbeitenden Gewerb,  https://www.destatis.de/DE/The-

men/Wirtschaft/Konjunkturindikatoren/Auftragseingang/kae211.html  
4  See Federal Statistical Office, Produktionsindex Verarbeitendes Gewerbe, https://www.destatis.de/DE/The-

men/Wirtschaft/Konjunkturindikatoren/Produktion/kpi112.html  

Report on the economic position  

https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/11563119/2-08062021-AP-EN.pdf
https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/11563119/2-08062021-AP-EN.pdf
https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2021/05/PE21_244_81.html
https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2021/05/PE21_244_81.html
https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Wirtschaft/Konjunkturindikatoren/Auftragseingang/kae211.html
https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Wirtschaft/Konjunkturindikatoren/Auftragseingang/kae211.html
https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Wirtschaft/Konjunkturindikatoren/Produktion/kpi112.html
https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Wirtschaft/Konjunkturindikatoren/Produktion/kpi112.html
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quarter the previous year, according to figures from vdp5. As expected, however, over the whole 

of 2020 and in the first quarter of 2021 the all-pervasive negative economic environment cast a 

dark shadow over the commercial property market, which is sensitive to the state of the econ-

omy. In the first quarter of 2021, prices retreated 1.5 percent compared with the first quarter of 

2020, according to statistics from vdp.6 An overall stabilising effect on prices in the German real 

estate market came from low interest rates, which have been a firm fixture for years and an un-

employment rate only marginally above pre-crisis levels. Thanks to short-time working, the ex-

pected increase in unemployment did not materialise (so far), nor did the feared wave of insol-

vencies.7 For the rest of the year, a cautious all-clear can be sounded in light of the rising 

demand for labour. Owing to the unexpectedly long lockdown, some sectors are, however, ex-

posed to significant downside risks despite receiving state support. These include bricks-and-

mortar non-food retail and hotels. 

On the other hand, consumer prices smashed expectations. Rising commodity, input and inter-

mediate goods prices put producers under heavy cost and pricing pressure. As the lockdown re-

strictions were eased and demand went up, purchase prices could be increasingly passed on to 

consumers. In the period to June, consumer price inflation rose to 2.3 percent, while energy 

prices jumped by more than 9 percent year on year8. By the end of the year, the inflation rate 

may well break the 4 percent barrier. 

ECB holds course while Fed begins talking about tapering 

This slow, gradual reflation of the economy could also be observed at a European level9. But the 

ECB regarded it as a temporary phenomenon. It held to its expansionary monetary stance and 

targeted the preservation of favourable financing conditions during the pandemic. With the aid 

of the pandemic bond-buying PEPP programme, which was stepped up at the end of 2020, the 

central bank counteracted the US’s interest rate hike. To this end, PEPP purchase volumes were 

increased in the second and third quarter compared with the start of the year. In the US, where 

the CPI inflation rate was much higher than in Europe after opening up earlier, the Fed main-

tained its QE-purchases (quantitative easing) with the coronavirus pandemic still raging, but has 

latterly signalled that it wanted to start talking about tapering its purchases of securities. 

Up to mid-June, the euro-dollar exchange rate was more or less in line with the Bank’s expecta-

tions at the start of the year. Initially, the dollar appreciated on the bank of President Biden’s 

spending programme and the good state of the US economy. However, in April/May, progress in 

vaccinating the population against coronavirus in Europe and the rosier outlook for the econ-

omy helped get the euro back on its feet. In mid-June, the Fed though confounded expectations 

 
5  See. vdp Research, https://www.pfandbrief.de/site/de/vdp/immobilie/finanzierung_und_markt/vdp-immobilienpre-

isindex.html  
6  See. vdp Research, https://www.pfandbrief.de/site/de/vdp/immobilie/finanzierung_und_markt/vdp-immobilienpre-

isindex.html  
7 See Federal Employment Agency Monthly Report on the Labour and Training Market, June 2020, https://www.ar-

beitsagentur.de/datei/arbeitsmarktbericht-juni-2021_ba147064.pdf  
8  See Federal Statistical Office press release no. 308 dated 29 June 2021., https://www.desta-

tis.de/DE/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2021/06/PD21_308_611.html   
9  See Eurostat, press release 73/2021., https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/11563203/3-30072021-

CP-DE.pdf/ff7ae570-77c1-3979-457e-804f5a13dc10?t=1627634129544  

https://www.pfandbrief.de/site/de/vdp/immobilie/finanzierung_und_markt/vdp-immobilienpreisindex.html
https://www.pfandbrief.de/site/de/vdp/immobilie/finanzierung_und_markt/vdp-immobilienpreisindex.html
https://www.pfandbrief.de/site/de/vdp/immobilie/finanzierung_und_markt/vdp-immobilienpreisindex.html
https://www.pfandbrief.de/site/de/vdp/immobilie/finanzierung_und_markt/vdp-immobilienpreisindex.html
https://www.arbeitsagentur.de/datei/arbeitsmarktbericht-juni-2021_ba147064.pdf
https://www.arbeitsagentur.de/datei/arbeitsmarktbericht-juni-2021_ba147064.pdf
https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2021/06/PE21_308_611.html;jsessionid=EABA042C9FE9912BE943AF5EE25877DA.live732
https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2021/06/PE21_308_611.html;jsessionid=EABA042C9FE9912BE943AF5EE25877DA.live732
https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-euro-indicators/-/3-30072021-cp
https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-euro-indicators/-/3-30072021-cp
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with a markedly higher interest rate forecast for 2023, causing the dollar to close the first half of 

2021 around 3 percent higher on USD 1.186 per euro, which was slightly stronger than antici-

pated10. Even pound sterling emerged less scathed from the Brexit after-pains than we had fore-

cast, largely thanks to the relative progress made in vaccinating the UK population.   

Sovereign bond yields rose from low levels while equities bounced ahead 

On bond markets, yields on long-dated sovereigns rose as expected as it became clear the econ-

omy was healing, leading to higher inflation. In the first half of 2021, 10-year German govern-

ment bonds rose from around -0.6 percent at the start of the year to -0.2 percent.11 In May, they 

peaked at -0.1 percent.12 In the US, where the economy was advancing, yields rose more sharply, 

especially in the first quarter, only for Treasury yields on longer maturities to consolidate in the 

second quarter. As shorter-dated sovereigns in the eurozone were held low (as expected) by the 

ECB’s low interest-rate policy, the yield curve steepened. The spread between two-year German 

treasury notes and 10-year Bunds widened from 13 to 46 basis points in the first half of the 

year.13 

After their dramatic collapse at the start of the coronavirus pandemic, stock markets continued 

to recover in the first half of 2021. Equities were supported by the stronger-than-expected recov-

ery in corporate earnings and the ultra-loose monetary policy of the main central banks. The Ger-

man DAX climbed from 13,719 at the start of the year to 15,531 at the end of June, an increase of 

13.2 percent (including dividends).14 The EURO STOXX 50 benchmark index for the eurozone per-

formed even better in the first half of the year with a total gain of 16.6 percent (including divi-

dends).15 

 
10 See EUR-USD Exchange Rate, taken from Refinitiv Datastream on 8 July 2021. 
11 See Bloomberg, 10-year Bund yield, taken from Bloomberg on 8 July 2021. 
12 See Bloomberg, 10-year Bund yield, taken from Bloomberg on 8 July 2021. 
13 See Bloomberg, 10-year Bund yield, taken from Bloomberg on 8 July 2021. 
14 See Deutsche Börse: DAX 30 Performance Index, taken from Refinitiv Datastream 8 July 2021. 
15 See STOXX: EURO STOXX 50 Total Return Index, taken from Refinitiv Datastream on 8 July 2021 
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Banking sector turns in good performance thanks to support measures 

In the first half of 2021, the situation in Europe’s banking market eased further thanks to the on-

going monetary and fiscal support measures. Share prices of the larger listed banks rallied in the 

first six months, as the 27 percent increase in the EURO STOXX Banks Index confirmed.16 As 

measured on the iTraxx Europe Senior Financial Index and the iBoxx Banks Senior Index, credit 

spreads had settled at their pre-pandemic levels for several months after normalising during the 

second half of 2020.17 

Lower-than-expected risk costs were reported in the annual report for 2020. This shone the spot-

light once again on the focus of business models, profitability and efforts to digitalise. Key indi-

cators such as the capital base and asset quality showed that the sector is on a solid footing, alt-

hough the consequences of the pandemic have not been fully digested. For example, at the end 

of March 2021 the CET1 ratio and NPL ratio stood at 15.6 percent and 2.5 percent respectively (as 

an EU average).18 Low-cost liquidity has been in plentiful supply since the start of 2021 following 

the ECB’s two additional TLTRO tranches totalling about EUR 440 billion (targeted longer-term 

refinancing operations  – TLTRO III).19 The EU-wide LCR ratio was 174 percent as at the end of 

March 2021.20 

Competition is still very intense. As a result, banks in Germany continued to press ahead with 

their cost-cutting and workforce downsizing programmes. 

 
16 See EURO Bank Performance Index, taken from Bloomberg 6 July 2021  
17 See Markit iTraxx Europe Senior Financial Index and iBoxx Euro Banks Senior Index, taken from Refinitiv 

Datastream on 6 July 2021 
18 See EBA Risk Dashboard Q1 2021 https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_li-

brary/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20dashboard/Q1%202021/1016352/EBA%20Dashboard%20-

%20Q1%202021_v1.pdf 
19 See https://www.ecb.europa.eu/mopo/implement/omo/html/index.en.html 
20 See EBA Risk Dashboard Q1 2021 , https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_li-

brary/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20dashboard/Q1%202021/1016352/EBA%20Dashboard%20-

%20Q1%202021_v1.pdf  

https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20dashboard/Q1%202021/1016352/EBA%20Dashboard%20-%20Q1%202021_v1.pdf
https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20dashboard/Q1%202021/1016352/EBA%20Dashboard%20-%20Q1%202021_v1.pdf
https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20dashboard/Q1%202021/1016352/EBA%20Dashboard%20-%20Q1%202021_v1.pdf
https://www.ecb.europa.eu/mopo/implement/omo/html/index.en.html
https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20dashboard/Q1%202021/1016352/EBA%20Dashboard%20-%20Q1%202021_v1.pdf
https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20dashboard/Q1%202021/1016352/EBA%20Dashboard%20-%20Q1%202021_v1.pdf
https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20dashboard/Q1%202021/1016352/EBA%20Dashboard%20-%20Q1%202021_v1.pdf
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Regulatory environment 

Application of CRR II 

Key changes in the regulatory environment arose from CRR II rules, which have been mandatory 

since 28 June 2021. This meant that the new indicators – the leverage ratio and net stable fund-

ing ratio (NSFR) – became binding for the first time. Under the solvency regime, a new standard 

method to measure counterparty risks from derivatives transactions was introduced. In addition, 

changes were made to the presentation of investment funds, capital requirements for the NPL 

backstop were introduced as minimum cover for problem loans and extensive changes were 

made to reporting forms and disclosure requirements. 

Changes were also made to the large exposure regulations. For example, the reference values 

for calculating large exposures were switched from eligible own funds to Tier 1 capital, lowering 

the thresholds defined for large exposures and ceilings. In addition, the mandatory substitution 

method had to be applied for the first time to all collateral providers.   

EBA stress test 

In the first half of 2021, the European Banking Authority (EBA) greenlighted the bank stress test, 

which is designed to determine the general resilience of banks within the EU to adverse eco-

nomic developments. This was performed by BayernLB and another 50 banks across the whole 

European Union. The EBA published the results of the bank stress test for 2021 on its website on 

30 July 2021. 

BayernLB achieved solid scores in the latest stress test. The stress scenario shows an economic 

and asset price-based shock due to the uncertainty about the course of the coronavirus pan-

demic. The capital ratio (CET1 ratio) stood at 10.0 percent in this scenario, which means BayernLB 

met the capital requirements in this scenario too.  

Coronavirus pandemic 

Although the impact on the banking sector has to date been moderate – compared with the real 

economy – the still ongoing coronavirus pandemic was one of the main focuses of the ECB’s su-

pervisory practices in the first half of 2021. One of them, the management of credit risks, was 

right at the top of the agenda. 

Various measures used by the EBA, ECB and BaFin in 2020 to ensure banks can continue operat-

ing smoothly in crisis situations were continued in the first half of 2021. Permission to allow 

banks to operate with lower levels of capital than they are normally required to hold in accord-

ance with Pillar-2 guidance and the capital conservation buffer was extended. The option to al-

low banks to exclude central bank deposits from the exposure used to calculate the leverage ra-

tio was also extended until March 2022. 
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However, the banking supervisor decided not to extend into the first half of 2021 operating re-

liefs it granted in crisis-hit 2020, such as the ability to structure the SREP process in a pragmatic 

way and the option to postpone external reporting dates. At the same time, additional reporting 

and disclosure requirements in connection with coronavirus-related measures and impacts were 

kept in place. 

Resolution regime 

The revision to EU bank resolution legislation will also flesh out the structure of the MREL thresh-

olds. The resolution authorities calibrated the MREL thresholds on the basis of a risk-oriented 

metric (RWA) and a component that is independent of the risk measurement (leverage expo-

sure).  

Deposit protection 

BayernLB is a member of the guarantee scheme for banks managed by the German Savings Bank 

Association (Deutscher Sparkassen- und Giroverband e.V., Berlin (DSGV)). In 2020, following a re-

view of the guarantee system of the Savings Banks Finance Group, the ECB and BaFin communi-

cated to the DSGV certain expectations they have as to how the guarantee system should be fine-

tuned and updated. The Savings Banks Finance Group is still conducting an internal reconcilia-

tion process. Based on a timetable and action plan, it is envisaged the necessary changes will be 

implemented by the end of 2023.  

In issuing the Ordinance of 8 June 2021 on the statutory compensation scheme of the Bun-

desverband Öffentlicher Banken Deutschlands GmbH (EdÖ), the Federal Ministry of Finance 

ended its mandate as a statutory compensation scheme with effect from 1 October 2021. On 1 

October 2021, Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin (DKB) will be legally assigned to 

the Entschädigungseinrichtung deutscher Banken GmbH (EdB), a subsidiary fully owned by the 

Association of German Banks (BdB). 
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Course of business  – the main developments and geopolitical events in the first half of 2021 

Process to transform the BayernLB Group continued  

In the first half of 2021, the BayernLB Group continued to systematically implement the programme 

agreed at the end of 2019 that will see it strategically realigned and transformed. As part of the 

cyclical strategy process, the long-term strategic target structure underwent its regular review in 

the first half of 2021 and, in July 2021, was confirmed with only a few adjustments.  

Almost all the implementation projects of the “Fokus 2024” transformation programme reached 

their defined milestones in the first half of 2021 as well and went live according to plan. A key 

milestone in the strategic realignment of the business model to that of a streamlined specialised 

lender and the transformation of BayernLB's corporate customer business was achieved with the 

switch from a traditional relationship to a consistent, tailored approach to each sector. The cross-

functional sector teams set up for selected growth industries are the basis for the new integra-

tive relationship management approach for BayernLB's corporate customers, with bundled advi-

sory and product expertise along the entire value chain. BayernLB has also made good progress 

with regard to further refining its distribution capabilities. For example, it has reported its first 

successes in placing project and real estate financing with institutional investors. 

After the cost savings targets for 2020 were achieved, the Group pressed ahead with its unchanged 

ambitious cost targets for 2021 and beyond. In the first half of 2021, it also met its savings target 

for the current 2021 financial year by systematically implementing cost-cutting measures. 

The human resources tools to downsize and restructure the workforce in a socially responsible 

manner, which were agreed between the Board of Management and BayernLB’s General Staff 

Council in 2019, were well received by employees in the first half of 2021 too. In total, some 400 

severance agreements have been concluded since the start of the programme, which, taking nat-

ural attrition into account, means that more than 50 percent of the 940-strong target reduction 

in staffing has been achieved. The remaining reductions in headcount will take place in stages up 

to 31 December 2023. 

Good progress was also made in the project to modernise the IT infrastructure at BayernLB and 

DKB that was initiated in the transformation programme. Project “Kopernikus”, the largest pro-

ject to overhaul the IT bank management application environment at BayernLB, was set in mo-

tion at the end of the second quarter of 2021. 
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Portfolio of sustainable refinancing instruments further expanded 

The BayernLB Group successfully expanded its portfolio of sustainable refinancing instruments in 

the first half of the year. Following several ESG issues by DKB and the social bond of Bayerische 

Landesbodenkreditanstalt, Munich (BayernLabo), BayernLB has now expanded the BayernLB 

Group’s range of sustainable products. In the first half of the year, BayernLB launched the green 

commercial paper programme and placed its first green benchmark bond (green non-preferred 

bond) with a volume of EUR 500 million, followed by a green subordinated Tier 2 bond in bench-

mark format, also with a volume of EUR 500 million.  

Successful first half of 2021 with jump in profit before taxes, still stable capital base, solid liquid-

ity and low NPL ratio 

In the first half of financial year 2021, the BayernLB Group benefited from further strategic 

growth and the rigorous realignment of the Group, the boost from the ECB’s TLTRO III pro-

gramme to net interest income, net positive risk provisions and higher gains on fair value meas-

urement. Overall, all operating segments in the Group contributed to the successful business 

performance in the first six months of financial year 2021.  

The BayernLB Group’s results of operations 

EUR million 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2021 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2020 Change in % 

Net interest income 1,006 873 15.1 

Risk provisions 44 (75) – 

Net interest income after risk provisions 1,050 799 31.5 

Net commission income 189 154 22.8 

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 145 51 >100.0 

Gains or losses on hedge accounting (3) (9) (65.8) 

Gains or losses on derecognised financial assets 5 (1) – 

Gains or losses on financial investments 7 31 (77.1) 

Administrative expenses (754) (764) (1.3) 

Expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee 
scheme (170) (142) 20.0 

Other income and expenses 14 38 (64.1) 

Gains or losses on restructuring 1 0 >100.0 

Profit/loss before taxes 485 158 >100.0 

Income taxes (235) (56) >100.0 

Profit/loss after taxes 249 101 >100.0 

Profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests (2) – – 

Consolidated profit/loss 248 101 >100.0 

Rounding differences may occur in the tables. More detailed information can be found in the notes. 
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In the first half of 2021, the BayernLB Group posted a jump in profit before taxes of EUR 485 mil-

lion (H1 2020: EUR 158 million), beating the expectations for full-year 2021 already in the first six 

months.  

Net interest income rose by 15.1 percent or EUR 133 million to EUR 1,006 million (H1 2020: EUR 

873 million). Key contributors were the interest rate reductions on targeted refinancing opera-

tions with the ECB (TLTRO III) that were utilised and the additional growth of business across the 

Group.  

Risk provisions were positive on a net basis at EUR 44 million (H1 2020: net negative EUR 75 mil-

lion). This was partly thanks to overall improvement in the macroeconomic environment.  

Gains or losses on fair value measurement came in much higher year on year at EUR 145 million 

(H1 2020: EUR 51 million). Uplift here came from the one-off effects from transfer of the euro-

denominated OTC derivatives in economic hedges from LCH.Clearnet Ltd., London, United King-

dom (LCH.Clearnet) to Eurex Clearing Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main (Eurex Clearing) and 

the precious metals business, which remained buoyant.  

The Group’s administrative expenses stood at EUR 754 million, a slight fall on the previous year 

period of 1.3 percent or EUR 10 million (H1 2020: EUR 764 million), which is clear evidence that 

overall the cost-cutting measures are having an impact.  

At EUR 170 million, there was a steep increase in the separately reported mandatory contribu-

tions for the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme (H1 2020: EUR 142 million). 

The cost/income ratio (CIR)21 was 55.3 percent (31 December 2020: 67.2 percent) and therefore 

below target.  

The return on equity (RoE)22 rose to 9.5 percent (31 December 2020: 3.2 percent), well above tar-

get, primarily due to the higher contribution from net interest income, risk provisions and gains 

or losses on fair value measurement.  

As at the reporting date, the CET1 ratio stood at 15.6 percent (31 December 2020: 15.9 percent), 

with RWA of EUR EUR 65.1 billion (H1 2020: EUR 65 billion). It also comfortably exceeded its 

MREL (minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities).  

As at the reporting date, BayernLB’s leverage ratio was 4.4 percent (as per CRR/CRD IV). It also 

complied with the lower ratio of 3.1 percent set by the supervisory authorities.  

The BayernLB Group’s liquidity position was comfortable throughout the period under review. 

Cash outflows due to the coronavirus pandemic were manageable at all times. The significantly 

 
21  Cost/income ratio (CIR) - ratio of administrative expenses to gross earnings as an indicator of cost efficiency. Gross 

earnings comprise net interest income, net commission income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, gains 

or losses on hedge accounting, gains or losses on derecognised financial assets, gains or losses on financial invest-

ments and other income and expenses. 
22 Return on Equity (RoE) -  ratio of profit before taxes to equity, as calculated according to regulatory requirements. 

The average Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital available over the financial year is used at Group level to calcu-

late the return on equity. For all management levels below this, the average economic capital employed in the fi-

nancial year is derived from the risk-weightings of the underlying individual transactions (RWAs) specified by regu-

latory authorities. 
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further improved liquidity situation as at 30 June 2021 was in part due to the BayernLB Group’s 

participation in the ECB tenders (TLTRO III) and the reinvestment of the funds. Furthermore, the 

Group subsidiary DKB bolstered its already strong position in the retail business through a surge 

in customers and lending activities.  

Despite the ongoing coronavirus pandemic, the risk profile of the BayernLB Group remained sta-

ble in the first half of financial year 2021. The BayernLB Group had adequate risk-bearing capac-

ity at all times during the period up to the reporting date. Risk provisions took appropriate ac-

count of known risks.  

The BayernLB Group’s non-performing loan ratio fell during the reporting period to 0.5 percent 

(H1 2020: 0.6 percent). While BayernLB saw no change at 0.6 percent, DKB posted a fall from 0.5 

percent to 0.4 percent. The increase in business volumes, partly due to the utilisation of the ECB 

tenders, had no significant impact on the NPL ratio Without adjustment for this increase, the NPL 

ratio for the BayernLB Group would have been 0.6 percent. 
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Report on the BayernLB Group’s net assets, financial position and results of operations 

Main changes to the BayernLB Group’s results of operations 

Net interest income 

EUR million 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2021 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2020 Change in % 

Interest income 2,486 2,811 (11.5) 

of which:       

Credit and money market transactions 1,326 1,461 (9.2) 

Financial investments 66 91 (28.1) 

Hedge accounting derivatives and derivatives in 
economic hedges 527 982 (46.4) 

Negative interest 567 275 >100.0 

Other interest income 1 1 – 

Interest expenses (1,481) (1,937) (23.6) 

of which:       

From liabilities to banks and customers (408) (518) (21.1) 

For securitised liabilities (136) (190) (28.2) 

For subordinated capital (34) (36) (6.8) 

From hedge accounting derivatives and 
derivatives in economic hedges (489) (885) (44.7) 

From negative interest (390) (268) 45.4 

Other interest expenses (23) (40) (43.6) 

Net interest income 1,006 873 15.1 

 

Net interest income came in at EUR 1,006 million (H1 2020: EUR 873 million), a major improve-

ment on the previous year period. The BayernLB Group was mainly helped here by the favoura-

ble refinancing conditions of the ECB tender (TLTRO III) and growth in new business in line with 

the strategy.  

As at 30 June 2021, the BayernLB Group drew down EUR 38.5 billion from the TLTRO III refinanc-

ing programme, of which EUR 13.0 billion was used by BayernLB and EUR 25.5 billion by DKB. 

The BayernLB Group produced net interest income of EUR 164 million in the first half of 2021 as 

a result of the utilisation of the TLTRO III reduced interest rates. Of this amount, EUR 59 million 

related to BayernLB and EUR 105 million to DKB. However, the transfer of the euro-denominated 

OTC derivatives in economic hedges from LCH.Clearnet to Eurex Clearing weighed on this line 

item, with the charge amounting to EUR 44 million. The corresponding positive effect was re-

ported under gains or losses on fair value measurement. Adjusted for the impact on the income 

statement from TLTRO III and the LCH-Eurex transfer, net interest income would have been EUR 

886 million.  
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Risk provisions  

EUR million 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2021 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2020 Change in % 

Additions (499) (574) (13.0) 

Direct writedowns (7) (8) (8.2) 

Releases 533 452 17.8 

Recoveries on written down receivables 16 44 (65.0) 

Income from the write-up of purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets 2 10 (80.3) 

Risk provisions 44 (75) – 

 

The risk provisions item significantly boosted profit before taxes in the reporting period as a re-

sult of net releases of EUR 44 million (H1 2020: net additions of EUR 75 million). The improve-

ment in market conditions was the main reason for the reduction. The risk provisions item in the 

first six months of the previous year included a post model adjustment (PMA) which was made as 

a result of the deteriorating macroeconomic outlook brought on by the coronavirus pandemic. 

To prepare itself for potential future credit defaults as a result of the coronavirus crisis, the Bay-

ernLB Group made a post model adjustment of EUR 48 million in the first half of 2020 and 

topped it up again by the end of 2020. Following the regular review of the macroeconomic sce-

narios, it was determined that EUR 32 million of the PMA could be reversed as a result of the im-

proved economic outlook as at 30 June 2021. For further information about the PMA, refer to the 

notes to the consolidated half-yearly financial statements.  

Net commission income 

EUR million 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2021 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2020 Change in % 

Fund business 61 52 17.3 

Credit business 53 55 (3.6) 

Securities business 28 20 40.0 

Card business 19 26 (26.9) 

Trust transactions 8 8 – 

Payments 4 (11) – 

Documentary business 3 5 (40.0) 

Other net commission income 13 (1) – 

Net commission income 189 154 22.8 

 

Net commission income continued to improve in spite of the still difficult market environment, 

increasing by EUR 35 million to EUR 189 million (H1 2020: EUR 154 million) as the BayernLB 

Group benefited in the first half of 2021 from high levels of commission from the fund and secu-

rities business.  
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Most of the contribution to earnings from the fund business came from Real I.S. AG Gesellschaft 

für Immobilien Assetmanagement, Munich (Real I.S.) and BayernInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesell-

schaft mbH, Munich (BayernInvest). The main boost to net commission income came from the 

higher overall amounts of purchase fees and management fees charged on the increased volume 

of assets under management.  

The credit business once again benefited from the demand for financing products in the corona-

virus support programmes and the enduring positive trend in the real estate and subsidised loan 

business.  

The net commission income in the securities business was the outcome largely of a continued 

high level of customer activity in that segment.  

Another boost came from higher income in the payments business. A significant contribution 

here came from DKB. However, the card business reported a fall due to the ongoing travel re-

strictions.  

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 

EUR million 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2021 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2020 Change in % 

Net trading income 33 218 (84.9) 

Gains or losses on financial assets in the FVPLM 
category1 not held for trading 75 (154) – 

Gains or losses on the fair value option category 37 (13) – 

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 145 51 >100.0 

1 FVPLM – Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss  

 

1 FVPLM – Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss  

Gains or losses on fair value measurement produced a gain of EUR 145 million (H1 2020: 

EUR 51 million), a marked year-on-year improvement. There was also an improvement in gains or 

losses financial instruments mandatorily measured at fair value as a result of a measurement 

gain on an equity interest. However, this was offset by measurement losses on the correspond-

ing hedges, which were booked to net trading income.  

The net trading income line item also received a major boost of EUR 31 million from other finan-

cial transactions, with EUR 25 million of this amount coming from the precious metals business, 

which benefited from high demand for gold as a safe haven asset. The “fair value option” cate-

gory included gains in the amount of EUR 44 million following the transfer of euro-denominated 

OTC derivatives in economic hedges from LCH.Clearnet to Eurex Clearing. The corresponding loss 

was booked to net interest income. 

Gains or losses on derecognised financial assets 

The gains or losses on derecognised financial assets line item produced a gain of EUR 5 million in 

2021 (H1 2020: loss of EUR 1 million) for the first six months of financial year 2021. Most of this 

improvement was due to measurement effects on significant contractual amendments at DKB 

(EUR 4 million).  
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Gains or losses on financial investments 

The gains or losses on financial investments line item produced a gain of EUR 7 million, which 

was EUR 24 million lower year on year (FY 2020: gain of EUR 31 million). Proceeds from sales of 

securities fell back to EUR 7 million (H1 2020: EUR 21 million), while gains or losses on invest-

ments dropped to EUR 50,000 (H1 2020: EUR 12 million).  

Administrative expenses 

EUR million 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2021 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2020 Change in % 

Staff costs (428) (420) 1.8 

Other administrative expenses (284) (307) (7.3) 

Amortisation and depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets (not 
including goodwill) (42) (37) 12.5 

Administrative expenses (754) (764) (1.3) 

 

Administrative expenses were slightly lower at EUR 754 million (H1 2020: EUR 764 million). This 

reduction was achieved despite strategic investments in growth at DKB and investments in the 

modernisation of IT at BayernLB. The EUR 8 million increase in staff costs to EUR 428 million 

(H1 2020 EUR 420 million) was offset by a EUR 18 million fall in general expenses to EUR 284 mil-

lion (other administrative expenses plus amortisation and depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets). The main reasons for the rise in staff costs were DKB’s for-

ward-looking measures to achieve growth and the related expansion of headcount. It is clear 

from the reduction in general expenses at BayernLB (EUR -6 million) and DKB (EUR -14 million) 

that the cost-cutting measures of the transformation programme are proving effective.  

Expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme 

Expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme rose by EUR 28 million year on year to 

EUR 170 million (H1 2020: EUR 142 million) and included expected or determined annual contri-

butions for the bank levy in the amount of EUR 75 million (H1 2020: EUR 68 million) and for the 

deposit guarantee scheme in the amount of EUR 95 million (H1 2020: EUR 74 million), with the 

growth in deposits at DKB playing a major role.  

Income taxes 

In the reporting period, the Group reported income tax expenses of EUR 235 million (H1 2020: 

income tax expenses of EUR 56 million). The item comprised expenses of EUR 42 million 

(H1 2020: expenses of EUR 38 million) from the netting of current tax income and expenses, and 

expenses of EUR 193 million (H1 2020: expenses of EUR 18 million) from the netting of deferred 

tax income and expenses. The jump in deferred tax expenses was due to the revaluation of de-

ferred taxes at the BayernLB Group based on the knowledge available as at 30 June 2021 regard-

ing the ending of the control and profit and loss transfer agreement with DKB, and the subse-

quent ending of the income tax group by no later than 2022.  
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Segments  

The segment report is based on the monthly internal management reports to the Board of Man-

agement and reflects the business structure of the BayernLB Group.  

The segment structure of the BayernLB Group was unchanged on the previous year and, as at 30 

June 2021, comprised the following three segments under the business strategy: 

• “Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institutions” including the legally dependent Bay-

ernLabo and the consolidated subsidiary Real I.S. and BayernInvest  

• Corporates & Markets 

• DKB, with the business activities of the DKB group and the Group subsidiary Bayern Card-Ser-

vices GmbH - S-Finanzgruppe, Munich (BCS). 

Another component of the BayernLB Group is the Central Areas & Others segment, which along 

with the earnings from the Group Treasury Division, also includes consolidation entries not allo-

cated to the other segments.   

All segments posted pleasing results 

The contributions of the individual segments to profit before taxes of EUR 485 million (H1 2020: 

EUR 158 million) are shown below:  

EUR million 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2021 1 Jan - 30 Jun 2020 Change in % 

Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institutions 155 117 32 

Corporates & Markets 97 (5) >100.0 

DKB 273 115 >100.0 

Central Areas & Others (including Consolidation) (41) (70) 41.1 

        

1 After adjustment as per IFRS 8.29       

1 After adjustment as per IFRS 8.29 

 

Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institutions segment 

• Real Estate Division again reports rising operating earnings and an uptick in new business. 

• The Savings Banks & Financial Institutions Division benefits from the growth in the precious 

metals and subsidised loans businesses. 

• The asset management companies REAL I.S. and BayernInvest both report higher earnings year 

on year. 

The Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institutions segment’s profit before taxes was 

EUR 155 million (H1 2020: EUR 117 million), which was much higher than in the previous year.  
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The Real Estate Division again made a significant contribution to the segment’s earnings with a 

profit before taxes of EUR 86 million (H1 2020: EUR 68 million). The improved profitability was 

due on the income side largely to an increase in net interest income to EUR 114 million (H1 2020: 

EUR 101 million) resulting from the increase in the volume of business. The division was also 

helped by slightly net positive risk provisions compared with the year-before period, when it 

posted net negative risk provisions of EUR 9 million, partly to cover expected losses resulting 

from the coronavirus pandemic.  

The Savings Banks & Financial Institutions Division once again turned in a higher profit before 

taxes of EUR 30 million (H1 2020: EUR 25 million) compared with the previous year. Earnings 

from net interest and commission income were up on the previous year at EUR 73 million (H1 

2020: EUR 64 million), due to the sustained positive trend in state-subsidised business. At EUR 37 

million, gains or losses on fair value measurement once again benefited from the very good per-

formance of the precious metals business, although this was below the previous year’s figure of 

EUR 48 million. Administrative expenses were pared back to EUR 81 million (H1 2020: EUR 87 mil-

lion), largely owing to the streamlining of the Bank through the transformation process. 

BayernLabo improved its profit before taxes to EUR 19 million (H1 2020: EUR 12 million) as the 

largely project-related increase in administrative expenses to EUR 30 million (H1 2020: EUR 28 

million) was offset by the net gain on fair value measurement. Gains or losses on fair value meas-

urement, which are sensitive to market fluctuations, broke even (H1 2020: EUR loss of 8 million).   

Profit before taxes at Real I.S. amounted to EUR 17 million, which was well above the previous 

year (H1 2020: EUR 9 million). Key drivers of the increased earnings were the purchase and port-

folio fees collected from assets under management, which rose significantly. The related increase 

in administrative expenses was more than compensated by the increase in net commission in-

come.  

Profit before taxes at BayernInvest stood at EUR 3 million (H1 2020: EUR 2 million), an improve-

ment on the previous year. The higher net commission income, which was partly due to an in-

crease in net new income from retail funds, outweighed the project and IT-related administrative 

expenses.  

Corporates & Markets segment 

• Earnings were lifted by a good performance by the customer business and net gains on meas-

urement resulting from market trends.   

• High risk provisions in the previous year to cover potential risks from coronavirus. 

• Decline in administrative expenses reflecting the initial results of the decision to focus on a 

narrower range of products and services in the capital markets business. 

The Corporates & Markets segment generated a profit before taxes of EUR 97 million (H1 2020: 

loss before taxes of EUR 5 million). The main reason for this was the marked drop in risk provi-

sions. In the previous year, net risk provisions stood at EUR -65 million, partly to cover expected 

losses resulting from the coronavirus pandemic. This fell in the current financial year to EUR -1 

million. Administrative expenses in the segment fell back to EUR 144 million (H1 2020: EUR 167 

million) largely owing to the streamlining in the capital market business. The segment’s net in-
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terest income and net commission income were boosted by the good performance of the cus-

tomer business, rising to EUR 206 million (H1 2020: EUR 188 million). Other positive contribu-

tions to earnings came from net gains on measurement resulting from market trends.  

DKB segment 

• DKB segment’s profits up significantly, mainly due to the reduced interest rates from TLTRO III 

that were utilised, net gains on measurement of fund and equity interests and a net fall in risk 

provisions. 

• Number of retail customers around EUR 4.8 million. 

• Stable operating earnings at BCS.  

The DKB segment’s profit before taxes amounted to EUR 273 million, well ahead of the previous 

year’s EUR 115 million.  

The DKB sub-group accounted for the majority of the profit before taxes with EUR 267 million 

(H1 2020: EUR 114 million). Net interest and net commission income came in at EUR 575 million 

(H1 2020: EUR 470 million), a marked improvement on the previous year, largely as a result of 

the utilisation of TLTRO III reduced interest rates and higher net commission income. This in turn 

was partly due to the jump in securities transactions in the retail customer business, and the con-

tinued growth, especially in the infrastructure business. Earnings were also bolstered by meas-

urement gains on the DKB sustainability funds and equity interests.  

Risk provisions were a net positive EUR 32 million (H1 2020: EUR 2 million) as a result of net re-

leases including from the post model adjustment, a clear improvement on the previous year.  

DKB’s status as Germany’s second-largest online bank was further cemented by an increase in re-

tail customer numbers to around 4.8 million (H1 2020: around 4.5 million). To secure the Group’s 

position in the market for the long term, more investment was made in sales and distribution, 

digitalisation and increasing headcount. Nevertheless, administrative expenses of EUR 326 mil-

lion remained on a par with the year-before period (H1 2020: EUR 316 million).  

DKB also recorded an increase in expenses for the bank levy and the deposit guarantee scheme, 

with the total amount reaching EUR 54 million (H1 2020: EUR 37 million).  

BCS’s profit before taxes advanced to EUR 4 million (H1 2020: EUR 1 million) due to positive one-

off effects. Earnings from business operations remained stable. The number of cards served rose 

by about 5 percent on the previous year to 11.7 million.  
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Central Areas & Others segment  

• Segment earnings strongly dented by the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme. 

• The Group Treasury Division’s higher profits were largely the result of favourable refinancing 

conditions at the ECB in connection with the coronavirus pandemic. 

• The positive one-off effects, which were lower than in the previous year, were offset by meas-

urement gains in the Treasury and the non-core portfolio. 

The Central Areas & Others segment produced a loss before taxes of EUR 41 million (H1 2020: 

loss of EUR 70 million). This was again mainly due to a charge totalling EUR 116 million (H1 2020: 

EUR 104 million) for the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme, not including DKB’s share. 

The segment’s better profitability was mainly driven by the Group Treasury Division, which re-

ported a higher profit before taxes of EUR 101 million (H1 2020: EUR 42 million). Most of the in-

crease was due to the utilisation of the reduced interest rates from TLTRO III. However, the boost 

to net interest income was mostly outweighed by the transfer of clearing activities from 

LCH.Clearnet to Eurex Clearing, the result of which was to shift a significant amount of earnings 

from net interest income to gains or losses on fair value measurement.  

The segment was also helped by net measurement gains in Group Treasury and the non-core 

portfolio, which offset lower one-off earnings than in the previous year.  

Administrative expenses of EUR 69 million were largely on a par with the previous-year (H1 2020: 

EUR 67 million).  

The net profit figure included consolidation effects of EUR -4 million (H1 2020: EUR +12 million) 

from differences in valuations within the Group.  
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Main changes to the BayernLB Group’s net assets 

The lending business continued to account for a major part of the BayernLB Group’s net assets. 

To support the credit business by continuing to offer favourable financing conditions to custom-

ers during pandemic-induced periods of stress and to safeguard liquidity, the BayernLB Group 

took part as at 30 June 2021 in the ECB’s TLTRO III programme, borrowing EUR 38.5 billion (31 

December 2020: EUR 27.0 billion) from this facility.  

This resulted in an increase in total assets, as well as business and credit volumes. 

EUR billion 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 Change in % 

Total assets 282.5 256.3 10.2 

Business volume1 328.4 302.1 8.7 

Credit volume2 224.9 219.8 2.3 

1 Total assets plus contingent liabilities and other commitments. 
2 Due from banks and customers plus contingent liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements. 

 

 

Assets 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 Change in % 

Cash reserves 33,915 9,342 >100.0 

Loans and advances to banks 59,069 56,177 5.1 

Loans and advances to customers 154,730 152,376 1.5 

Risk provisions (1,039) (1,084) (4.2) 

Portfolio hedge adjustment assets 541 1,014 (46.6) 

Assets held for trading 9,516 12,110 (21.4) 

Positive fair values from derivative financial 
instruments (hedge accounting) 583 876 (33.4) 

Financial investments 20,417 21,881 (6.7) 

Investment property 29 28 3.2 

Property, plant and equipment 469 489 (4.1) 

Intangible assets 147 144 1.5 

Tax assets 585 780 (25.0) 

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as 
held for sale 138 26 >100.0 

Other assets 3,350 2,113 58.6 

Total assets 282,448 256,271 10.2 
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Cash reserves and loans and advances to banks 

Cash reserves and loans and advances to banks increased by EUR 27.5 billion compared with the 

end of 2020. This was partly due to DKB’s continued participation (in the amount of EUR 11.5 bil-

lion) in the ECB’s third series of the long-term refinancing programme (TLTRO III).  

As at 31 December 2020, the BayernLB Group participated in the TLTRO III programme in the 

amount of EUR 27.0 billion (BayernLB EUR 13.0 billion, DKB EUR 14.0 billion). DKB utilised a fur-

ther tranche of EUR 11.5 billion in the first quarter of 2021 when the maximum participation 

amount was raised. As at 30 June 2021, a total of EUR 38.5 billion was utilised within the TLTRO 

III refinancing programme, of which EUR 13.0 billion related to BayernLB and EUR 25.5 billion to 

DKB.  

Loans and advances to customers  

Loans and advances to customers increased by EUR 2.3 billion from the end of 2020 to 

EUR 154.7 billion (31 December 2020: EUR 152.4 billion). Most of this change was attributable to 

the expansion of the credit business.   

Risk provisions 

Year on year, risk provisions at the BayernLB Group fell slightly by EUR 45 million to EUR 1.0 bil-

lion (31 December 2020: EUR 1.1 billion).  

A PMA of EUR 292 million (31 December 2020: EUR 325 million) is included in the risk provision 

recognised as at the reporting date, which also takes account of the ongoing extreme uncer-

tainty about future economic growth brought on by the coronavirus pandemic. Following the 

regular review of the macroeconomic scenarios, it was determined that EUR 32 million of the 

PMA could be reversed as a result of the improved economic outlook as at 30 June 2021. 

The risk provisions for loans still being serviced by customers (Stages 1 and 2) were decreased by 

EUR 34 million to EUR 420 million (31 December 2020: EUR 454 million). The provision for non-

performing loans (Stage 3) dropped by EUR 6 million year on year to EUR 575 million (31 Decem-

ber 2020: EUR 581 million). The provision for loans already impaired upon initial recognition was 

reduced by EUR 5 million year on year to EUR 44 million (31 December 2020: EUR 49 million).   

Portfolio hedge adjustment 

The portfolio hedge adjustment arose from the creation of a fair value hedge of interest-rate 

risks at portfolio level at DKB. The change in the portfolio hedge adjustment corresponded to the 

changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting). 
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Assets held for trading 

There was a EUR 2.6 billion fall in assets held for trading to EUR 9.5 billion compared with the 

end of the previous year (31 December 2020: EUR 12.1 billion). The factors behind this were the 

lower positive fair value from derivative financial instruments and BayernLB’s decision to signifi-

cantly scale back fixed-income business in line with its policy to realign the capital market busi-

ness. Under this policy, the Bank has been actively reducing portfolios through sales to custom-

ers and market partners. 

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale 

As at 30 June 2021, the BayernLB Group held non-current assets or disposal groups classified as 

held for sale in the amount of EUR 138 million (31 December 2020: EUR 26 million). This increase 

was due to the allocation of credit exposures as instruments classed as available for sale as a re-

sult of the winding down of non-core business in the Corporates & Markets segment in line with 

strategy.  

 

Liabilities 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 Change in % 

Liabilities to banks 92,476 75,995 21.7 

Liabilities to customers 118,190 109,779 7.7 

Securitised liabilities 45,981 43,037 6.8 

Liabilities held for trading 7,961 9,374 (15.1) 

Negative fair values from derivative financial 
instruments (hedge accounting) 1,017 1,178 (13.6) 

Provisions 1,902 2,895 (34.3) 

Tax liabilities 98 162 (39.5) 

Liabilities from the disposal of land/discontinued 
operations 28 6 >100.0 

Other liabilities 609 584 4.3 

Subordinated capital 2,222 1,685 31.8 

Equity 11,963 11,576 3.3 

Total liabilities 282,448 256,271 10.2 

 

Liabilities to banks  

On the liabilities side, liabilities to banks stood at EUR 92.5 billion, a EUR 16.6 billion increase ver-

sus the position as at the end of 2020. The reason for this was DKB’s continued participation (in 

the amount of EUR 11.5 billion) in the TLTRO III programme run by the ECB.  

Liabilities to customers  

Liabilities to customers increased by EUR 8.4 billion to EUR 118.2 billion (31 December 2020: 

EUR 109.8 billion). This was related to an increase in deposits by domestic retail customers, espe-

cially at DKB.  
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Securitised liabilities  

Securitised liabilities rose by EUR 3.0 billion to EUR 46.0 billion as at 30 June 2021 (31 Decem-

ber 2020: EUR 43.0 billion), principally because of the expansion of sustainable ESG issues at Bay-

ernLB and DKB.  

Liabilities held for trading 

Liabilities held for trading amounted to nearly EUR 8.0 billion, EUR 1.4 billion less than their 

value as at year-end 2020. The decline was the result of changes to negative fair values from de-

rivative financial instruments, especially from interest rate-related derivatives transactions.  

Provisions  

To cover the pension obligations, in financial year 2020 the first transfer of funds in the amount 

of EUR 2.4 billion was made to BayernLB Treuhand e. V., Munich under a contractual trust ar-

rangement (CTA). In the first half of 2021, additional liquid assets of EUR 740 million were pro-

vided to the CTA to ensure the Group’s benefit obligations are met. The plan assets were netted 

against the covered liabilities. Where the assets exceeded the liabilities that needed to be cov-

ered, the resulting surplus was reported as a net asset amount under other assets.  

Compared with the figure as at the end of 2020, pension provisions after pension liabilities had 

been netted against plan assets fell from EUR 2.0 billion to EUR 1.0 billion.  

Other provisions climbed by EUR 13 million to EUR 940 million (31 December 2020: EUR 927 mil-

lion), largely owing to the creation of provisions for legal disputes and expected mandatory con-

tributions for the deposit guarantee scheme. At the end of April this year, the Federal Court of 

Justice (BGH) decided that the current clauses in a bank’s general business conditions that as-

sume the customer’s consent are invalid. As a result of the ruling, in the second quarter of 2021 

DKB set aside provisions for potential claims from customers in the amount of EUR 7 million.  

Liabilities of disposal groups 

The liabilities of disposal groups relate to the Corporates & Markets segment, where non-strat-

egy compliant products are being wound down.  

Subordinated capital 

The Group’s subordinated capital stood at EUR 2.2 billion as at 30 June 2021, an increase of EUR 

500 million (31 December 2020: EUR 1.7 billion). This was due to the issue of the green subordi-

nated bond in benchmark format (subordinated Tier 2 bond) with a volume of EUR 500 million.  
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Equity 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 Change in % 

Subscribed capital 3,412 3,412 0.0 

Capital surplus 2,182 2,182 0.0 

Retained earnings 5,989 5,719 4.7 

Revaluation surplus 114 165 (30.9) 

Foreign currency translation reserve 2 5 (64.7) 

Consolidated profit/loss 248 75 >100.0 

Non-controlling interests 17 18 (4.7) 

Equity 11,963 11,576 3.3 

 

The Group’s equity as at 30 June 2021 was about EUR 12 billion and therefore around EUR 

400 million more than the figure of EUR 11.6 billion as at 31 December 2020. The main boost 

came from the gains from the remeasurement of defined benefit obligation pension commit-

ments in the amount of EUR 264 million, which was booked to retained earnings. The revalua-

tion surplus declined by EUR 51 million, mainly due to the measurement of bonds and notes at 

fair value through other comprehensive income. Thanks to the good performance by the busi-

ness, the BayernLB Group closed the first half of the year with a higher consolidated net profit of 

EUR 248 million (31 December 2020: EUR 75 million).  

Main changes to the BayernLB Group’s financial position 

Liquidity  

During financial year 2021, it was ensured that liquidity reserves at the BayernLB Group were al-

ways adequate, even in stress situations. Further information on refinancing and the liquidity sit-

uation is provided in the risk report.  

in % 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 Change in % 

LCR 266.0 211.01 55.0 pp 

NSFR 136.6 – – 

1 After adjustment as per IAS 8.42 

The liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) rose in the reporting period to 266 percent (31 Decem-

ber 2020: 211 percent, adjusted) and was therefore above the 100 percent threshold required by 

the regulator.  

The net stable funding ratio (NSFR) in the BayernLB Group stood at 136.6 percent as at the re-

porting date and therefore far exceeded the 100-percent minimum ratio required by the regula-

tor.  

Participation in TLTRO III had no impact on the funding plan for structural liquidity. The BayernLB 

Group had access to the capital market with a broad range of products. Besides unsecured refi-

nancing instruments (preferred and non-preferred senior bonds, Tier 2 subordinated capital and 

additional Tier 1 capital), the Group can also issue secured funding instruments, in particular 

mortgage Pfandbriefs and public Pfandbriefs, if it needs to raise financing. Pfandbriefs are a sta-

ble part of the mix of refinancing options at its disposal. They provide the BayernLB Group with 
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stable access to long-term funding, at a lower cost than unsecured sources of funding. Its issues 

take the form of large-volume benchmark bonds right through to private placements.  

Ratings 

The rating agencies Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s) and Fitch Ratings (Fitch) have assigned 

the following ratings to BayernLB: 

  Moody’s Fitch 

Issuer rating Aa3 (stable) A– (stable) 

Long term, preferred senior unsecured Aa3 (stable) A 

Long term, non-preferred senior unsecured A2 A– 

Short term, unsecured P– 1 F1 

Public Pfandbriefs Aaa AAA 

Mortgage Pfandbriefs Aaa – 
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Principles 

The combined management report of the BayernLB Group for financial year 2020 gives a detailed 

description of the principles, methods, procedures and organisational structures of risk manage-

ment within the BayernLB Group and the internal control and risk management system for ensur-

ing the accounts have been properly prepared and are reliable. The information provided in the 

risk report section of the Group half-yearly financial report therefore relates to material changes 

in the first half of 2021.  

Rounding differences may occur in the tables. 

Key developments in the first half of 2021  

• Largely stable risk profile  

• Further growth of new business 

• Risk-bearing capacity maintained at all times 

• Liquidity position still healthy  

The risk profile of the BayernLB Group remained largely stable in the first half of 2021, despite 

business growth and the ongoing coronavirus crisis, thanks to proactive risk management. 

Gross credit volume rose by around EUR 31.6 billion to EUR 345.0 billion. The increase is mostly 

the result of the Group’s participation in the ECB’s TLTRO III programme. In line with strategy, 

new business came in particular from Retail/Other. Growth in the Financial Institutions sub-port-

folio stemmed mainly from the increase in demand for government subsidy programmes associ-

ated with the coronavirus pandemic.  

Portfolio quality remains high overall, even taking into account the significant negative impact of 

the coronavirus pandemic and without considering the effects of the significant increase in busi-

ness volume with the Deutsche Bundesbank as a result of investing the liquidity obtained under 

the TLTRO III programme. 

Amid the ongoing pandemic, risk-bearing capacity was maintained throughout the first half of 

2021 as risk capital was solid at all times. In addition, the BayernLB Group had a good supply of 

liquidity on hand.  

BayernLB achieved solid scores in the latest EBA stress test. The capital ratio (CET1 ratio) stood at 

10.0 percent in this stress scenario, which means that BayernLB also met the capital requirements 

in this scenario. 

Risk report 
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Internal risk management system  

In the Corporates & Markets Business Area, the Corporates Division was restructured as a conse-

quence of the strategic realignment and transformation of the corporate customer business. This 

involved a change from a traditional relationship approach to that of a streamlined specialised 

lender with a consistently sector-based structure, in order to achieve the goal of the Bank’s trans-

formation. The focus is on the sectors of the future referred to in the Course of business section, 

with priority given to structured asset finance and debt capital markets as the future core of the 

product offering. The creation of cross-functional sector teams as the operating model, coupled 

with a cross-sectoral mapping of product expertise, is the basis for bundling consultancy and 

product expertise along the entire value chain. Portfolio management by sector will therefore be 

further improved. 

The Group Risk Control Division shifted in the first half of 2021 from an organisation unit based 

on risk type to a process-oriented one. This new structure along the value chain now allows the 

division to bundle similar tasks and leverage synergies. For example, the reporting of risk trends 

for all types of risk has been consolidated in a single unit, while the underlying data is also made 

available by one unit for all risk types. 

Risk-oriented management 

Regulatory capital adequacy (solvency) 

Despite the ongoing coronavirus pandemic, the BayernLB Group has a solid capital base with a 

CET1 ratio of 15.6 percent. In order to ensure compliance with the regulatory minimum and in-

ternal targets, the RWA budget is allocated to the Group units by means of a top-down approach 

and compliance with the RWA budget is monitored on a monthly basis. 

In addition to risk-weighted capital requirements, the leverage ratio, an additional non-risk-

based metric, was also introduced under the CRR/CRD IV rules. The leverage ratio has already 

been fully integrated into the BayernLB Group’s management and planning processes. Compli-

ance with the minimum ratio of 3 percent has been mandatory since 30 June 2021. Utilisation of 

the exception permitted for exposures to central banks pursuant to Article 429a para. 1 n) and 

para. 7 CRR II has resulted in a slightly increased mandatory minimum ratio (3.1 percent) at pre-

sent, which was significantly exceeded with a leverage ratio of 4.4 percent as at the reporting 

date. 
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Economic capital adequacy (risk-bearing capacity) 

Economic risk-bearing capacity is monitored at BayernLB and DKB levels, and also at BayernLB 

Group level, where the risk units of the two Group units are consolidated. The aim of ICAAP is to 

ensure that there is sufficient economic capital at all times to fully cover the risks assumed or 

planned. 

Current situation 

Risk capital requirements 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Credit risk 1,356 1.331 

Market risk 1,958 1.798 

Pension basis risk 259 290  

Operational risk 501 505  

Investment risk 95 124  

Business and strategic risk (includes reputational risk) 133 272  

Liquidity cost risk 25 7  

Total 4,326 4.328 

 

Despite the ongoing coronavirus crisis, the risk capital requirement remained virtually un-

changed as at 30 June 2021. Its solid capital base meant that the BayernLB Group had adequate 

risk-bearing capacity at all times. The BayernLB Group holds sufficient economic capital at EUR 

10.6 billion (31 December 2020: EUR 10.3 billion) to cover its risk capital requirements.  

The greatest increase in the risk capital requirement was in market risk and was the result of a 

strategic repositioning in Group Treasury that increased the interest rate liabilities. This was off-

set by a reduction in the risk capital requirement for business and strategic risk, due in large part 

to an uplift in earnings, to which the easing of the coronavirus pandemic and its consequences 

was a contributor.  

Stress testing 

As part of the stress-testing programme, standard calculations were performed and,  in the first 

half of 2021, a scheduled stress test for an inflation scenario was conducted for the BayernLB 

Group. The results take into account internal hedging factors between risk types that ensure that 

the risk-bearing capacity is not jeopardised from a regulatory and economic perspective. 

Details of the EBA stress test are provided in the regulatory environment section. 
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Management of the specific risk types in the BayernLB Group 

Credit risk 

To limit risk concentrations, the maximum gross credit volume for each economic borrower unit 

was reduced in the first half of 2021 from EUR 500 million to EUR 400 million Group-wide. There 

were no significant changes to risk measurement, monitoring or reporting in the period under 

review. The information presented in the BayernLB Group’s 2020 combined management report 

stands. 

Current situation 

The credit risk as presented below is based on the figures used for internal reporting to the 

Board of Management and the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board (management ap-

proach). The figures are in turn based on an economic perspective and therefore deviate in some 

aspects from the rules applicable for accounting purposes (e.g. undrawn internal current account 

limits are taken into account). There may also be deviations from the accounting-based scope of 

consolidation, as under MaRisk internal risk management includes only BayernLB and DKB. 

The quantitative data on forborne exposures and coronavirus-related measures is shown in the 

renegotiated credits section on the basis of the IFRS consolidated figures.  

 

The gross credit volume for credit transactions comprises the gross lending volume – draw-

downs plus unutilised commitments – and undrawn uncommitted current account facilities. This 

is calculated from market values for trading transactions and from potential future exposure for 

derivatives transactions from financial year 2021, with a confidence level of 95 percent.23 

 
23  For details of the changes in the calculation of the gross credit volume for derivatives transactions, refer to the com-

ments in note 2. 
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Compared with 31 December 2020, the BayernLB Group’s gross credit volume rose by 

EUR 31.6 billion or 10.1 percent to EUR 345.0 billion.  

The Countries/Public-Sector/Non-Profit Organisations sub-portfolio posted the largest increase 

(EUR 27.8 billion). A significant portion of this surge was the result of the continued participation 

in the long-term refinancing tender TLTRO III totalling EUR 11.5 billion and the associated liquid-

ity investment at the Deutsche Bundesbank. The gross credit volume with the Deutsche Bundes-

bank rose by EUR 27.5 billion to EUR 64.7 billion 

Excluding the increased liquidity investments at the Deutsche Bundesbank, the gross credit vol-

ume at the BayernLB Group rose by EUR 4.2 billion. In keeping with the strategy, the Commercial 

Real Estate and Retail/Other sub-portfolios played a significant part in the growth in business. 

The lion’s share of the increase in the Financial Institutions sub-portfolio came from savings 

banks and was largely the result of subsidy programmes associated with the coronavirus pan-

demic which were implemented via these institutions. 

The effects of the coronavirus pandemic observed in 2020 in the form of declines in creditworthi-

ness in some areas of the Corporates sub-portfolio24 generally continued to be felt during the 

reporting period. Sectors highly impacted by restrictions induced by the pandemic, e.g. tourism 

and aviation, saw particularly stark declines. However, there was something of a reduction in the 

negative effects in certain areas during the period under review. Stabilisation and improvements 

in creditworthiness were seen in the Financial Institutions and Corporates sub-portfolios. The fu-

ture creditworthiness will be strongly dependent on the further course of the coronavirus pan-

demic. 

Gross credit volume at the BayernLB Group, BayernLB and DKB by sub-portfolio   

  BayernLB Group BayernLB DKB 

EUR million 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
Change  

(in %) 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 

Countries/Public Sector/ 
Non-Profit Organisations 119,474 91,677 30.3% 64,280 47,867 55,194 43,810 

Corporates 74,515 74,659 (0.2)% 52,842 53,791 21,672 20,868 

Commercial Real Estate 60,606 59,186 2.4% 29,587 28,346 31,019 30,839 

Financial Institutions 54,235 52,824 2.7% 51,979 50,957 2,255 1,867 

Retail/Other 36,196 35,053 3.3% 3,425 3,525 32,772 31,529 

of which Retail 36,125 34,919 3.5% 3,353 3,390 32,772 31,529 

Total 345,026 313,399 10.1% 202,113 184,486 142,913 128,913 

 

 
24 For details of the changes to the management of the Corporates sub-portfolio and the associated adjustment as per 

IAS 8.22, refer to the comments in note 2. 
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Net credit volume at the BayernLB Group, BayernLB and DKB by sub-portfolio 

  BayernLB Group BayernLB DKB 

EUR million 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
Change  

(in %) 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 

Countries/Public Sector/ 
Non-Profit Organisations 116,667 89,002 31.1% 62,107 45,677 54,560 43,325 

Corporates 60,349 60,656 (0.5)% 43,246 44,417 17,103 16,239 

Commercial Real Estate 15,707 15,345 2.4% 7,875 7,847 7,832 7,498 

Financial Institutions 51,769 50,513 2.5% 49,617 48,758 2,152 1,754 

Retail/Other 24,877 23,452 6.1% 255 306 24,622 23,147 

of which Retail 24,814 23,356 6.2% 191 209 24,622 23,147 

Total 269,369 238,968 12.7% 163,100 147,005 106,269 91,962 

 

Net credit volume is calculated as gross exposure less the value of collateral. The significant in-

crease in the unsecured liquidity investments at the Deutsche Bundesbank also led to a signifi-

cant rise in net credit volume. The Group’s collateral volume grew in parallel by EUR 1.2 billion. 

In particular, charges over properties (EUR 0.7 billion) and letters of commitment (EUR 0.6 bil-

lion) went up. The increase in charges over properties is the result of the growth in business in 

the (traditionally highly collateralised) Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio The increase in debt 

undertakings stemmed mainly from a higher volume of letter of credit guarantees issued by the 

Free State of Bavaria and the increase in demand for government subsidy programmes in the 

form of indemnities associated with the coronavirus pandemic 

The collateral ratio at the BayernLB Group fell from 23.7 percent to 21.9 percent as a result of the 

aforementioned effects. 

Gross credit volume at the BayernLB Group is broken down below by rating category, region, is-

suer risk, replacement risk, net credit volume by size and sub-portfolio.  

Breakdown by rating 

The following tables show gross credit volume by rating category and sub-portfolio. 
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Gross credit volume by rating category and sub-portfolio 

30 Jun 2021               

Rating categories  
(EUR million) 

MR 
0-7 

MR 
8-11 

MR 
12-14 

MR 
15-18 

MR 
19-21 

MR 
22-24 Total 

Countries/Public 
Sector/ 
Non-Profit 
Organisations 117,022 1,174 1,068 183 8 19 119,474 

Corporates 20,969 34,438 10,951 6,239 640 1,277 74,515 

Commercial Real 
Estate 32,378 20,419 6,384 1,007 165 253 60,606 

Financial 
Institutions 51,018 2,744 401 65 – 7 54,235 

Retail/Other 18,486 9,982 6,224 1,041 268 195 36,196 

BayernLB Group 239,874 68,757 25,028 8,536 1,081 1,751 345,026 

of which BayernLB 137,225 44,151 13,781 5,290 513 1,154 202,113 

of which DKB 102,648 24,606 11,247 3,246 568 597 142,913 

 

31 Dec 2020               

Rating categories  
(EUR million) 

MR 
0-7 

MR 
8-11 

MR 
12-14 

MR 
15-18 

MR 
19-21 

MR 
22-24 Total 

Countries/Public 
Sector/ 
Non-Profit 
Organisations 89,364 1,030 1,033 193 38 19 91,677 

Corporates 21,331 33,008 12,213 6,226 566 1,314 74,659 

Commercial Real 
Estate 31,445 19,917 6,443 986 179 216 59,186 

Financial 
Institutions 48,748 3,542 499 28 0 7 52,824 

Retail/Other 17,248 9,757 6,438 1,096 306 209 35,053 

BayernLB Group 208,137 67,255 26,626 8,528 1,089 1,763 313,399 

of which BayernLB 118,991 43,537 15,088 5,265 507 1,099 184,486 

of which DKB 89,146 23,718 11,538 3,263 583 665 128,913 

 

Gross credit volume in the BayernLB Group in the master rating (MR) category 0-7 rose by EUR 

31.7 billion in the reporting period. A large portion of the rise was with the Deutsche Bundes-

bank (EUR 27.5 billion). In addition, gross credit volume in the Financial Institutions sub-portfolio 

rose by EUR 2.3 billion, with an increase in business (EUR 1.4 billion) coming mainly from this rat-

ing category. There were also substantial improvements in creditworthi-ness in the rating cate-

gory MR 8-11. Much of the growth in business was also accounted for by the Retail/Other (EUR 

1.2 billion) and Commercial Real Estate (EUR 0.9 billion) sub-portfolios. 

The credit volume also increased in the rating category MR 8-11. The gain of EUR 1.5 billion was 

largely the result of the EUR 1.4 billion increase in credit volume in the Corporates sub-portfolio. 

This was primarily due to improvements in creditworthiness in the rating category MR 12-14. As 

a result, this sub-portfolio also saw a reduction in coronavirus-related effects. 
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In total, the investment grade business volume (MR 0-11) rose by EUR 33.2 billion. Accordingly, 

the investment grade share of the Group portfolio also improved from 87.9 percent to 89.5 per-

cent. Even excluding the increased liquidity investments at the Deutsche Bundesbank, the invest-

ment grade share increased palpably to 88.5 percent (31 December 2020: 86.7 percent).  

Gross credit volume in rating categories MR 12-14 declined by EUR 1.6 billion. The main reason 

for this was the improvements in creditworthiness in the Corporates sub-portfolio. Gross credit 

volume in rating category MR 15-18, on the other hand, was almost unchanged. The percentage 

in this rating category fell from 8.5 percent to 7.3 percent (MR 12-14) and from 2.7 percent to 2.5 

percent (MR 15-18). There was very little change in business volumes in rating categories MR 19-

21.  

The BayernLB Group’s non-performing loan ratio fell during the reporting period to 0.5 percent 

(31 December 2020: 0.6 percent). While BayernLB saw no change at 0.6 percent, DKB posted a 

decline from 0.5 percent to 0.4 percent. Excluding the increase in the business volume with the 

Deutsche Bundesbank, the BayernLB Group had an NPL ratio of 0.6 percent.  

Adequate risk provisions were set aside to cover loans moved into the default category. A de-

tailed breakdown of risk provisioning can be found in the notes.  

In summary, the BLB Group’s already high portfolio quality improved during the reporting pe-

riod. This was particularly evident in the non-performing loan ratio, which decreased slightly, 

and in the markedly higher investment grade share. In addition to a significantly higher gross 

credit volume with the Deutsche Bundesbank, the growth in the Financial Institutions, Re-

tail/Other and Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolios had a positive impact on the investment 

grade share. Furthermore, the Group portfolio saw improvements in creditworthiness in the re-

porting period. This was particularly apparent in the Corporates and Financial Institutions sub-

portfolios, where there was some evidence of a slight recovery from the negative impact of the 

coronavirus pandemic. 

Renegotiated credits 

The definition of renegotiated credits (forbearance pursuant to Art. 47 b) CRR) has remained un-

changed since financial year 2020.  

Countries around the world have undertaken a variety of measures to reduce the macroeco-

nomic consequences of the coronavirus crisis. In Germany, consumers were able to exercise the 

option of a legislative moratorium (see Section 3 Art. 240 EGBGB). The supervisory authorities 

have also permitted institutions to agree private moratoria among themselves, provided these 

comply with the EBA Guidelines (EBA/GL/2020/02) criteria. Measures approved as part of a mora-

torium are not deemed forbearance as defined in Art. 47 b) CRR. At BayernLB and DKB, only the 

legislative moratorium for consumers was applied. All other measures associated with the coro-

navirus pandemic are decided upon by considering each borrower on an individual basis.  
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Current situation 

Loans and advances subject to coronavirus-related (forbearance) measures, government and private moratoria 

and public guarantees associated with the coronavirus pandemic 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loans subject to an EBA-compliant moratorium1 104.3 120.7 

Loans subject to coronavirus-related forbearance measures2 690.4 511.3 

New loans subject to coronavirus-related public guarantees3 505.6 392.0 

Total 1,300.3 1,023.9 

1 The volume shown includes loans and advances to customers and refers solely to already expired legislative moratorium for consumers. 

2 The volume shown includes loans and advances to customers. 

3 The volume shown includes loans and advances to customers. As yet unutilised credit commitments (no disbursement has taken place) are not 

taken into account here. 

The credit volume subject to an EBA-compliant moratorium is confined strictly to DKB’s retail 

portfolio. The “Loans subject to coronavirus-related forbearance measures” item encompasses all 

individually negotiated measures borne of the coronavirus crisis that are not subject to the re-

quirements of an EBA-compliant moratorium but are classified as “forborne” pursuant to Art. 47 

b) CRR.  

The majority of the new loans subject to coronavirus public guarantees are guaranteed by KfW 

and LfA. 

Forbearance exposures 

EUR million 
Renegotiated 

credits/deferrals Impairments 
Collateral/financial 

guarantees received 

  30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loans and advances 
to banks 5.1 5.1 (4.8) (5.1) – – 

Loans and advances 
to customers 1,310.9 1,337.4 (336.3) (287.6) 275.9 352.0 

Financial investments – – – – – – 

Credit commitments 450.1 374.9 (23.0) (18.0) 41.5 29.2 

BayernLB Group 1,766.0 1,717.4 (364.2) (310.7) 317.5 381.1 
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Breakdown by region 

The following table shows gross credit volume by region. 

 

In line with the Business and the Risk Strategy, Germany accounted for the lion’s share of the 

BayernLB Group’s lending at 84.9 percent (31 December 2020: 83.2 percent). BayernLB is respon-

sible for the bulk of foreign business. A very small proportion of DKB’s business is conducted 

abroad.  

The BayernLB Group’s gross credit volume in Germany grew significantly to EUR 293.0 billion (31 

December 2020: EUR 260.7 billion). The increase was across the board, with gross credit volumes 

rising in all sub-portfolios. It was largely attributable to the Countries/Public Sector/Non-Profit 

Organisations sub-portfolio (EUR 28.1 billion), where the increase in the gross credit volume held 

with the Deutsche Bundesbank was particularly significant. Business volumes rose by EUR 1.8 bil-

lion in the Financial Institutions sub-portfolio, by EUR 1.1 billion in the Retail/Other sub-portfolio, 

by EUR 0.9 billion in the Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio and by EUR 0.4 billion in the Cor-

porates sub-portfolio. 

The most significant change in the regional breakdown of gross credit volume was in Western 

Europe (excluding Germany), with a EUR 0.4 billion rise in credit volume. All the other regions 

saw a slight decline in business volume.  

Generally speaking, country risks and risk/return ratios in lending abroad continued to be very 

closely managed and monitored, given the effects of the coronavirus pandemic and economic 

and political uncertainties in various countries (e.g. Turkey).  
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The following table shows the BayernLB Group’s gross credit volume in western European coun-

tries (excluding Germany). 

 

Gross credit volume in Western Europe (excluding Germany) increased by around EUR 0.4 billion 

to EUR 31.3 billion (31 December 2020: EUR 30.8 billion). Switzerland saw a significant increase 

in business volume (EUR 2.0 billion), with gross credit volume up in the banks sector in particu-

lar. Gross credit volume declined primarily in the Netherlands (EUR 0.5 billion), France (EUR 0.4 

billion) and the UK (EUR 0.3 billion). Here too, the bulk of the change was due to the banks sec-

tor. Significant factors in both movements were fluctuations in the value of transactions as at the 

reporting date in the form of investments to maintain liquidity, hedging activities and changes in 

the calculation of the gross credit volume for replacement risks25. 

 
25  For details of the changes in the calculation of the gross credit volume for derivatives transactions, refer to the 

comments in note 2. 

7.
05

6

5.
62

1

5.
49

0

2.
78

5

2.
59

3

2.
41

7

2.
05

8

1.
22

9

90
0

53
5

57
2

7.
45

9

3.
57

4 5.
76

0

3.
31

9

2.
79

1

2.
63

9

2.
04

4

1.
15

1

90
5

56
1

64
5

0

2.000

4.000

6.000

8.000

10.000

12.000

France Switzerland United
Kingdom

Netherlands Italy Scandinavia Austria Spain Belgium Other
Western
Europe

Portugal,
Ireland,
Greece

Gross credit volume in western European countries (excluding Germany)

30 Jun 2021 Total: EUR 31,256 million
31 Dec 2020 Total: EUR 30,847 million

EUR 
million



 

BayernLB - Group Half-Yearly Financial Report 2021 43 

Issuer risk 

The following table shows gross issuer risk by region. 

 

Gross issuer risk volume fell in the reporting period by around EUR 1.8 billion to EUR 21.4 billion 

(31 December 2020: EUR 23.3 billion). The largest decline was in gross issuer risks in Western Eu-

rope (EUR 0.9 billion), particularly in France (EUR 0.3 billion) and the Netherlands (EUR 0.2 bil-

lion). Germany (EUR 0.3 billion), supranational organisations (EUR 0.3 billion) and North America 

(EUR 0.2 billion) also saw minor reductions in gross issuer risks.  
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Replacement risk 

The following table shows gross replacement risk by region. 

 

 

Gross replacement risk fell by EUR 0.2 billion to EUR 8.7 billion (31 December 2020: EUR 8.9 bil-

lion) during the reporting period. This decrease was essentially boiled down to two opposing 

movements: while gross replacement risk in Germany rose by EUR 0.7 billion, the volume fell in 

Western Europe and North America (by EUR 0.4 billion each). The decline in Western Europe was 

largely down to the UK and, in North America, to the US. 
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Breakdown by size category 

The following table shows net credit volume by size. 

 

 

Net credit volume with customers in the more than EUR 2.5 billion category rose significantly by 

EUR 24.3 billion to EUR 70.2 billion (31 December 2020: EUR 45.9 billion). The increase stemmed 

from both institutions. The principal reason for the increase was the rise in deposits held with 

the Deutsche Bundesbank. This size category only contains loans and advances to top-rated Ger-

man and US government entities with a first-class credit score. 

Net credit volume in the more than EUR 500 million to EUR 2.5 billion category rose by around 

EUR 3.8 billion to EUR 23.3 billion (31 December 2020: EUR 19.6 billion). The increase in these 

size categories was mainly attributable to growth in the Countries/Public-Sector/Non-Profit Or-

ganisations (EUR 1.8 billion), Corporates (EUR 1.2 billion) and Financial Institutions (EUR 0.8 bil-

lion) sub-portfolios. These categories comprise predominantly savings banks, German and inter-

national banks, large DAX companies and government entities. The range of individual ratings is 

predominantly in the very good investment grade category (master ratings 0 to 7). The net credit 

volume in these size categories over the reporting period was largely attributable to BayernLB 

customers. 

The size category of net credit volumes from EUR 250 million to EUR 500 million posted a rise of 

EUR 0.5 billion to EUR 23.4 billion. This expansion was in large part due to the Corporates sub-

portfolio, where individual exposures with customers from the mobility sector were further ex-

panded. 

The granularity of the portfolio was maintained throughout. Net credit volume in the up to EUR 

250 million categories rose to EUR 152.4 billion as at the reporting date (31 December 2020: 

EUR 150.6 billion). Due to the increase in business volume with the Deutsche Bundesbank, the 

percentage of business volume in these rating categories fell to 56.6 percent (31 December 2020: 
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63 percent). Both institutions account for a significant proportion of the net credit volume in 

these size categories. 

Countries/Public-Sector/Non-Profit Organisations sub-portfolio 

Gross credit volume in the Countries/Public-Sector/Non-Profit Organisations sub-portfolio again 

rose significantly by EUR 27.8 billion or 30.3 percent to EUR 119.5 billion (31 December 2020: 

EUR 91.7 billion). Volumes at BayernLB were up by EUR 16.4 billion to EUR 64.3 billion, while DKB 

saw a rise of EUR 11.4 billion to EUR 55.2 billion.  

The change in the gross credit volume at BayernLB was largely the result of four movements. The 

business volume with the Deutsche Bundesbank rose by EUR 16.9 billion to EUR 31.4 billion and 

the volume of financing attributable to municipalities and public-sector special-purpose associa-

tions was also expanded (EUR 0.8 billion). Transactions with German state governments (EUR 0.9 

billion) and German public-sector banks (EUR 0.2 billion) were, however, down.  

The increase in gross credit volume at DKB was largely the result of the rise in the position at the 

Deutsche Bundesbank by EUR 10.6 billion to EUR 33.3 billion. In addition, DKB managed to in-

crease its business volume with the German public sector by around EUR 1.1 billion, while financ-

ing for public authorities abroad saw a slight decline (EUR 0.2 billion). 

The central bank positions held by BayernLB and DKB are primarily for the purpose of managing 

liquidity and are therefore subject to larger discrepancies in value between reporting dates. The 

significant increase in the gross credit volume held with the Deutsche Bundesbank as at the re-

porting date was partly the result of the continued use of favourable refinancing terms under 

TLTRO III. For the most part, these positions represent temporary holdings whose main focus is 

on supporting lending from the refinancing side. 

The very high investment grade share in the Countries/Public Sector/Non-Profit Organisations 

sub-portfolio improved slightly to 98.9 percent (31 December 2020: 98.6 percent): 
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Corporates sub-portfolio 

The Corporates sub-portfolio (previously Corporate Customers) underwent a strategic realign-

ment in the first half of 2021. Different target sectors had been redefined in 2020 and these were 

implemented in the management of the sub-portfolio.26 Additionally, the sub-portfolio contin-

ued to face significant challenges in the course of the first half of 2021. Alongside the relentless 

pressure on margins, the impact of the coronavirus pandemic was of particular importance. De-

spite these economic conditions and by maintaining a strong focus on the strategic target sec-

tors, it was possible to maintain the business volume in the sub-portfolio at a largely stable level 

of EUR 74.5 billion (31 December 2020: EUR 74.7 billion).  

 

The following four sectors, which are examined in more detail below, accounted for the majority 

of the changes in the business volume.  

Gross credit volume in energy, the largest and particularly important sector strategically, rose by 

EUR 1.4 billion or 4.8 percent to EUR 29.6 billion. At EUR 1.2 billion, most of the increase was ac-

counted for by renewable energy financing and, in particular, project financing based on the 

German Renewable Energy Act. The volume with grid operators and energy providers also in-

creased by EUR 0.2 billion. In line with strategy, renewable energies, such as solar and wind 

farms, continue to form the main focus of the portfolio, accounting for a proportion of 58.2 per-

cent. As loans for renewables are mostly granted by DKB, the subsidiary continues to have an 

above-average share of the sector at 58.8 percent. The majority of these transactions are struc-

tured as project financings that benefit to a large degree from long-term, legally guaranteed 

feed-in tariffs under German law. In addition to renewable energy, traditional corporate financ-

ing for grid operators and energy providers remains a major focus within the sector.  The portfo-

lio is distributed in a granular fashion across customers from all stages of the sector’s value 

 
26  For details of the changes to the management of the Corporates sub-portfolio and the associated adjustment as 

per IAS 8.22, refer to the comments in note 2. 
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chain, from the generation, transmission and distribution of electricity to integrated energy utili-

ties and municipal utilities. At 86.0 percent, the majority of financing volume in the energy sector 

is in western Europe, of which Germany alone accounted for 73.4 percent.  

The consumer goods and trade sector saw a strategy-driven cut in gross credit volume, with busi-

ness volume down by EUR 0.6 billion to EUR 5.9 billion. The largest fall was in credit volume in 

transactions that no longer form part of BayernLB’s strategic focus. As a result, gross credit vol-

ume fell in particular in the food processing and textile and leather manufacturing segments and 

with hotel operators.  

Business volume in the technology sector fell by EUR 0.5 billion to EUR 5.6 billion. In line with 

strategy, this was mainly accounted for by a reduction in less profitable business – lending to tel-

ecommunications operators and electronic information services providers, and the financing of 

technology-related receivables portfolios.  

The “Other Industries” sector bundles financing that is no longer included in the BayernLB 

Group’s strategic focus. The gross credit volume in this sector fell accordingly by EUR 0.3 billion 

to EUR 2.9 billion. The reduction came principally from manufacturers of primary chemical prod-

ucts and producers of defence equipment.   

The German domestic market, which is key for the BayernLB Group, continues to drive the Corpo-

rates sub-portfolio, with a high share of 72.8 percent (31 December 2020: 72.0 percent).  

Notwithstanding the ongoing coronavirus pandemic, the investment grade share in the sub-port-

folio improved once again to 74.4 percent (31 December 2020: 72.8 percent). The credit ratings 

in the portfolio that were downgraded in 2020 as a result of the coronavirus crisis began to sta-

bilise or improve to some extent during the period under review. The future development of cre-

ditworthiness will be strongly dependent on the further course of the pandemic.  

Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio 

In line with strategy, gross credit volume in the Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio rose signifi-

cantly over the reporting period by EUR 1.4 billion, or 2.4 percent. Business volume as at the re-

porting date was therefore EUR 60.6 billion (31 December 2020: EUR 59.2 billion). Of this 

amount, EUR 29.6 billion stemmed from BayernLB and around EUR 31.0 billion from DKB. The 

rise in gross credit volume during the reporting period was largely accounted for by BayernLB.  

The increase in business volume at BayernLB was principally in investor-side real estate rental 

and leasing (EUR 0.7 billion), residential real estate property developers (EUR 0.2 billion), real es-

tate investment fund companies (EUR 0.1 billion) and housing associations with a municipal 

background (EUR 0.1 billion). 

The growth was concentrated in the German home market, which saw a EUR 0.9 billion rise in 

business volume. In addition, there were noteworthy increases in the US (EUR 0.2 billion), France 

(EUR 0.1 billion) and Italy (EUR 0.1 billion).  

The already high quality in the Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio improved slightly again, 

with the investment grade share increasing somewhat modestly to 87.1 percent (31 December 

2020: 86.8 percent). The proportion accounted for by Germany remained high at 87.1 percent 
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(31 December 2020: 87.7 percent). The high quality of the portfolio with regard to collateralisa-

tion was maintained: the collateralisation volume increased by around EUR 1.1 billion to EUR 

44.9 billion, while the collateralisation ratio remained stable at 74.1 percent 

Despite the global economic slump in 2020 and the restrictions resulting from the coronavirus 

pandemic, the BayernLB Group expects the quality of the portfolio to remain largely stable, in 

part due to the adoption of a consistently selective approach to picking exposures, although vol-

atility is to be expected in some segments of the commercial real estate sector, while residential 

real estate should remain stable.  

Financial Institutions sub-portfolio 

Gross credit volume in the Financial Institutions sub-portfolio rose by EUR 1.4 billion to EUR 54.2 

billion (31 December 2020: EUR 52.8 billion), a rise of 2.7 percent.  

Within the BayernLB Group, the sub-portfolio’s gross credit volume was split as follows: around 

EUR 52.0 billion with BayernLB and around EUR 2.3 billion with DKB. 

Gross credit volume in the savings banks sector, the largest sector by volume, increased by 

EUR 1.3 billion to EUR 27.4 billion. The rise was largely the result of the continuing high demand 

for government subsidy programmes associated with the coronavirus pandemic, which were im-

plemented by the participating savings banks.  

The banks sector posted a slight increase in business, with gross credit volume up by EUR 0.3 bil-

lion to EUR 21.5 billion. The increase was largely the result of an expansion of gross credit vol-

ume with investment banks (EUR 0.6 billion) and independent fund management companies 

(EUR 0.3 billion), offset somewhat by a reduction with global credit banks (EUR 0.8 billion). The 

two movements are largely down to fluctuations in transaction values between reporting dates, 

with such transactions taking the form of investments to maintain liquidity and hedging activi-

ties.  

Business volume in the insurance sector fell slightly by around EUR 0.2 billion and amounted to 

EUR 5.3 billion as at the reporting date. The lion’s share of the decline came from reinsurance.  

The quality of the sub-portfolio, which was already at a very high level, improved slightly. The 

investment grade share increased to 99.1 percent (31 December 2020: 99.0 percent), while the 

share accounted for by Germany rose to 70.2 percent (31 December 2020: 68.7 percent). 

Retail/Other sub-portfolio 

In the Retail/Other sub-portfolio, gross credit volume increased by EUR 1.1 billion, or 3.3 percent, 

to EUR 36.2 billion. 

Business volume at BayernLB fell slightly (EUR 0.1 billion). The retail business has not been part 

of BayernLB’s core business for some years and is therefore being wound down as planned. 

Within the BayernLB Group, the retail business is successfully operated by the Group subsidiary 

DKB.  

Gross credit volume at DKB rose significantly by EUR 1.2 billion to EUR 32.8 billion. The expan-

sion strategy in the retail business was therefore again successfully implemented in the first half 
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of 2021. This growth was mainly due to lending (EUR 0.9 billion), current account overdraft facili-

ties (EUR 0.2 billion) and credit card receivables (EUR 0.1 billion).  

Germany’s share of the sub-portfolio remained unchanged at nearly 100 percent throughout the 

Group. 

Summary 

The overall market environment in the first half of 2021 continued to be marked by ongoing 

challenges. Alongside the very high pressure on margins, the unrelenting impact of the corona-

virus pandemic was of particular significance.  

Although the market environment was exceptionally difficult, the BayernLB Group succeeded in 

further expanding the business volume and managed to slightly increase the quality of the port-

folio. Particularly worthy of note in this regard is the growth in the strategically important Com-

mercial Real Estate and Retail/Other sub-portfolios. However, the good portfolio quality must 

also be emphasised. The investment grade share increased significantly, even excluding the in-

crease in business volume with the central bank. The already very low non-performing loan ratio 

went down from 0.6 percent to 0.5 percent during the reporting period.  

The effects of the coronavirus pandemic remained very much evident, although there was some-

thing of a reduction in the negative effects in certain areas during the period under review. This 

could be seen in the somewhat improved creditworthiness in the Financial Institutions and Cor-

porates sub-portfolios.  

Risk associated with equity interests 

In the investment portfolio, BayernLB’s strategic realignment is being supported primarily by fo-

cusing on investments relevant to the business model. DKB, BayernInvest and Real I.S. are the eq-

uity interests that form an integral part of the Group business model 

As a consequence of the decision to focus on high-growth areas, equity interests not relevant to 

the business model are being wound down. As at 30 June 2021, the economic risk capital re-

quirement had decreased to EUR 95 million (31 December 2020: EUR 124 million), which came 

primarily down to the improved rating of a company in which an equity interest is held and re-

ductions in carrying amounts.  

Summary 

There were no material changes to the scope of consolidation and portfolio of equity interests in 

the first half of 2021.  

Business and strategic risk  

As at 30 June 2021, the risk capital requirement for business and strategic risk had fallen to EUR 

133 million (31 December 2020: EUR 272 million). This reduction was due in large part to the up-

lift in the earnings trend, to which the easing of the coronavirus pandemic and its consequences 

was a contributor. 
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Summary 

The risk capital requirement for business and strategic risk is in line with expectations. 

Market risk 

The BayernLB Group uses several tools to monitor and limit market risks, including value-at-risk 

(VaR) procedures, risk sensitivities and stress tests, all of which constitute part of the mix in the 

assessment of risk-bearing capacity in various forms.       

Market risk measurement methods are constantly checked for the quality of their forecasting. In 

the backtesting process, the VaR risk forecasts are compared with actual outcomes (gains or 

losses). As at 30 June 2021, the forecasting quality of the market risk measurement methods 

used at BayernLB was classified as good under the Basel traffic light approach.  

The effects of interest rate scenarios both at present value and in terms of earnings are used to 

monitor the interest rate risks in the investment book and referenced against the corresponding 

(supervisory) thresholds and limits, in compliance with EBA standards at both Bank and Group 

level. As at 30 June 2021, the effects at both BayernLB and the BayernLB Group were well below 

the thresholds and/or warning levels. 

Due to the business model and the great importance of pension obligations, the BayernLB 

Group’s market risks are very much focused on general and specific interest rate risks. All other 

types of risk play a much less significant role by comparison. Equity risk is likely to become in-

creasingly important in the future due to the build-up of plan assets via a contractual trust ar-

rangement (CTA) to secure pension obligation.  

In addition to plan assets for pension and death benefit obligations, a decision was also taken 

and implemented in the first half of 2021 to build up assets in the CTA to cover supplemental 

healthcare payments.  
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Current situation 

VaR contribution of market risks by risk type and banking/trading book in the BayernLB Group (confidence level 

99 percent, holding period 1 day) 

      30 Jun 2021 1 Jan 2021 to 30 Jun 2021 

EUR million 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 

Of which 
banking 

book 

Of which 
trading- 

book Average 
Maxi- 
mum 

Mini- 
mum 

General interest 
rate VaR 68.7 63.8 67.7 2.2 66.3 72.2 62.0 

Specific interest 
rate VaR (credit 
spreads) 42.2 46.8 42.5 1.1 45.4 50.2 41.9 

Currency VaR 2.1 2.9 2.0 0.2 2.0 2.9 1.2 

Equities VaR 11.7 16.5 11.7 0.0 18.3 19.9 11.7 

Commodities VaR 2.3 1.4 – 2.3 1.7 2.3 1.2 

Volatility VaR 2.2 1.5 2.0 0.2 2.3 3.5 1.4 

Total VaR1 91.7 84.1 90.5 2.9 85.0 95.8 77.5 

 

Total VaR rose by around EUR 7.6 million compared with 31 December 2020. The increase in risk 

was mainly due to own issues and payer swaps at BayernLB, which further increased the interest 

rate liabilities resulting from pension obligations. This had the effect of increasing risk, but was 

partially offset in the BayernLB Group by the decline in risk at DKB due to reduced market volatil-

ity.  

At BayernLB too, the volatility effects of the coronavirus crisis in spring 2020 will become less rel-

evant over time and market risk is therefore likely to decline significantly.  

Specific interest rate risks fell mainly as a result of the increased actuarial interest rate and the 

associated reduction in risk sensitivity in pension obligations.  

The reduction in market volatility led to a decline in equity risk, despite the further expansion of 

the equity fund positions in the CTA as planned.  

The majority of the market risks in the BayernLB Group came from the banking books, with the 

trading books being of secondary importance. The winding down of non-strategic securi-

ties/Schuldschein note loans in spring 2021 led to a further reduction in risk in the trading 

books. 

Summary 

There were no significant changes or irregularities in risk management and monitoring in the 

first half of 2021. The increase in the total VaR was primarily down to changes in positions. The 

declining volatility trend makes a reduction in market risk for the Group and BayernLB likely over 

the rest of the year. 
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Pension basis risk 

To date, the coronavirus crisis has not increased the risk on the underlying trend volatility in pen-

sion basis risk and therefore on the risk capital requirement. 

The increase in long-term euro interest rates since the end of last year has, however, reduced the 

pension basis risk, as it has diminished the present value effect of changes in trend factors. 

The risk capital requirement for pension basis risk in the Group as at 30 June 2021 amounted to 

EUR 259 million (31 December 2020: EUR 290 million). 

Summary 

Pension basis risk evolved in line with expectations. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity overviews are drawn up each day across all currencies and separately for the major cur-

rencies to manage and monitor liquidity risk on a consistent basis across the Group. This involves 

calculating the liquidity surplus by subtracting the cumulative liquidity gaps from the realisable 

liquidity counterbalancing capacity in each maturity band. A suitable limit system takes proper 

account of the key variables. 

In addition, time-to-wall figures for stress scenarios are calculated, limited and monitored. These 

show the length of time before the liquidity surplus turns negative under stressed conditions.  

Current situation 

The following tables show the outcomes of the management scenario for the BayernLB Group 

and give an overview of the liquidity situation as at 30 June 2021 compared with 31 December 

2020: 

Economic liquidity situation in the BayernLB Group and at BayernLB 

30 Jun 2021 Up to Up to Up to Up to 

Cumulative figures in EUR million 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years 

BayernLB Group         

Liquidity counterbalancing capacity 77,850 88,861 80,942 82,386 

Liquidity gap 28,285 49,223 47,068 56,968 

Total liquidity surplus 49,565 39,638 33,874 25,418 

BayernLB         

Liquidity counterbalancing capacity 41,684 53,401 48,870 37,445 

Liquidity gap 23,016 41,583 41,877 32,107 

Total liquidity surplus 18,668 11,818 6,993 5,339 
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31 Dec 2020 Up to Up to Up to Up to 

Cumulative figures in EUR million 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years 

BayernLB Group         

Liquidity counterbalancing capacity 57,990 55,920 48,511 54,856 

Liquidity gap 20,422 25,682 22,497 33,334 

Total liquidity surplus 37,569 30,237 26,014 21,522 

BayernLB         

Liquidity counterbalancing capacity 27,014 25,459 22,313 21,075 

Liquidity gap 13,618 16,248 16,804 15,674 

Total liquidity surplus 13,397 9,212 5,509 5,401 

 

The BayernLB Group’s liquidity position was comfortable at all times during the period under re-

view. Despite the ongoing coronavirus crisis, there were no significant outflows of liquidity. The 

significant further improvement in the liquidity situation as at 30 June 2021 was in part due to 

the BayernLB Group’s participation in the TLTRO tender conducted by the ECB in 2020. 

The Bank also met the minimum supervisory liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) at all times in the re-

porting period. The BayernLB Group’s LCR amounted to 266 percent as at 30 June 2021 (31 De-

cember 2020: 211 percent27). Due to a correction to the customer classification in the LCR calcu-

lation as at 31 December 2020, the ratio was 211 percent instead of the 245 percent originally 

stated. 

The LCR is calculated by comparing the inventory of high-quality liquid assets to the net cash out-

flows over the next 30 days. The minimum supervisory LCR is 100 percent. 

The net stable funding ratio (NSFR) of the BayernLB Group is being published for the first time. 

The figure was 136.6 percent as at 30 June 2021, far exceeding the 100 percent minimum ratio 

required by the regulator. 

The subsidiary DKB has its own measures in place to ensure it complies with the liquidity regula-

tions specifically applicable to it. The relevant requirements were complied with during the pe-

riod under review. 

 
27 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2) 
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The BayernLB Group’s refinancing structure as at 30 June 2021 compared with 31 December 2020 

was as follows: 

 

BayernLB’s structural debt financing derives mainly from capital market issues, deposits and sub-

sidised loans, and ad hoc funding in the money market. The BayernLB Group drew on the ECB’s 

longer-term refinancing facilities (TLTRO) in 2020 and again in March 2021.  

Despite the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, access to all funding sources was unlimited. The refi-

nancing levels in unsecured funding (including subordinated debt) have been falling steadily 

since January 2021, which has allowed funding costs to be maintained at a low level. The condi-

tions for issuers in the Pfandbrief market also improved over the course of the first half of the 

year. As was the case last year, this is primarily down to the constrained supply. 

The amount of long-term securities issued by the BayernLB Group was almost unchanged.  

The (gross) funding volume of structural, unsecured liquidity raised at BayernLB amounted to 

around EUR 2.4 billion as at 30 June 2021 (of which around EUR 2.2 billion was non-preferred). 

EUR 0.6 billion in secured issues was placed, one of which was in benchmark format. In addition, 

EUR 0.5 billion of subordinated issues was successfully placed in benchmark format in the first 

half of 2021. Deposits increased due to participation in the TLTRO III programme and customer 

deposits.  

8
.1

11

2
0

.3
50

3
3

.5
83

1
5

9
.0

99

8
.2

15

2
1

.0
78

3
3

.1
54

1
3

1
.6

42

0
20.000
40.000
60.000
80.000

100.000
120.000
140.000
160.000
180.000

Mortgage Pfandbriefs Public Pfandbriefs Schuldschein note
loans, notes and bonds

and other registered
securities

Deposits and money
market instruments

30 Jun 2021
31 Dec 2020

Funding structure

EUR million



 

BayernLB - Group Half-Yearly Financial Report 2021 56 

As the municipal and development bank of the Free State of Bavaria, BayernLabo’s liabilities are 

covered by a 100 percent state guarantee. In line with its mandate, BayernLabo was publicly 

funded by KfW and Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank. The capital market represents a further 

source of funding. BayernLabo meets ad hoc liquidity requirements by opening time deposits at 

BayernLB. In 2021 BayernLabo placed new issues worth around EUR 0.3 billion net.  

Customer deposits represented the largest source of funds in the DKB funding mix. In addition, 

much of the lending business is funded in the form of on-lending loans from development 

banks. The company’s funding activities also include capital market issues. DKB’s funding re-

quirements continued to be met by strong growth in deposits in 2021. In addition, DKB partici-

pated in TLTRO III.  

Summary 

In the next few years liquidity management and monitoring in the BayernLB Group will revolve 

around the refinancing options available and focus on ensuring that liquidity reserves are always 

adequate, even in stress situations.  

As well as actively managing liquidity reserves, supervisory and economic liquidity risk manage-

ment at BayernLB will continue to be built around a broadly-diversified funding structure, sup-

ported by a reliable base of domestic investors and, in particular, retail customer deposits at its 

DKB subsidiary.  
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Reporting of products as defined in section 46f paras 5, 6 and 7 KWG 

The following tables show the debt instruments and structured financial products as defined in 

section 46f KWG, i.e. according to their seniority of payment under bankruptcy law: 

Debt instruments as defined in section 46f para. 6 KWG (non-preferred senior) 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Liabilities to banks 3,955 3,943 

of which Schuldschein note loans 2,357 2,415 

of which other registered securities 1,598 1,528 

Liabilities to customers 6,486 6,729 

of which Schuldschein note loans 823 838 

of which other registered securities 5,663 5,892 

Securitised liabilities 19,700 19,172 

Liabilities held for trading 414 413 

Total 30,555 30,257 

 

Debt instruments as defined in section 46f paras 5 and 7 KWG (preferred senior) 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Liabilities to banks 1,632 1,643 

of which Schuldschein note loans 40 46 

of which other registered securities 1,592 1,596 

Liabilities to customers 808 746 

of which Schuldschein note loans 87 133 

of which other registered securities 721 614 

Securitised liabilities 2,537 2,467 

Liabilities held for trading 544 594 

Total 5,521 5,449 

 

Operational risk 

Operational risks are estimated for the calculation of risk-bearing capacity using the operational 

value at risk (OpVaR) calculation. The calculation is based on the losses incurred at BayernLB and 

DKB, the external losses collected via a data consortium, potential operational risks collected as 

part of the OpRisk self-assessment and the BayernLB and DKB scenario analyses (potential losses) 

drawn up for significant risks.  

Current situation 

As at 30 June 2021, there was a slight fall in the risk capital requirement for operational risks for 

the BayernLB Group (30 June 2021: EUR 501 million; 31 December 2020: EUR 505 million).  

These changes were due to revaluations of risks and scenarios and changes to the risk-bearing 

capacity model. 
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Compared with 31 December 2020 (EUR 10.4 million; BayernLB: EUR 1.8 million, DKB: EUR 8.6 

million), the loss at the BayernLB Group amounted to EUR 15.6 million (BayernLB: EUR 0.5 mil-

lion, DKB: EUR 15.1 million) in the first half of 2021.  

The loss in the first half of the year stemmed mainly from the event categories customers, prod-

ucts and business practices, with a share of 80.6 percent (share as at 31 December 2020: 16.7 

percent), external fraud, with a share of 10.4 percent (share as at 31 December 2020: 35.4 per-

cent), and implementation, delivery and process management, with a share of 7.3 percent (share 

as at 31 December 2020: 35.2 percent). 

The increase in losses stemmed mainly from the Federal Court of Justice (BGH) ruling of 27 April 

2021, which stated that clauses in a bank’s general terms and conditions of business are invalid if 

they unrestrictedly and fictitiously assume the customer’s consent to amendments to its general 

or special terms and conditions of business. DKB has made a provision for potential claims from 

customers. 

DKB reduced card misuse in its retail customer business, which is included in the external fraud 

category, by deploying preventative measures in the first half of the year. 

Summary 

The risk provisioning requirement for operational risks for the BayernLB Group fell slightly in the 

first half of the year. The BayernLB Group’s losses for operational risks increased significantly in 

the first half of 2021 as a result of the BGH ruling on invalid changes to general terms and condi-

tions of business. 

Risk report summary 

Despite the ongoing coronavirus pandemic, the risk profile of the BayernLB Group remained 

largely stable in the first half of 2021.  

The BayernLB Group had adequate risk-bearing capacity at all times during the reporting period. 

The stress scenarios conducted also confirmed that adequate capital is held. The liquidity situa-

tion remained good. Risk provisions took appropriate account of known risks. 

Regulatory solvency requirements were met. Own funds available to cover risks amounted to 

EUR 12.4 billion. 

The risk management and controlling system at the BayernLB Group had appropriate processes 

to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements while managing risks from an economic 

viewpoint.  
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The forward-looking statements made in this report on expected developments are based on es-

timates and conclusions made, drawing on information available at the time this half-yearly man-

agement report was prepared. The statements on future events are based on a range of assump-

tions.  

The occurrence of the future events is subject to uncertainty, risks and other factors, with many 

falling outside the BayernLB Group’s influence. Accordingly, actual events may differ from those 

predicted in the statements on the future set out below.  

Macroeconomic forecast 

The forecasts on economic growth, inflation, interest rates and exchange rate are sourced from 

BayernLB Research.  

Unless otherwise stated, the other statements on the conditions are also based on estimates by 

BayernLB Research, and also take account of external sources of information, such as the Euro-

pean Commission and the International Monetary Fund. 

Forecast horizon marked by recovery in industrialised countries. Real estate robust despite 

uncertainty  

The economic outlook for industrialised countries has markedly improved as a result of the re-

covery from the coronavirus pandemic in the wake of the rising numbers of vaccinations and a 

significant easing of lockdowns. However, the immunisation campaigns will take much longer to 

complete in emerging countries. There is also an elevated risk of new waves of infections and 

new variants of the Covid-19 virus. In spite of this, high growth rates will be the pattern in 

2021/2022 as the recession of 2020 moves into the background, especially in the US and China. 

Overall, the world economy will probably have returned to pre-crisis levels of output by as soon 

as the end of 2021. Europe’s industry will also benefit from the higher demand for exports. Relief 

is also on the horizon for the tourist industry from summer 2021, which will benefit southern Eu-

rope in particular. The recovery should therefore happen more quickly than had been forecast at 

the start of the year. We expect real GDP to expand by 4.2 percent in both 2021 and 2022. The 

European reconstruction programme, “Next Generation EU” should deliver noticeable growth 

momentum in the second half of the year and 2022. Despite a slow start to the year, we are still 

forecasting that Germany will enjoy a fast-paced recovery in real GDP of 3.1 percent in 2021, ris-

ing to 4.0 percent the following year. Industry and construction are among the winners of the 

crisis with high levels of new and existing orders. However, problems obtaining supplies of raw 

materials and intermediate goods will act as a brake in the second half of the year. This means 

that it will take longer to process orders, but momentum will increase in 2022. 

The implosion of economies worldwide during coronavirus-hit 2020 triggered high levels of un-

certainty on global real estate markets, which will persist in 2021 as well. Despite a fall in trans-

action volumes worldwide, real estate will continue to remain attractive for institutional inves-

tors for years to come because of the persistent low interest rate environment. Increased risk 

aversion will therefore make itself felt in higher demand for real estate investments in Europe, 

Report on expected developments and 
opportunities  
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focused on France and Germany. In addition, residential and logistics real estate along with of-

fice buildings in central locations in Europe’s metropolises will also continue to be very popular. 

The real estate market in the United Kingdom will once again spark the interest of investors in 

2021 now that the Brexit uncertainty is over. However, there will still be a high level of uncer-

tainty in the case of property in southern Europe.  

Inflation temporarily higher, while Fed scales back bond purchases 

The high levels of inflation in the first half of the year will persist to the end of 2021 and have re-

sulted in inflation forecasts being significantly raised in 2021. For Germany, we are now expect-

ing the cost of living to rise by 2.9 percent (previously: 2 percent) in the current year as raw ma-

terial prices head north. Reinforced by the strategy review into the temporarily higher price 

momentum, the ECB will hold to its expansive stance and keep up its pandemic purchase pro-

gramme longer than previously announced to some point between March and September 2022. 

However the Fed will start to taper earlier rather than later. The bond purchases will start being 

scaled back as early as November and QE gradually wound down and finally wrapped up by the 

end of 2022 (previously: Q1 2023).  

Along with the pandemic, the biggest risks for the forecast are high inflation and a jump in inter-

est rates. Moreover, the dispute between the US and China is not likely to go away, even under 

President Biden. A big sell-off on overbought financial markets and rising risk aversion in the real 

estate market could also trip up the economy. In a mirror image of the above, the opportunities 

for the Bank’s economic forecast are a fast containment of the coronavirus pandemic. An even 

greater upscaling of green investments is another potential upside risk to the economy in 2021 

and 2022. 

Rise in yields likely to continue, while stock markets lose some of their steam  

Although the general uptick in yields on sovereign bonds temporarily reversed starting from the 

US in summer, we believe yields will resume their upwards march to the end of 2021, both in the 

US and in the eurozone. Among the reasons for this are the expected preparations by the Fed to 

start tapering, the environment of higher inflation and onward recovery of the economy and a 

normalisation of technical factors, including the winding down of Treasury short positions. In the 

case of 10-year Bunds, we expect yields to climb to 0.0 percent by the end of 2021. As the yields 

on short-dated bonds will be held down by the ECB’s low interest rate policy, we expect the yield 

curve to steepen further. 

Stock markets will continue to make advances, buoyed by a strong recovery in corporate earn-

ings. However, with leading economic indicators probably having passed their peak the tailwind 

will drop here. The debate about tapering, which is likely to heat up in the second half of the 

year in the US, combined with, in some cases high equity valuations, and an already aggressive 

positioning by investors will make a period of consolidation more likely. Monetary and funda-

mental conditions will nonetheless remain favourable overall for longer so we believe correc-

tions will be limited and are not expecting any sustained tread reversal in the second half of the 

year.  
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Dollar to weaken 

BayernLB still believes the dollar will weaken to USD 1.25 per euro, but not until around the mid-

dle of 2022 rather than the end of 2021. The reason for this is that in the months to come, the 

Fed is likely to announce the start of tapering, which will be followed by a widening transatlantic 

spread between US and German sovereigns, resulting in a sustained stronger dollar. The Bank 

then forecasts that the impact of the European economy’s recovery will be felt more keenly and 

initiate an appreciation in the euro. In addition, inflationary pressures in the US should subside 

over a one-year time horizon, pointing to monetary policy being normalised slowly rather than 

quick hikes in interest rates. We are expecting the pound sterling to trend mostly sideways (EUR-

GBP 0.87 over a year). 

Banking sector must focus on clearing up after coronavirus 

The measures that were agreed to fight the pandemic saved the banks from serious losses. Even 

though the number of problem loans will increase again after a number of years, this will not se-

riously jeopardise asset quality, assuming that coronavirus does not flare up again. After compa-

nies built up a lot of liquidity at the start of the pandemic, European banks now potentially face 

weaker growth in lending and tough competition, so net interest income is likely to remain un-

der pressure. Even though interest rates have probably moved beyond their lows, key decisions 

will have to be made in light of the known challenges such as long-term low interest rates and 

pressure to digitalise. However, lacklustre profitability and difficulties in improving earnings will 

mean that cost-cutting will retain a leading role. Geopolitical tensions, especially between the US 

and China, have not been so pronounced of late, but they have not gone away and will affect 

business activity. 

Banks should have better visibility on the regulatory pipeline when the legislative proposals for 

CRR3/CRD6 are published, which mean the finalisation of Basel III (Basel IV) will be transposed 

into European law one year later than originally planned. The topic of sustainability has taken on 

new importance as progress has been made, for example with the passage of Regulation (EU) 

2020/852 (Taxonomy Regulation). This means banks face new challenges in implementing com-

prehensive and multifaceted regulations which tie up resources and have a huge impact on busi-

ness practices. However, it also means new opportunities, such as in the advisory service pro-

vided to customers.  

The low-cost refinancing conditions are a boon for the sector, but the impact of ultra-loose mon-

etary policy is being felt in inflating asset prices across all market segments so another risk factor 

is that they could correct. 
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Regulatory environment 

In the future, as has unerringly been the case in previous years, the banking supervisory authori-

ties will continue to account for a large proportion of new regulatory requirements issued. 

Basel III finalisation 

Another key component of the future regulatory regime is the draft CRR III proposals expected 

for the second half of year, which are set to be implemented within the EU with the finalised Ba-

sel III rules insofar as they are not already included in CRR II (e.g. the disclosure requirements 

from September for market risks as the first level of the “Fundamental Review of the Trading 

Book”). The main revisions to the rulebook relate to the standardised (CRSA) and internal ratings-

based approach (IRBA) for measuring credit risk, calculating capital requirements for operational 

risk, and the risk of a deterioration in the creditworthiness of derivatives counterparties. An out-

put floor of 72.5 percent is also being introduced, which will limit the advantages of using the 

IRBA and link them to the results of the CRSA. 

Lastly, it is apparent that the banking sector will continue to be affected by the coronavirus pan-

demic. This means the ECB will focus its supervisory activities on credit risk management, the 

capital base, the viability of business models and governance. 

Sustainability 

In response to the steady warming of the climate, bank regulators increasingly turned their at-

tention to the issue of sustainability. The ECB published guidelines which should help banks 

identify their climate and environmental risks to ultimately make them a part of their existing 

risk management frameworks. The defined implementation timetable in the guidelines extends 

over a number of years and the first activities will need to be initiated in 2021/22.  

Harmonisation of internal models (TRIM/EBA repair) 

In 2020, the ECB and national supervisors completed Project TRIM (Targeted Review of Internal 

Models), whose purpose is to review the internal models used in the banking sector. Various 

banking requirements are being drawn up based on the findings and other supervisory rules in 

new EBA guidelines, which are currently being looked at by the banks (EBA repair programme), 

and they will be refined and revised over the coming years. 



 

BayernLB - Group Half-Yearly Financial Report 2021 63 

Deposit guarantee scheme and bank levy 

The Savings Banks Finance Group is still involved in an internal reconciliation process to imple-

ment changes to the guarantee scheme as mandated by the ECB and BaFin. The Savings Banks 

Finance Group is expected to reach agreement with the supervisory authorities on the imple-

mentation process. However, BayernLB may be called on to make an exceptional payment be-

cause of its membership of the institutional guarantee scheme of the Landesbanks and also due 

to the “European bank levy” if conditions deteriorate to the extent that a package of compensa-

tion and support measures is required. It is also anticipated that contributions to the bank levy 

will rise up to the end of the regular building-up phase in 2023, especially due to a rise in the tar-

get volume. It cannot be ruled out that further contributions may be collected even after 2023.  

Company forecasts 

BayernLB Group raises outlook for financial year 2021 

For financial year 2021 the BayernLB Group is targeting the following individual key financial per-

formance indicators (see combined management report for financial year 2020): 

 Net profit 2020 Outlook for 2021 

Profit/loss before taxes EUR 195 m EUR 200 - 400 m 

Return on Equity (RoE) 1.9 % >3 % 

Cost/income ratio (CIR) 66 % 65 % - 70 % 

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio 15.9 % >14 % 

Leverage ratio1 – >4 % 

1 Valid from 30 June 2021. 

 

With regard to managing economic capital, the utilisation as at the end of 2021 is expected to be 

almost unchanged.  

For 2021, the BayernLB Group expects the minimum ratio of 100 percent applying to the liquidity 

coverage ratio (LCR) to be easily exceeded and be at a comparatively high level similar to finan-

cial year 2020 (211 percent, after adjustment). 

In the case of the binding key liquidity ratio (NSFR), which was introduced from June 2021, the 

Group is anticipating a figure of between 120 percent and 130 percent.  
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In view of the very good level of earnings produced in the first half of 2021, it is, however, ex-

pected that the BayernLB Group will exceed its targets for 2021. BayernLB has therefore raised its 

outlook for financial year 2021.  

  
Outlook for 2021 

(31 Dec 2020) 
Adjusted outlook for 2021 

(30 Jun 2021) 

Profit/loss before taxes EUR 200 - 400 m EUR 500 - 700 m 

Return on Equity (RoE) >3 % >5 % 

Cost/income ratio (CIR) 65 % – 70 % 60 % - 65 % 

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio >14 % >15 % 

Leverage ratio1 >4 % >4 % 

1 Valid from 30 June 2021. 

 

BayernLB believes the Group’s risk-bearing capacity will remain comfortable and it will be solidly 

capitalised.  

By regularly reviewing and adjusting the assumptions used for liquidity management and long-

term refinancing needs, the BayernLB Group will continue to take account of changes in the mar-

ket environment and business performance and ensure it has stable levels of liquidity and an ad-

equate refinancing structure. 

The BayernLB Group is anticipating an additional income tax charge in 2021 once the planned 

termination of the control and profit and loss transfer agreement with DKB takes effect.  

In addition to the above-described macroeconomic and regulatory factors, there is still uncer-

tainty about the coronavirus pandemic and its impact on the global economy and the Group’s 

business performance. It is still an open question how much this uncertainty will affect the goals 

that have been set. It has been very difficult to assess the impact lately.  

In spite of the challenges in connection with the coronavirus pandemic, the BayernLB Group will 

continue to systematically implement its strategy in 2021 and beyond.  
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Expectations regarding the operating business segments 

Based on original planning, BayernLB is forecasting the following performance for the operating 

business segments over the rest of financial year 2021.  

Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institutions segment 

The continuous but selective expansion of commercial and residential real estate financing in the 

asset classes of offices, residential, logistics, retail and property management remains the key 

strategic focus of the real estate business. The financing of certain asset classes was restricted 

during the pandemic, with no financing granted for hotels and shopping centres. To diversify in-

come and risks, the foreign share in the portfolio will be raised over the medium term. Besides 

Germany, business activities will therefore be centred on western Europe, selected countries in 

eastern Europe and the US. Most of the expansion of the foreign portfolio will take place 

through the Paris, London, Milan and New York branches, which will monitor market develop-

ments at all times. Furthermore, the strategic expansion of the syndication business will be accel-

erated. The approach to sales will remain the same: achieve high market penetration by provid-

ing all-round customer support across the entire product range. 

BayernLB’s professionalism, expertise and reliability make it a partner of choice for financial insti-

tutions and the public sector. The successful, trust-based collaboration with savings banks is 

based on the holistic approach of the sales and customer-oriented support model. As the central 

bank to the Bavarian savings banks, BayernLB offers the savings banks and their customers a fo-

cused and future-oriented range of products and services. Growth in the segment will be further 

supported by systematically expanding sustainable products and services and maintaining a 

strong market position in the precious metals business. 

Corporates & Markets segment 

Over the course of 2021 and the following years, the Corporate & Markets segment will continue 

to implement in specific stages the strategic objectives and goals developed in 2020. The Corpo-

rates Business Area will focus on remodelling and realigning its organisation and structures to 

become a streamlined specialised lender focused on selected growth industries, in particular 

those relating to mobility, energy, technology, manufacturing & engineering, and construction & 

basic resources. The pooling of advisory and product expertise into cross-functional sector teams 

with the required sector expertise will create the necessary foundations for providing all-round 

support for corporate customers.  

At the same time, it will refine and improve sustainable financing solutions and expand product 

expertise in structured financing and capital market transactions. The Financial Markets Division 

will continue implementing the comprehensive transformation programme along the path 

drawn up in 2020 by focusing its offering on strategically relevant products.  

DKB segment 

DKB will remain a vital part of the BayernLB Group and, as an innovative digital bank, to Bay-

ernLB’s commercial success. As a result of DKB’s move to the EdB, the relationship between it 

and BayernLB will change. BayernLB revoked and terminated the letter of comfort for DKB with 
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effect from 30 November 2021. Customers that become new customers of DKB after 19 August 

2021 are not permitted to utilise this letter of comfort from this date. The Bank also intends to 

end the control and profit and loss transfer agreement between BayernLB and DKB at the next 

possible date in 2021. In return, BayernLB will provide DKB with a substantial amount of addi-

tional capital so it can maintain a market-standard capital base even without BayernLB’s letter of 

comfort. 

DKB is expecting its three market segments – retail customers, infrastructure and corporate cus-

tomers – to post a good business performance, thus enabling it to make further progress on dig-

italising and improving internal processes in order to make the customer experience even more 

satisfying, increase scalability and accelerate business processes. For a more detailed forecast on 

performance in the DKB segments, refer to DKB’s combined management report for financial 

year 2020 and the half-yearly management report for the first half of 2021.  

Future plans for the BayernLB Group  

The strategic target structure for 2024 and the financial guidelines defined for this will also form 

the strategic framework within which the BayernLB Group will operate. In view of this, the strate-

gic goals and objectives outlined in the section on the business model and Group strategy within 

the combined management report for 2020 will remain valid. BayernLB’s earnings base will also 

be bolstered through additional earnings initiatives such as expanding the foreign notes and 

coins and precious metals business and also the customer business with interest rate hedging 

and CO2 certificates. 

The fundamental indicators for the successful implementation of the BayernLB Group’s business 

strategy are to have a solid capital base, a stable core business, and to have implemented the 

transformation as planned, including meeting the cost targets set. Key areas of the Group-wide 

“Fokus 2024” transformation programme in 2021 include further optimising the IT infrastructure 

and internal bank management processes, successfully implementing the teamwork model for 

working on the five focus sectors in the corporate customers business, making further improve-

ments to BayernLB’s distribution capabilities and its real estate business, and making ongoing 

improvements and refinements to DKB to help it develop into a modern tech bank. Through its 

implementation projects to modernise its IT structure, DKB is continuing to create the conditions 

for significant customer growth and is aiming to not only considerably expand its customer base 

but also achieve higher gross earnings by 2024. 
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As regards internal processes and procedures, the strategic targets up to 2024 are focused on 

rigorously optimising the cost base, adapting the operating model to changing market condi-

tions, increasing process efficiency, boosting the Group’s innovativeness and ensuring all Group 

units work together in a customer and solutions-centric manner. Specifically, BayernLB (exclud-

ing BayernLabo and DKB) is planning to significantly reduce administrative expenses to 

EUR 500 million by 2024. This is to be achieved in part by continuing to systematically implement 

the agreed reduction of the workforce up to 2024. To markedly improve the efficiency of the 

platform in Munich, the Group is planning to invest around EUR 350 million in IT by 2026 – be-

yond the time Fokus 2024 is being implemented. It is envisaged that capital spending of around 

EUR 400 million will be needed to transform DKB under its “Corporate strategy 9” programme by 

2024.  

The financial guidelines that define the framework for transforming the BayernLB Group include 

keeping RWA volumes within the BayernLB Group largely constant, with the aim of achieving a 

figure of around EUR 70 billion in 2024. The BayernLB Group also plans to achieve a return on 

equity (RoE) of about 8 percent and a cost/income ratio (CIR) of just over 50 percent. On top of 

this, it is aiming for a Common Equity Tier 1 ratio (on a consolidated basis) in 2024 of at least 14 

percent.  

Based on this systematic and sustainable strategy, the Bank will be working over the next few 

years to increase the share of the portfolio that is ESG-compliant and impactful.  

All in all, for BayernLB 2021 (and the two following years) will be heavily shaped by the pro-

gramme to transform the Group, the investment needed for this (especially in IT and infrastruc-

ture). It will closely monitor the potential impact of the coronavirus crisis. Despite large-scale 

modernisation of IT at BayernLB and DKB and the remaining uncertainty regarding the risk costs 

as a result of the pandemic, the BayernLB Group will be in a position to produce solid and in-

creasing profits while maintaining a solid capital base. This means that, from a current perspec-

tive, the BayernLB Group will be in a position to fund its comprehensive transformation from its 

own resources.  

Opportunities and risks 

The report on expected developments and opportunities for 2020 describes various opportuni-

ties for and risks to business performance in 2021 and these are also included in this half-yearly 

management report. During the reporting period, no other significant risks or opportunities 

were identified beyond those presented in the combined management report for financial year 

2020 and in this half-yearly management report for the first half of 2021. Other risks and oppor-

tunities that are currently not known or which are currently assessed to be immaterial may also 

impact business activities. At present, no risks have been identified that could jeopardise either 

individually or in combination with other risks BayernLB’s future as a going concern.  
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Income statement 

EUR million Notes 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Interest income   2,486 2,811 

Interest income from financial instruments determined 
using the effective interest method   1,678 1,588 

Interest income – other   808 1,223 

Interest expenses   (1,481) (1,937) 

Interest expenses from financial instruments 
determined using the effective interest method   (660) (707) 

Interest expenses – other   (820) (1,230) 

Net interest income (5) 1,006 873 

Risk provisions (6) 44 (75) 

Net interest income after risk provisions   1,050 799 

Commission income   406 378 

Commission expenses   (216) (224) 

Net commission income (7) 189 154 

Gains or losses on fair value measurement (8) 145 51 

Gains or losses on hedge accounting (9) (3) (9) 

Gains or losses on derecognised financial assets1 (10) 5 (1) 

Gains or losses on financial investments (11) 7 31 

Administrative expenses (12) (754) (764) 

Expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme (13) (170) (142) 

Other income and expenses (14) 14 38 

Gains or losses on restructuring (15) 1 - 

Profit/loss before taxes   485 158 

Income taxes   (235) (56) 

Profit/loss after taxes   249 101 

Profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests   (2) – 

Consolidated profit/loss   248 101 

Rounding differences may occur in the tables. 

Statement of comprehensive income  
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Statement of comprehensive income (condensed) 

EUR million Notes 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Profit/loss after taxes as per the income statement   249 101 

Components of other comprehensive income 
temporarily not recognised in profit or loss       

Changes in the revaluation surplus containing gains 
or losses on fair value measurement of financial 
assets in the "financial assets mandatorily measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income" 
category (37) (36) 23 

Change not including deferred taxes   (53) 28 

Change in deferred taxes   17 (5) 

Changes in the revaluation surplus containing 
changes in the fair value of currency swaps arising 
from currency basis spread fluctuations (37) 1 6 

Change not including deferred taxes   (5) 5 

Change in deferred taxes   5 1 

Currency-related change (37) (3) – 

Change not including deferred taxes   (3) – 

Change in deferred taxes   – – 

Components of other comprehensive income 
permanently not recognised in profit or loss       

Rating-related changes in the fair value of financial 
liabilities from the “fair value option” category 
recognised through other comprehensive income (37) (15) 31 

Change not including deferred taxes   (16) 44 

Change in deferred taxes   1 (13) 

Change due to remeasurement of defined benefit 
plans (37) 264 (78) 

Change not including deferred taxes   291 (84) 

Change in deferred taxes   (26) 5 

Other comprehensive income after taxes   211 (19) 

Total reported comprehensive income recognised 
and not recognised in profit or loss   460 83 

Attributable:       

To BayernLB shareholders   458 83 

To non-controlling interests   2 – 

Total comprehensive income attributable to BayernLB 
shareholders:       

From continuing operations   458 83 

From discontinued operations   – – 

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.  
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Assets 

EUR million Notes 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Cash reserves (16) 33,915 9,342 

Loans and advances to banks (17) 59,069 56,177 

Loans and advances to customers (18) 154,730 152,376 

Risk provisions (19) (1,039) (1,084) 

Portfolio hedge adjustment assets   541 1,014 

Assets held for trading (20) 9,516 12,110 

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments 
(hedge accounting) (21) 583 876 

Financial investments (22) 20,417 21,881 

Investment property (23) 29 28 

Property, plant and equipment (24) 469 489 

Intangible assets (25) 147 144 

Current tax assets   100 100 

Deferred tax assets   485 680 

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for 
sale (26) 138 26 

Other assets (27) 3,350 2,113 

Total assets   282,448 256,271  
Rounding differences may occur in the tables. 

Liabilities 

EUR million Notes 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Liabilities to banks (28) 92,476 75,995 

Liabilities to customers (29) 118,190 109,779 

Securitised liabilities (30) 45,981 43,037 

Liabilities held for trading (31) 7,961 9,374 

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments 
(hedge accounting) (32) 1,017 1,178 

Provisions (33) 1,902 2,895 

Current tax liabilities   98 162 

Deferred tax liabilities   - - 

Liabilities of disposal groups (34) 28 6 

Other liabilities (35) 609 584 

Subordinated capital (36) 2,222 1,685 

Equity (37) 11,963 11,576 

Equity excluding non-controlling interests   11,947 11,559 

Subscribed capital   3,412 3,412 

Capital surplus   2,182 2,182 

Retained earnings   5,989 5,719 

Revaluation surplus   114 165 

Foreign currency translation reserve   2 5 

Consolidated profit/loss   248 75 

Non-controlling interests   17 18 

Total liabilities   282,448 256,271 

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.  

Balance sheet 



 

BayernLB - Group Half-Yearly Financial Report 2021 73 
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As at 31 Dec 2019 3,412 – 2,182 5,659 109 2 150 11,513 16 11,530 

Adjusted as per IAS 81 – – – 8 – – – 8 – 8 

As at 1 Jan 2020 3,412 – 2,182 5,667 109 2 150 11,521 16 11,537 

Changes in the                     

Revaluation surplus                     

Changes in the fair value of debt 
instruments - FVOCIM3 – – – – 23 – – 23 – 23 

Rating-related changes in the fair 
value of financial liabilities - 
FVPLD (FVO)4 – – – (2) 32 – – 31 – 31 

Changes in the fair value of 
currency swaps from currency 
basis spread fluctuations – – – – 6 – – 6 – 6 

Currency-related changes – – – – – – – – – – 

Changes due to – – – – – – – – – – 

remeasurement of defined benefit 
plans – – – (78) – – – (78) – (78) 

Other comprehensive income – – – (80) 61 – – (19) – (19) 

Consolidated profit/loss – – – – – – 101 101 – 101 

Total comprehensive income – – – (80) 61 – 101 83 – 83 

Capital increase/                     

capital decrease – – – – – – – – – – 

Changes in the                     

scope of consolidation and other – – – – – – – – – – 

Distribution of profits – – – – – – – – (2) (2) 

As at 30 Jun 2020 3,412 – 2,182 5,587 170 2 251 11,604 15 11,618 
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Rounding differences may occur in the tables. 

Details on equity can be found in note 37. 

1 Adjustments as per 31 December 2019 (see Annual Report and Accounts 31 December 2020, note 2). 

2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2). 

3 Revaluation surplus - gains or losses on fair value measurement of financial assets in the "financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income" category. 

4 Revaluation surplus - rating-related changes in the fair value of financial liabilities from the "fair value option" category recognised through 

other comprehensive income, and reclassification of the rating-related changes in the fair value of these financial liabilities to retained earnings. 
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As at 31 Dec 2020 3,412 – 2,182 5,719 165 5 75 11,559 18 11,576 

Adjusted as per IAS 82 – – – – – – – – – – 

As at 31 Dec 2021 3,412 – 2,182 5,719 165 5 75 11,559 18 11,576 

Changes in the                     

Revaluation surplus                     

Changes in the fair value of debt 
instruments - FVOCIM3 – – – – (36) – – (36) – (36) 

Rating-related changes in the fair 
value of financial liabilities - 
FVPLD (FVO)4 – – – – (16) – – (15) – (15) 

Changes in the fair value of 
currency swaps from currency 
basis spread fluctuations – – – – 1 – – 1 – 1 

Currency-related                     

changes – – – – – (3) – (3) – (3) 

Changes due to remeasurement of 
defined benefit plans – – – 264 – – – 264 – 264 

Other comprehensive income – – – 265 (51) (3) – 211 – 211 

Consolidated profit/loss – – – – – – 248 248 2 249 

Total comprehensive income – – – 265 (51) (3) 248 458 2 460 

Capital increase/                     

capital decrease – – – – – – – – – – 

Changes in the                     

scope of consolidation and other – – – 5 – – – 5 – 5 

Distribution of profits – – – – – – (75) (75) (2) (77) 

As at 30 Jun 2021 3,412 – 2,182 5,989 114 2 248 11,947 17 11,963 
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EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of previous period 9,342 8,512 

+/- cash flow from operating activities 24,103 10,051 

+/- cash flow from investing activities (22) (41) 

+/- cash flow from financing activities 454 (383) 

+/- exchange-rate, scope of consolidation and measurement-related changes 
in cash and cash equivalents 38 (1) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 33,915 18,137 

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Cash flow statement 
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Notes to the half-yearly financial statements 

The half-yearly financial statements of the BayernLB Group as at 30 June 2021 have been pre-

pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) pursuant to Regula-

tion (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002 (including 

all amendments) as well as the supplementary provisions applicable under section 315e para. 1 

of the German Commercial Code. In addition to the IFRS standards, IFRSs also comprise the Inter-

national Accounting Standards (IAS) and the interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Commit-

tee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). All standards and interpretations 

that are mandatory within the EU up to 30 June 2021 have been applied. The half-yearly financial 

statements comply in particular with the requirements of IAS 34. 

Unless otherwise stated all amounts are given in EUR million and rounded up or down to the 

nearest whole figure. Rounding differences may occur in the tables. 

Accounting policies 

(1) Principles 

With the exception of the changes referred to below, the accounting policies used for the half-

yearly financial statements as at 30 June 2021 were the same as those used for the 2020 consoli-

dated financial statements. Information provided in these half-yearly financial statements is to be 

read in conjunction with the information in the published and audited consolidated financial 

statements as at 31 December 2020. Items are recognised and measured on a going concern ba-

sis. 

Income tax expenses for the half-yearly financial statements are calculated on the basis of the 

expected income tax ratio for the full year. 

Impact of amended and new International Financial Reporting Standards 

In financial year 2021, the following amended standards and interpretations that the European 

Commission has incorporated into European law were applied for the first time:  

• IFRS 4  

Due to the amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, the option for companies that conclude 

contracts falling within the scope of application of IFRS 4 to temporarily exempt themselves 

from applying IFRS 9 was extended until 1 January 2023. There was no impact on the half-

yearly financial statements of the BayernLB Group as at 30 June2021.  

• IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16  

The amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement and IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts mainly provide for reliefs when presenting in 

the balance sheet the changes to the basis for calculating contractually agreed cash flows of 

financial assets or financial liabilities resulting from the IBOR reform and other temporary ex-

emptions granted as a consequence of the IBOR reforms which permit an entity to waive the 

application of specific hedge accounting requirements. The amendments to IFRS 16 Leases 
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contain rules for lessees on accounting for a change to a lease that was made necessary by the 

IBOR reforms. As a result of the amendment to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, addi-

tional disclosures need to be made in connection with the IBOR reforms.  

Interbank offered rates (IBORs) are used as benchmarks to price and determine cash flows 

from a variety of financial instruments. As part of the IBOR reforms (IBOR transition), the IBOR 

interest-rate benchmarks and euro overnight index average (EONIA) were replaced by other, 

more neutral interest-rate benchmarks, known as risk-free rates (RFRs). Some of the reforms 

have already taken effect and an end-date for the use of the respective IBOR has been set. Oth-

ers are still being implemented or are under consideration.  

In the BayernLB Group, the IBOR transition has affected a number of products and contracts 

whose interest rates and/or interest payments are based on an IBOR. These include interest-

rate swaps, interest-rate options, securities, issues and loans. In addition, IBOR-based yield 

curves were or are used for a large number of valuation models for discounting and determin-

ing forward rates.  

Where necessary, BayernLB already switched its product valuation methods to RFS in the sec-

ond quarter of 2021 in order to take account of the ongoing IBOR transition. The clearing 

agents BayernLB uses as central counterparties already switched over their discounting curves 

at the end of July 2020 and the balancing payments necessary were made as a result of the 

amendments to the interest-rate agreements for the securities setting the euro short-term rate 

(€STR) as the benchmark. In the case of bilaterally secured derivatives, both master agree-

ments and discounting are being switched over from EONIA to €STR at the same time as the 

central counterparties.  

One of the consequences of the reforms to variable interest rates is that yield curves may 

move or be structured differently than before (e.g. in the case of CHF/GBP/JPY) or may pro-

duce outcomes that cannot yet be fully predicted. The decision to replace the IBORs and EO-

NIA and the switchover to the RFRs pose a number of challenges on account of the process, 

accounting, tax and operational risks that may arise. To lessen these potential risks at the 

BayernLB Group, a dedicated IBOR project was launched to manage the process of switching 

over to the RFR benchmark interest rates and ensure as smooth a transition as possible in the 

interests of the customers and the Bank. This involved identifying the main risks and determin-

ing suitable measures for replacing the IBORs and EONIA by RFRs with minimal disruption. For 

example, a central unit was set up under the auspices of the project to coordinate external 

communication to the customers about the changes to the benchmark interest rates and to 

issue guidelines on how to use and structure the related contractual documentation. BayernLB 

participates in national and international expert panels dealing with the IBOR reform.  

As the change process is still underway, it is not yet possible to definitively assess the impact 

of new contractual standards and any balancing payments on the bilateral derivatives and in-

terbank business. No risks have emerged as a result of the switchovers made in the period to 

30 June 2021 in connection with the IBOR transition. Most of the switchovers and negotiations 

on contractual amendments will take place in the second half of 2021 and the following years. 

In the case of the currencies CHF/GBP/JPY, the transition is expected to be concluded in the 

second half of 2021. 
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For new contracts in the credit and derivatives business, the Bank has been using the most up-

to-date contractual clauses and master agreements or has amended the existing ones to bring 

them into line with the current situation so that they contain either the new benchmark inter-

est rates (e.g. €STR, secured overnight financing rate (SOFR)) or respective fallback clauses for 

no longer applicable benchmark interest rates. The project has been working on bringing ex-

isting master agreements in line with the latest requirements arising from the IBOR reforms.  

Amended or new standards not yet incorporated into European law were not applied to these 

half-yearly financial statements. The standards already incorporated into European law but which 

will not become compulsory until financial year 2022 were not applied either. 

(2) Changes on the previous year 

Adjustments in accordance with IAS 8.14 et seq. 

As a result of Brexit, derivatives of central counterparties with their head office in the United 

Kingdom were ported to central counterparties located within the European Union. To prevent 

distortions between net interest income and gains or losses on fair value measurement, fair 

value arising upon initial recognition as a result of this porting was not accrued in interest in-

come or expenses in the case of derivatives in economic hedges. The accrual is a component of 

gains or losses on fair value measurement. The changes to the methodology had no impact on 

the half-yearly financial statements of the BayernLB Group as at 30 June 2020. 

As part of the “Fokus 2024” transformation programme, the BayernLB Group made changes to 

the management of the Corporates sub-portfolio in the reporting period. This resulted in the fol-

lowing changes to the information on gross credit volumes by sector within the Corporates sub-

portfolio presented in the half-yearly management report (risk report) in accordance with 

IFRS 7.34 (a). From financial year 2021, the nine sectors previously presented were replaced by 

the following eight sectors: energy, mobility, construction & basic resources, consumer goods 

and trade, technology, health, manufacturing & engineering, and other industries. The previous 

year’s figures were adjusted in the breakdown of the new sectors presented in the risk report. 

The gross credit volume was unchanged overall. 

Following the modifications to methodology in the first half of 2021, changes were made to how 

the gross credit volume in the case of derivatives transactions is calculated in order to increase 

transparency and comparability by using a modified standardised approach for counterparty 

credit risk (SA-CCR) to calculate potential future exposure with a confidence level of 95 percent. 

This updating of methodology did not produce any significant changes as at 30 June 2021 to the 

information presented in the half-yearly management report (risk report) in accordance with 

IFRS 7.34 (a) on gross replacement risk and gross credit volume. No adjustments were made to 

the previous year as the system is not able to calculate the impact of retroactive adjustments.  

Adjustments in accordance with IAS 8.32 et seq. 

In the first half of 2021, refinements were made to the discounting rate used to calculate risk 

provisions in Stage 3 and provisions for other contingent liabilities/other liabilities in order to en-

sure a uniform discounting rate is used to determine risk provisions under IFRS 9 (stages 1, 2, 3) 
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and provisions under IAS 37. The impact of changes to estimates on the reporting period cannot 

be calculated by the systems. Based on the test calculations as at 31 December 2020, it can be 

assumed that the overall impact was only moderate. The changes to the estimates will also have 

an impact on future periods which currently cannot be reliably estimated. 

Adjustments in accordance with IAS 8.41 et seq. 

In the note on Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments, changes in the fair value of loans and 

advances to customers calculated on the basis of non-observable market data (Level 3) the in-

come and expenses were understated by EUR 65 million and settlements overstated by 

EUR 65 million in the income statement. Furthermore, as at 30 June 2020 securitised liabilities in 

the amount of EUR 83 million (1 January 2020: EUR 90 million) were allocated to Level 3 instead 

of Level 2 and therefore the wrong amount was recognised under changes in fair values calcu-

lated on the basis of non-observable market data (Level 3). Accordingly, the previous year’s fig-

ures were adjusted for both issues. 

In the note on Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and other commitments, commitments as 

at 31 December 2020 of EUR 101 million were incorrectly reported. The need to restate the previ-

ous year’s figures reduced the irrevocable lending commitments by the same amount and in-

creased the liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements accordingly. 

In addition, in the information presented in accordance with IFRS 7.34 (a) in the management re-

port (risk report) the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) key performance indicator was overstated by 

34 percentage points due to the incorrect use of a data field as at 31 December 2020. After ad-

justing the previous year’s value, the LCR dropped from its original 245 percent to 211 percent.  

(3) Scope of consolidation 

Besides the parent company, the group of companies consolidated within BayernLB comprises 

14 subsidiaries (31 December 2020: 14), which are consolidated in accordance with IFRS 10. 

As before, it does not include any companies within the scope of consolidation that are meas-

ured at equity. 

Determining the scope of consolidation 

BayernLB’s scope of consolidation is determined by materiality criteria. 111 (31 December 2020: 

109) companies were neither consolidated nor measured at equity due to their negligible im-

portance individually or collectively to the financial position and financial performance of the 

Group. The impact on the balance sheet from the contractual relationships between Group com-

panies and these non-consolidated companies is reported in the half-yearly financial statements.  
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Segment reporting 

(4) Notes to the segment report 

The segment report reflects the business structure of the BayernLB Group. A total of four seg-

ments, which are unchanged on the previous year, are shown in the report, comprising the three 

business segments Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institutions, Corporates & Markets and 

Deutsche Kreditbank (DKB), supplemented by the Central Areas & Others (including Consolida-

tion) segment. The earnings of the consolidated subsidiaries and units are also allocated to the 

segment to which they have been assigned. The Central Areas & Others (including Consolidation) 

segment is not aggregated for segment reporting purposes but separately as Central Areas & 

Others and consolidation entries not allocated to any segment in the Consolidation column. 

Segment reporting is based on IFRS 8 and thus on the monthly management reports submitted 

to the Board of Management, which serves as the chief operating decision maker as defined in 

IFRS 8.7. The management reports – and hence the segmentation – are based on the accounting 

policies used in the consolidated financial statements under IFRS. Segment reporting does not 

therefore need to be reconciled with the IFRS accounting policies used in the consolidated finan-

cial statements. The earnings contributions reported under the segments are generated largely 

from banking transactions and financial services. Net interest income and net commission in-

come are shown respectively as net figures comprising interest income and interest expenses 

and commission income and commission expenses. The additional information about products 

and services required under IFRS 8.32 and on non-current assets by geographical region required 

under IFRS 8.33 (b) is not available. This is because the cost of producing the information would 

be excessively high and the BayernLB Group’s business activities are focused on Germany. There 

is therefore no significant amount of business that could be distributed across geographical re-

gions. 

As with internal management information, the BayernLB core Bank’s available capital calculated 

in accordance with the market interest rate method, which, as a portion of net interest income, 

is reported under the earnings contributions of non-interest bearing liabilities will, from 2021, no 

longer be allocated to the operating segments, but will be recognised in full under the Group 

Treasury Business Area and therefore fully assigned to the Central Areas & Others (including Con-

solidation) segment. The segment figures for the comparison period affected have been adjusted 

accordingly. 

The risk-weighted assets (RWAs) shown include the figures as at the reporting date for credit 

risk, market risk, credit value adjustments (CVA) and operational risk arising from the business 

activities. For the Group, the average regulatory capital available over the reporting period is re-

ported as equity. For this, Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital is calculated using the supervisory 

regulations in force at the time. For the purposes of internal management, economic capital is 

allocated to the segments in the amount of 14 percent of their average risk-weighted assets. Eco-

nomic capital is reconciled to regulatory capital in the column headed “Consolidation”. 

The return on equity (RoE) shown is calculated on the basis of internal management information 

from the ratio of profit before taxes to the average regulatory capital (Group)/average allocated 
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economic capital (at segment level). The cost/income ratio (CIR) is the ratio of administrative ex-

penses and gross profit comprising net interest income, net commission income, gains or losses 

on fair value measurement, gains or losses on hedge accounting, gains or losses on derecog-

nised financial assets, gains or losses on financial investments and other income and expenses. 

Segment reporting as at 30 June 20211 
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Net interest income 173 163 566 96 8 1,006 

Risk provisions 3 (1) 33 9 – 44 

Net commission income 135 43 25 (14) – 189 

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 37 35 28 57 (12) 145 

Gains or losses on hedge accounting – – 3 (6) – (3) 

Gains or losses on derecognised financial 
assets – 1 4 – – 5 

Gains or losses on financial investments – – 7 – – 7 

Administrative expenses (200) (144) (342) (70) 1 (754) 

Expenses for the bank levy and deposit 
guarantee scheme – – (54) (116) – (170) 

Other income and expenses 6 – 2 6 (1) 14 

Gains or losses on restructuring 1 – – 1 – 1 

Profit/loss before taxes 155 97 273 (37) (4) 485 

Risk-weighted assets (RWAs) 11,730 23,190 24,670 5,489 – 65,079 

Average economic/regulatory capital 1,678 3,298 3,388 780 1,023 10,167 

Return on equity (RoE) (%) 18.5 5.9 16.1 – – 9.5 

Cost/income ratio (CIR) (%) 56.9 59.5 53.7 – – 55.3 

1  The utility of key indicators RoE and CIR is very limited in the case of the Central Areas & Others sub-segment due to its specific characteristics. 

For this reason, the Bank will no longer disclose them or provide voluntary information on average headcount per segment from financial year 

2021. The previous year’s figures were restated accordingly in each specific case. 
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Segment reporting as at 30 June 2020 
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Net interest income 1601 1481 476 781 11 873 

Risk provisions (10) (65) 2 (1) – (75) 

Net commission income 118 40 9 (14) – 154 

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 42 38 (12) (18) 1 51 

Gains or losses on hedge accounting – 1 (5) (6) – (9) 

Gains or losses on 
derecognised financial assets – 1 (2) – – (1) 

Gains or losses on financial investments 1 – 13 18 – 31 

Administrative expenses (199) (167) (332) (69) 2 (764) 

Expenses for the bank levy and deposit 
guarantee scheme – – (37) (104) – (142) 

Other income and expenses 4 – 3 34 (2) 38 

Gains or losses on restructuring – – – – – – 

Profit/loss before taxes 1171 (5)1 115 (82)1 12 158 

Risk-weighted assets (RWAs) 12,089 24,464 25,635 5,405 – 67,593 

Average economic/regulatory capital 1,701 3,410 3,515 745 592 9,963 

Return on equity (RoE) (%) 13.71 (0.3)1 6.6 – – 3.2 

Cost/income ratio (CIR) (%) 61.21 73.31 68.7 – – 67.2 

1 Adjusted as per IFRS 8.29. 

Notes on delimitation of segments 

The Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institutions segment incorporates business with com-

mercial and residential real estate customers, business with the savings banks, the public sector, 

insurers, credit institutions and institutional customers. In addition, the legally dependent institu-

tion Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt, Munich (BayernLabo) and consolidated subsidiary 

Real I.S. AG Gesellschaft für Immobilien Assetmanagement, Munich (Real I.S.) and BayernInvest 

are allocated to this segment. The Real Estate Division focuses on long-term commercial real es-

tate financing in Germany and selected foreign markets and business with residential construc-

tion companies and residential property developers. BayernLB offers commercial real estate cus-

tomers a comprehensive range of services related to real estate financing. The Savings Banks & 

Financial Institutions Division functions as the central hub for the Bank’s working relationship 

with the savings banks and public sector in Germany and the services it provides to insurers, 

credit institutions, pension funds and asset managers at national and international level. Its activ-

ities include BayernLB’s business with savings banks in Germany, particularly Bavaria, and the 

state-subsidised loan business. The savings banks are a fundamental part of BayernLB’s business 
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model as both customers and sales partners. The Division also serves state and municipal cus-

tomers and public agencies in Germany, but also credit institutions, insurers and institutional 

customers worldwide, which BayernLB, as a partner, provides with a wide range of products and 

tailor-made solutions. In addition, an extensive network of institutional customers provides 

BayernLB with a broad investor pool. The Savings Banks & Financial Institutions Division also of-

fers a wide range of products and services in an expanding foreign notes and coins and precious 

metals business as a market leader in the S-Finanzgruppe. BayernLabo is responsible for the non-

competitive residential construction and urban development business under public mandate on 

behalf of BayernLB. It also provides financing for local authorities in Bavaria, special-purpose as-

sociations, school associations and the Free State of Bavaria. 

The Corporates & Markets segment comprises the business area of the same name in which 

BayernLB’s financing and capital market activities for corporate customers and institutional inves-

tors are bundled. In the Corporates business, BayernLB serves Mittelstand and large corporate 

customers focused on forward-looking sectors (energy, mobility, technology, manufacturing & 

engineering and construction & basic resources), with the sector team taking a holistic approach. 

Besides DAX, MDAX, family-owned firms and international companies in selected markets world-

wide, it also has on its books corporate customers of the Bavarian savings banks, which are sup-

ported in the syndicated loan business. The products and services on offer in the Corporates 

business are varied and include traditional loan financing, structured financial products for pro-

ject financing, leasing, asset financing, securitisation, and export and trade financing for interna-

tionally active customers. The Markets Division is a central supplier of financial market products 

for BayernLB customers. The strategic focus of its range of services includes debt capital market 

activities and a select range of interest rate and currency products. The division also provides 

market access for BayernLB’s own treasury activities. The Non-Core Markets Division is responsi-

ble for winding down trading products and portfolios which BayernLB will no longer be offering 

in the future due to its strategic realignment, while seeking at the same time to maximise value.  

The main component of the DKB segment is the business of the Deutsche Kreditbank Aktieng-

esellschaft, Berlin (DKB) sub-group. This segment also includes the consolidated subsidiary Bay-

ern Card-Services GmbH – S-Finanzgruppe, Munich (BCS). In addition to providing online banking 

for its retail customers, DKB’s business activities also include the infrastructure and corporate 

banking markets. In these markets DKB specialises largely in business with customers in promis-

ing and relatively non-cyclical sectors with long-term growth potential, such as residential prop-

erty, renewable energy, agriculture and nutrition. BCS’s business activities are focused on credit 

card services. 

The Central Areas & Others segment incorporates the earnings contributions from the central ar-

eas Group Treasury, Corporate Center, Financial Office, Operating Office, and Risk Office (includ-

ing Credit Consulting) and Others. The activities of the Group Treasury Division include asset/lia-

bility management and the related money market activities and liquidity management. Earnings 

contributions from money market transactions for customers are shown in the respective cus-

tomer segment. The segment includes transactions that cannot be allocated to either a business 

area or a central area. The Consolidation column, disclosed with the segment on an aggregate 
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basis, includes consolidation entries not allocated to any segment. These mainly arise from dif-

ferences in the way intra-Group transactions are measured and the application of hedge account-

ing to cross-segment derivatives transactions. 

Earnings from typical banking operations after risk provisions (net interest income, net commis-

sion income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, gains or losses on hedge accounting, 

gains or losses on derecognised financial assets, and gains or losses on financial investments) 

were EUR 1,394 million (30 June 2020: EUR 1,025 million), including EUR 1,359 million (30 June 

2020: EUR 986 million) in Germany, EUR 9 million (30 June 2020: EUR 9 million) in Europe exclud-

ing Germany, and EUR 26 million (30 June 2020: EUR 30 million) in America. Of the risk-weighted 

assets (RWAs) in the amount of EUR 65,079 million (30 June 2020: EUR 67,593 million) recog-

nised instead of non-current assets, EUR 63,683 million (30 June 2020: EUR 65,681 million) re-

lated to Germany, EUR 10 million (30 June 2020: EUR 212 million) related to Europe excluding 

Germany and EUR 1,701 million (30 June 2020: EUR 1,700 million) related to America. 
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Notes to the statement of comprehensive income 

(5) Net interest income 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Interest income 2,486 2,811 

Interest income from financial instruments determined using the effective 
interest method 1,678 1,588 

From lending and money market transactions 1,289 1,426 

From financial investments 49 86 

From the amortisation of significant and non-significant modifications of 
financial assets – 1 

From negative interest 340 75 

Interest income – other 808 1,223 

From lending and money market transactions 37 35 

From financial investments 17 5 

From hedge accounting derivatives 214 318 

From derivatives in economic hedges 313 664 

From negative interest 228 200 

Interest expenses (1,481) (1,937) 

Interest expenses from financial instruments determined using the 
effective interest method (660) (707) 

For liabilities to banks and customers (358) (453) 

For securitised liabilities (117) (171) 

For subordinated capital (34) (36) 

Modification losses on non-significant modifications of financial assets1 – (1) 

From the amortisation of significant and non-significant modifications of 
financial assets (1) (1) 

Other interest expenses (12) (14) 

From negative interest (139) (31) 

Interest expenses – other (820) (1,230) 

For liabilities to banks and customers (50) (64) 

For securitised liabilities (20) (19) 

For hedge accounting derivatives (230) (276) 

For derivatives in economic hedges (260) (608) 

Other interest expenses (9) (25) 

From negative interest (252) (238) 

Total 1,006 873 

1 Modification gains or losses from modifications of contractually agreed cash flows of financial assets, the loss allowances for which are meas-

ured in the amount of the 12-month expected credit losses. 

Total interest income amounted to EUR 1,153 million (30 June 2020: EUR 1,393 million) for finan-

cial assets measured at amortised cost and EUR 46 million (30 June 2020: EUR 87 million) for fi-

nancial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Total 

interest expenses for financial liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss were 

EUR 181 million (30 June 2020: EUR 599 million). 
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(6) Risk provisions 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Income from risk provisions 551 507 

From the release of risk provisions for on and off-balance sheet 
transactions 533 452 

From the write-up of purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets 2 10 

From recoveries on written down receivables 16 44 

Expenses for risk provisions (506) (581) 

From additions to risk provisions for on and off-balance sheet transactions (506) (581) 

Total 44 (75) 

 

Refer to note 19 for details about the post model adjustment shown as at 30 June 2021. 

(7) Net commission income 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Commission income 406 378 

Securities business 65 56 

Credit business 97 92 

Payments 28 19 

Documentary business 3 9 

Credit card business 75 104 

Fund business 109 84 

Trust transactions 8 8 

Other 20 6 

Commission expenses (216) (224) 

Securities business (37) (36) 

Broker fees (6) (5) 

Credit business (44) (37) 

Payments (24) (30) 

Documentary business – (4) 

Credit card business (56) (78) 

Fund business (48) (32) 

Other (1) (2) 

Total 189 154 
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(8) Gains or losses on fair value measurement 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Net trading income 33 218 

Interest-related transactions 22 35 

Currency-related transactions 19 13 

Equity-related and index-related transactions and transactions with other 
risks (33) 121 

Credit derivatives (5) 7 

Other financial transactions 31 44 

Refinancing of trading portfolios 2 4 

Trading-related commission (3) (6) 

Fair value gains or losses on debt instruments in the “financial assets 
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss” category that 
are not held for trading 75 (154) 

Fair value gains or losses on financial instruments in the “fair value 
option” category 37 (13) 

of which:     

Profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests arising from the capital 
consolidation (14) – 

Total 145 51 

 

Profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests arising from the capital consolidation relates 

to the DKB sustainability funds incorporated into the DKB sub-group in the second half of 2020. 

For a detailed description, see note 3 of the consolidated financial statements for 2020. 

(9) Gains or losses on hedge accounting 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Gains or losses on micro fair value hedges (7) (4) 

Gains or losses on the measurement of hedged items (51) 53 

Gains or losses on the measurement of hedging instruments 45 (57) 

Gains or losses on portfolio fair value hedges 3 (5) 

Gains or losses on the measurement of hedged items (400) 386 

Gains or losses on the measurement of hedging instruments 403 (390) 

Gains or losses on group fair value hedges 1 (1) 

Gains or losses on the measurement of hedged items 145 (189) 

Gains or losses on the measurement of hedging instruments (144) 189 

Total (3) (9) 
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(10) Gains or losses on derecognised financial assets 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Gains on derecognised financial assets 6 4 

Gains on disposals 1 – 

Gains on significant modifications 5 3 

Losses on derecognised financial assets (1) (4) 

Losses on significant modifications (1) (4) 

Total 5 (1) 

 

The amounts relate to financial assets in the “financial assets measured at amortised cost” cate-

gory. 

(11) Gains or losses on financial investments 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Gains or losses on financial investments in the “financial assets 
mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income” category 7 20 

Income from financial investments 7 22 

Gains on disposals 7 22 

Expenses from financial investments – (2) 

Losses on disposals – (2) 

Fair value gains or losses on equity instruments in the “financial assets 
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss” category that 
are not held for trading – 12 

Total 7 31 
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(12) Administrative expenses 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Staff costs (428) (420) 

Salaries and wages (334) (319) 

Social security contributions (47) (44) 

Expenses for pensions and other employee benefits (46) (57) 

Other administrative expenses (284) (307) 

Expenses from the amortisation, depreciation, loss allowances and 
writedowns of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (42) (37) 

Total (754) (764) 

(13) Expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Expenses for the bank levy (75) (68) 

Expenses for the deposit guarantee scheme (95) (74) 

Total (170) (142) 

(14) Other income and expenses 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Other income 38 84 

Other expenses (24) (46) 

Total 14 38 

(15) Gains or losses on restructuring 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Income from restructuring measures 5 1 

Expenses for restructuring measures (3) – 

Total 1 – 
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Notes to the balance sheet 

(16) Cash reserves 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Cash 168 266 

Deposits with central banks 33,747 9,076 

Total 33,915 9,342 

(17) Loans and advances to banks 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loans and advances to domestic banks 52,999 48,922 

Loans and advances to foreign banks 6,070 7,256 

Total 59,069 56,177 

(18) Loans and advances to customers 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loans and advances to domestic customers 127,678 125,848 

Loans and advances to foreign customers 27,052 26,528 

Total 154,730 152,376 

(19) Risk provisions 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loss allowances – Stage 1 138 155 

Loss allowances – Stage 2 282 299 

Loss allowances – Stage 3 575 581 

Loss allowances – POCI 44 49 

Total 1,039 1,084 

 

Risk provisions comprise loss allowances for financial assets in the “financial assets measured at 

amortised cost” category which are recognised in the balance sheet line items “loans and ad-

vances to banks” and “loans and advances to customers”. 

The loss allowances are broken down in the BayernLB Group as follows: 

• Loss allowances measured in the amount of the 12-month expected credit losses (Stage 1) 

• Loss allowances measured in the amount of the lifetime expected credit losses for financial as-

sets for which the default risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but which are 

not credit-impaired financial assets (Stage 2) 

• Loss allowances measured in the amount of the lifetime expected credit losses for financial as-

sets that were credit-impaired as at the reporting date but which were not at the time of pur-

chase or origination (Stage 3) 

• Loss allowances for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (POCI) 

• Loss allowances for trade receivables where the loss allowances are always measured in the 

amount of the lifetime expected credit losses (simplified approach). 



 

BayernLB - Group Half-Yearly Financial Report 2021 92 

Changes in loss allowances – Stage 1 

  
Loans and advances to 

banks 
Loans and advances to 

customers Total 

EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

As at 1 Jan 1 3 154 120 155 123 

Currency-related changes – – – (1) – (1) 

Changes in the expected 
credit loss due to changes in 
the risk parameters – 2 (19) 23 (20) 24 

Additions due to 
lending/purchases – 1 21 18 21 18 

Releases due to 
disposals/redemptions/sales – (1) (16) (16) (16) (17) 

Utilisations/writedowns – – – – – – 

Reclassifications to Stage 1 
from Stage 2 1 – 14 18 15 18 

Reclassifications from Stage 1 
to Stage 2 – (1) (17) (21) (17) (21) 

Reclassifications from Stage 1 
to Stage 3 – – – (2) – (2) 

As at 30 Jun 2 3 136 139 138 143 

Changes in loss allowances – Stage 2 

  
Loans and advances to 

banks 
Loans and advances to 

customers Total 

EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

As at 1 Jan 4 1 295 141 299 142 

Currency-related changes – – 1 – 2 – 

Changes in the expected 
credit loss due to changes in 
the risk parameters (2) 1 46 94 44 95 

Additions due to 
lending/purchases – – 13 15 13 15 

Releases due to 
disposals/redemptions/sales (1) – (58) (40) (59) (41) 

Reclassifications to Stage 2 
from Stage 1 – 1 17 21 17 21 

Reclassifications from Stage 2 
to Stage 1 (1) – (14) (18) (15) (18) 

Reclassifications from Stage 2 
to Stage 3 – – (19) (11) (19) (11) 

As at 30 Jun 1 2 280 201 282 203 
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Changes in loss allowances – Stage 3 

  
Loans and advances to 

banks 
Loans and advances to 

customers Total 

EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

As at 1 Jan 6 6 575 658 581 665 

Currency-related changes – – 2 (4) 2 (4) 

Changes in the expected 
credit loss due to changes in 
the risk parameters – – 47 60 47 60 

Additions due to 
lending/purchases – – 12 21 12 21 

Releases due to 
disposals/redemptions/sales – – (39) (44) (39) (44) 

Utilisations/writedowns – – (48) (117) (48) (117) 

Unwinding – – (5) (8) (5) (8) 

Reclassifications to Stage 3 
from Stage 1 – – – 2 – 2 

Reclassifications to Stage 3 
from Stage 2 – – 19 11 19 11 

Transfers/other changes – – 4 21 4 21 

As at 30 Jun 6 6 568 600 575 607 

 

Changes in loss allowances – POCI 

  
Loans and advances to 

customers 

EUR million 2021 2020 

As at 1 Jan 49 44 

Currency-related changes 2 (1) 

Changes in the expected credit loss due to changes in the risk parameters (4) 9 

Additions due to lending/purchases 1 1 

Releases due to disposals/redemptions/sales (2) (2) 

Utilisations/writedowns (1) (1) 

As at 30 Jun 44 50 

 

The total volume of non-discounted expected credit losses as at first-time recognition of pur-

chased or originated credit-impaired financial assets was EUR 5 million in the reporting period 

(31 December 2020: EUR 27 million). All of these relate to loans and advances to customers. 

The gross carrying amount of financial assets in the “financial assets measured at amortised 

cost” category which are recognised in the balance sheet line items “cash reserves”, “loans and 

advances to banks”, “loans and advances to customers”, and “other assets” stood at 

EUR 247,044 million (31 December 2020: EUR 216,970 million) and comprised: 
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EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Financial assets – Stage 1 229,098 196,660 

Cash reserves 33,915 9,342 

Loans and advances to banks 55,102 50,734 

Loans and advances to customers 140,053 136,584 

Other assets1 28 26 

Financial assets – Stage 2 16,393 18,816 

Loans and advances to banks 3,962 5,437 

Loans and advances to customers 12,431 13,379 

Financial assets – Stage 3 1,380 1,323 

Loans and advances to banks 7 7 

Loans and advances to customers 1,374 1,317 

Financial assets – POCI 136 133 

Loans and advances to customers 136 133 

Trade receivables – simplified approach 37 38 

Other assets 37 38 

Total 247,044 216,970 

1 From the first half of 2021, the financial instruments included in other assets were reported. The previous year’s figures were restated accord-

ingly. 
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Impact of the coronavirus pandemic 

Due to the impact of coronavirus pandemic, the regular review of the macroeconomic scenarios 

for the next few years determined that it was necessary to make changes to the post model ad-

justment that had been considered in the previous financial statements. The baseline scenario 

and the “global economic crisis” scenario outlined in the consolidated financial statements for 

2020 were supplemented by the “expansive inflation” scenario. The central parameters underly-

ing the scenarios are the changes in gross domestic product (GDP), consumer prices, the unem-

ployment rate, the leading stock market indices in Germany, Europe and the US, and changes in 

yields on long-dated government bonds in Germany and Europe.  

The baseline scenario reflects the economic trends which are currently expected to take place 

and upon which the pandemic has had a major bearing. The forecasts the consolidated financial 

statements for 2020 were based on were largely vindicated. The main changes were to the time 

profile of the economic recovery in Europe and the state of the US economy. In the first half of 

2020, measures to contain the coronavirus pandemic and the uncertainty as to the future course 

of the crisis triggered an extraordinary economic collapse. A very broad range of countermeas-

ures of a monetary and especially of a fiscal nature was unable to immediately compensate for 

the downturn. Public and private deficits and debt ratios exploded around the globe. Most devel-

oped economies tipped into a short but very steep recession, the worst since the Second World 

War. Economic output even temporarily dropped in China and numerous other emerging mar-

kets. From mid-2020, supply-side restrictions were eased, a partial recovery from the slump in de-

mand began and measures to stimulate activity started to bear fruit. Nonetheless, global GDP fell 

compared with the average of previous years. As it has not yet been possible to contain the pan-

demic sufficiently, various regions will experience repeated lockdowns and the economic upturn 

will generally be weakened by the current uncertainty over the spread of the virus in 2021. Nev-

ertheless, the extensive fiscal stimulus measures in the USA will boost economic activity from 

mid-2021, causing inflation rates to tick up temporarily. As a large number of fiscal programmes 

come to an end, self-sustaining growth will set in from 2023, albeit with reduced momentum. 

Yields on investment-grade bonds will edge up. Supported by the US fiscal stimulus package and 

the ongoing communitisation taking place in Europe through the recovery fund, German govern-

ment bonds will see their role of safe haven diminishing, partly due to the increasing competi-

tion that comes with the massive increase in the supply of highly liquid and investment-grade 

bonds in the EU. All this means Bund yields may take a small step back into positive territory as 

early as 2022. The new trend of a weakening dollar will remain intact. Monetary and regulatory 

countermeasures and the stabilisation of the economy have helped limit corporate bond default 

rates. However, spreads will widen a little as central bank purchases are scaled back. With equi-

ties, the rapid bounce back in 2021 will be followed by fresh gains, albeit at a slower pace. De-

spite the still-low interest rates, commercial real estate is expected to suffer some temporary 

knock-backs in 2021. The probability of this scenario occurring has been adjusted to 55 percent 

from the 65 percent that was indicated in the consolidated financial statements for 2020. This ad-

justment was necessary due to the explicit inclusion of the “expansive inflation” scenario.  

In the “global economic crisis” scenario, it is anticipated that the coronavirus pandemic will not 

be contained, resulting in an economic shock that will last for some time to come. This will be 

aggravated by serious second-round effects as the global financial crisis spreads. Several regions 
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of the global economy will fall back into a recession that will be deep and pronounced, with the 

downturn reaching its low point in 2022. The limited elbow room for monetary and fiscal policy 

in many regions will see the economic crisis persist for an unusually long time. The additional, 

aggregated global loss of GDP will be significantly higher than in the exceptionally deep reces-

sion in 2008/2009. The economy will recover gradually in 2023 and the GDP growth rates of all 

regions/countries will align again with the baseline scenario in 2025. However, unemployment 

will remain very high in 2025. Central banks will respond at the start of the shock with an addi-

tional, broad-based easing of monetary policy, further cuts to interest rates and a significant ex-

pansion/relaunch of the asset purchase programmes (quantitative easing or QE). In many indus-

trialised countries, key interest rates will remain negative or close to zero until 2024. On the 

fiscal policy front, more strongly expansive measures will be taken, leading to a huge increase in 

deficits and debt ratios. A large proportion of the significant increase in issues of government 

bonds will be bought up by central banks. Combined with falling interest rates, the yield curves 

of investment-grade issues will lurch downwards as a result. Long-term yields will slide back well 

into negative territory and not approach zero until 2025. Yields on 10-year US Treasuries will sink 

to virtually zero, but US bonds will remain attractive and the transatlantic spread will tighten. In 

the risk-off environment and with the situation again becoming more fragile in the eurozone, 

the euro will initially lose strength against the dollar but, after a considerable delay, substantially 

firm up as a result of the significant monetary easing in the US. Commodities prices will tumble 

once more. Stock markets will remain under heavy pressure for a sustained period and will not 

start posting gains until 2023. Risk premiums on government bonds of countries on the periph-

ery of the eurozone and on corporate bonds in the eurozone will widen markedly, despite the 

recovery fund and substantial QE purchases by the ECB in 2021. The latter will be accelerated by 

a huge increase in default rates. Real estate prices, especially in the commercial segment, will 

soften significantly in developed countries up to 2023: as the world emerges from the corona-

virus crisis, buffers for all stakeholders will have been depleted and current expectations of a 

boom disappointed. Persistently high levels of unemployment in the USA will also put pressure 

on the residential segment there. The Bank has once again put the probability of occurrence of 

the “global economic crisis” scenario, which was considered in the consolidated financial state-

ments for 2020, at 35 percent.  

The “expansive inflation” scenario is based on the assumption that consumer prices around the 

globe will permanently shoot up in the wake of the pandemic, triggered by supply and demand-

side factors. Inflation rates in all countries and regions will surge to 4 percent compared with the 

previous year. The delta for the baseline scenario is therefore higher in Europe than in the US. 

On the supply-side, long-term restrictions on and changes in the structure of production will 

crank up prices. Delivery bottlenecks in international trade and the renationalisation of produc-

tion to increase national resilience, along with the associated pressures on costs, will also play a 

role here. Commodities prices will also experience sharp rises. On the demand-side, inflationary 

pressures will be reinforced by the already huge liquidity and money supply surpluses that have 

accumulated and by the ultra-loose monetary and fiscal policies, so that companies will be able 

to pass on most of the rise in production costs to consumers. Despite soaring consumer prices, 

companies will experience squeezed margins. Financing conditions will also tighten due to rising 

inflationary expectations. The “expansive inflation” scenario follows a similar trend to the base-

line scenario and is explicitly calculated only for two years due to methodological complications. 
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For the following years, it is based on the same trend used in the baseline scenario. The risk of 

elevated inflation within the range of the expected growth in the baseline scenario is already evi-

dent through an adjustment to inflation expectations for 2021. The “expansive inflation” sce-

nario is based on a probability of occurrence of 10 percent. 

The following, significant parameters were used for the baseline, “global economic crisis” and 

“expansive inflation” scenarios as at 30 June 2021: changes in GDP, consumer prices, the unem-

ployment rate and the leading stock market indices in Germany, Europe and the US. A time hori-

zon of five years (2021 to 2025) was observed. It was found that, based on the above assump-

tions, the largest impact for the calculation of the post model adjustment will be in the first two 

years. This is mainly due to the BayernLB Group’s portfolio structure and it becoming increas-

ingly harder to forecast future years with certainty. 

Assumptions on the consolidated financial statements for 2020 

Annual average (baseline scenario/ 
global economic crisis)   2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 

Real GDP growth (%) Germany 3.9/-0.6 1.9/-0.6 1.6/0.6 1.4/0.9 1.3/1.3 

Price rise (consumer prices) (%)   2.2/0.7 1.7/-0.3 1.8/0.3 1.9/0.6 1.9/1.2 

Unemployment rate (%)   6.5/7.3 6.0/7.6 5.5/7.5 5.2/7.3 5.2/7.3 

Leading stock market index (%) - year-end price 
index   4.9/-19.7 2.9/-13.9 1.9/7.6 0.4/6.6 2.2/7.5 

Real GDP growth (%) Eurozone 3.9/-0.6 1.9/-0.6 1.5/0.5 1.4/0.9 1.3/1.3 

Price rise (consumer prices) (%)   1.4/-0.1 1.5/-0.5 1.8/0.3 1.8/0.5 1.8/1.1 

Unemployment rate (%)   8.3/9.9 7.7/10.2 7.5/10.3 7.5/10.5 7.5/10.5 

Leading stock market index (%) - year-end price 
index   5.4/-17.5 5.1/-12.6 2.2/7.2 0.5/6.5 2.1/7.4 

Real GDP growth (%) USA 3.0/-1.5 2.0/-0.5 1.8/0.8 1.7/1.2 1.8/1.8 

Price rise (consumer prices) (%)   1.5/0.0 1.6/-0.4 1.7/0.2 1.8/0.5 1.9/1.2 

Unemployment rate (%)   7.0/9.6 6.0/10.0 5.0/9.6 4.5/9.3 4.5/9.3 

Leading stock market index (%) - year-end price 
index1   4.6/-21.2 5.3/-8.8 2.8/9.4 2.2/7.4 2.7/7.6 

Capital market interest rates (as at year end) - 
yields on government bonds (10Y) 

Germany 
Eurozone (0.1)/-1 0.2/-0.9 0.5/-0.6 0.6/-0.4 0.8/-0.2 

1 Baseline scenario adjusted as per IAS 8.42. 
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Assumptions on the consolidated half-yearly financial statements 

Annual average (baseline 
scenario/global economic 
crisis/expansive inflation   2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 

Real GDP growth (%) Germany 3.1/-1.4/3.1 3.1/0.6/2.0 1.7/0.7/1.7 1.4/0.9/1.4 1.3/1.3/1.3 

Price rise (consumer prices) (%)   2.1/0.6/4.0 2.2/0.2/4.0 1.9/0.4/1.9 1.9/0.6/1.9 1.9/1.2/1.9 

Unemployment rate (%)   6.5/7.6/6.5 6.0/7.7/6.3 5.5/7.5/5.5 5.2/7.3/5.2 5.2/7.3/5.2 

Leading stock market index (%) 
- year-end price index   8.0/-21.2/10.9 3.8/-15.3/3.6 2.8/9.4/2.8 -5.7/5.4/-5.7 4.4/4.8/4.4 

Real GDP growth (%) Eurozone 3.9/-0.6/3.9 3.5/0.9/2.5 1.8/0.8/1.8 1.5/1.0/1.5 1.4/1.4/1.4 

Price rise (consumer prices) (%)   1.5/0.0/4.0 1.5/-0.5/4.0 1.9/0.4/1.9 1.9/0.6/1.9 1.9/1.2/1.9 

Unemployment rate (%)   8.3/9.9/8.3 7.7/10.2/8.0 7.4/10.2/7.4 7.4/10.4/7.4 7.4/10.4/7.4 

Leading stock market index (%) 
- year-end price index   9.2/-19.5/11.2 3.1/-14.3/3.8 2.5/8.8/2.5 -4.4/5.2/-4.4 4.6/4.7/4.6 

Real GDP growth (%) USA 5.0/0.5/5.0 3.0/0.5/1.8 2.5/1.5/2.5 2.0/1.5/2.0 1.8/1.8/1.8 

Price rise (consumer prices) (%)   2.5/1.0/4.0 2.4/0.4/4.0 2.2/0.7/2.2 2.1/0.8/2.1 2.0/1.3/2.0 

Unemployment rate (%)   6.2/8.8/5.8 5.4/9.4/4.8 5.0/9.6/5.0 4.5/9.3/4.5 4.0/8.8/4.0 

Leading stock market index (%) 
- year-end price index   9.2/-22.0/10.2 3.7/-13.8/3.4 3.1/9.5/3.1 -4.1/5.8/-4.1 4.8/5.2/4.8 

Capital market interest rates 
(as at year end) - yields on 
government bonds (10Y) 

Germany 
Eurozone -0.2/-1/1.7 0.2/-0.9/2.5 0.6/-0.6/0.6 0.9/-0.4/0.9 1.1/-0.2/1.1 

 

Depending on the scenario and sub-portfolio and based on the assumptions shown, it is antici-

pated that the impacts on the key risk parameters, such as ratings, loss ratios/loss given default 

(LGD) and collateral values will vary in strength. The effects are initially calculated in the form of 

a model and then subjected to a qualitative review. Expert-based adjustments were made in indi-

vidual cases, most notably in the cruise industry and aviation sub-portfolios, and within the real 

estate portfolio in the case of hotels and shopping centres  

Consequently, the BayernLB Group took account as at 30 June 2021 of the impact of the ex-

pected credit losses by setting up risk provisions of EUR 292 million (31 December 2020: 

EUR 325 million) in the form of a post model adjustment. As at 30 June 2021, these risk provi-

sions included around 50 percent for the Corporates & Markets segment (31 December 2020: 

around 30 percent) and around 30 percent for the DKB segment (31 December 2020: around 

30 percent). The risk provisions of EUR 292 million include an expert-based management adjust-

ment of EUR 50 million (31 December 2020: EUR 35 million), which also takes into account the 

still extreme uncertainty about the current situation with regard to future economic growth, es-

pecially of potential defaults/corporate insolvencies when state support measures are with-

drawn.  

Assuming a probability of occurrence of 100 percent in each case, this would result in a post 

model adjustment of around EUR 115 million in the baseline scenario, around EUR 562 million in 

the “global economic crisis” scenario and around EUR 93 million in the “expansive inflation” sce-

nario as at 30 June 2021.  

As at 30 June 2021, the baseline scenario was given a weighting of 55 percent, the “global eco-

nomic scenario” a weighting of 35 percent and the “expansive inflation” scenario a weighting of 

10 percent. A change in the described weighting between the baseline scenario, the “global eco-

nomic crisis” scenario and the “expansive inflation” scenario of 10 percentage points in favour or 

at the expense of any of the other of these scenarios, with the assumptions of the third scenario 

remaining constant, would have the following effects (in EUR million): 



 

BayernLB - Group Half-Yearly Financial Report 2021 99 

                       (10)% 
+10% Baseline scenario Global economic crisis Expansive inflation 

Baseline scenario   (49.6) (2.8) 

Global economic crisis 49.6   46.9 

Expansive inflation 2.8 (46.9)   

 

For example, an increase in the weighting of the baseline scenario of 10 percentage points, with 

a simultaneous reduction in the “global economic crisis” scenario of 10 percentage points and 

no change in the “expansive inflation” scenario would result in a post model adjustment of 

EUR -49.6 million.  

In the consolidated financial statements for 2020, a change between the baseline scenario and 

the “global economic crisis” scenario of 10 percentage points in favour or at the expense of the 

other respective scenarios would have had an effect of EUR -52.8 million or EUR +52.8 million, 

respectively. 

 

(20) Assets held for trading 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities 1,142 1,351 

Equities and other non-fixed income securities 298 330 

Loans and advances 676 1,375 

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments  
(not hedge accounting) 7,399 9,054 

Total 9,516 12,110 

(21) Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Positive fair values from micro fair value hedges 487 669 

Positive fair values from portfolio fair value hedges – 1 

Positive fair values from group fair value hedges 96 206 

Total 583 876 
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(22) Financial investments 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities 19,467 21,021 

Equities and other non-fixed income securities 399 345 

Equity interests 527 490 

Other financial investments 24 25 

Total 20,417 21,881 

For the presentation of the loss allowances for financial investments in the “financial assets man-

datorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” category refer to note 37.  

As at the reporting date, the gross carrying amount of the financial investments in the financial 

assets measured at amortised cost was EUR 12 million (31 December 2020: EUR 75 million). This 

amount related exclusively to Stage 1. 

(23) Investment property 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Leased property 29 28 

Total 29 28 

(24) Property, plant and equipment 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Property 289 293 

Furniture and office equipment 43 46 

Right-of-use assets from leases 137 150 

Total 469 489 

(25) Intangible assets 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Internally generated intangible assets 70 66 

Other intangible assets 77 79 

Total 147 144 

(26) Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loans and advances to customers 138 – 

Assets held for trading – 26 

Total 138 26 

As part of the strategic reorientation of its business model (“FOKUS 24” transformation pro-

gramme), BayernLB decided in December 2019 that its corporate financing activities should focus 

on the five high-growth industries: energy, mobility, technology, manufacturing & engineering, 

and construction & basic resources. With an eye to existing customer relationships outside of 

these defined focus sectors, it drew up a profitability-enhancing strategy in financial year 2020. 
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Among the steps it will take will be to wind down unprofitable customer relationships by allow-

ing exposures to expire and in particular through active portfolio management, i.e. selling off 

individual receivables. As at the reporting date, the criteria for classification as a non-current as-

set held for sale under IFRS 5 were met for loans and advances to customers with a remaining 

term of more than 12 months in the hold to collect business model, for which the respective 

sales process has already been initiated. 

In addition, as at the reporting date certain non-current receivables in the hold to collect busi-

ness model from the defined focus sectors met the criteria for classification as non-current assets 

held for sale under IFRS 5, for which the respective sales process has been initiated (see the com-

ments on the related liabilities and off-balance sheet transactions in note 34). 

As permitted under the exemption provided for under IFRS 5.5 (c), customer receivables assigned 

to the Corporates & Markets segment are measured at amortised cost in accordance with the 

rules of IFRS 9 (see the comments on financial assets in the “financial assets measured at amor-

tised cost” category in the consolidated financial statements for 2020 (note 6). As at the report-

ing date, the gross carrying amount was EUR 138 million (31 December 2020: EUR 0 million) and 

related exclusively to Stage 1. 

The interest rate and commodities derivatives portfolios held for sale as at 31 December 2020 

were transferred in the first half of 2021.  

(27) Other assets 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Emissions certificates 2,102 1,254 

Precious metals 386 364 

Claims from reinsurance 230 229 

Other assets 632 265 

Total 3,350 2,113 

(28) Liabilities to banks 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Liabilities to domestic banks 87,502 72,973 

Liabilities to foreign banks 4,974 3,022 

Total 92,476 75,995 
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Liabilities to banks by product 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Schuldschein note loans/issues 5,223 5,317 

Schuldschein note loans 2,372 2,431 

Registered public Pfandbriefs issued 776 860 

Mortgage Pfandbriefs issued 396 416 

Other registered securities 1,679 1,609 

Book-entry liabilities 87,252 70,678 

On-lending business/subsidised loans 35,505 34,722 

Overnight and time deposits 44,450 29,785 

Current account liabilities 5,718 5,016 

Securities repurchase transactions 1,084 463 

Other liabilities 496 692 

Total 92,476 75,995 

Liabilities to banks included funding measured at amortised cost with a carrying amount of 

EUR 38,181 million (31 December 2020: EUR 26,929 million), which arose from the Bank’s partici-

pation in the third series of the Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (TLTRO III). These 

are reported in the balance sheet pursuant to IFRS 9. The interest rate in the TLTRO III is a market 

rate as the funding rates offered by the ECB correspond to the specific market rates to be used 

for the ECB’s monetary transactions. The interest rate for this funding depends in part on net 

lending of eligible loans increasing. Due to the BayernLB Group's current very good business per-

formance and following the meeting of the condition for the first interest rate reduction for the 

period from 24 June 2020 to 23 June 2021 in March of this year, it is now expected that the con-

ditions for the second interest rate reduction for the period from 24 June 2021 to 23 June 2022 

will also be met. This does not apply to the funding of EUR 13 billion which must be repaid by 

the end of the relevant special second interest-rate period. The net interest income from the 

TLTRO III programme, from the reassessed cash flows, and from the reinvested funds totalled 

EUR 164 million for the BayernLB Group in the reporting period (30 June 2020: EUR 0 million). 

(29) Liabilities to customers 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Liabilities to domestic customers 108,803 101,684 

Liabilities to foreign customers 9,387 8,095 

Total 118,190 109,779 
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Liabilities to customers by product 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Schuldschein note loans/issues 17,194 17,728 

Schuldschein note loans 910 970 

Registered public Pfandbriefs issued 7,738 8,069 

Mortgage Pfandbriefs issued 2,162 2,183 

Other registered securities 6,385 6,505 

Book-entry liabilities 100,996 92,051 

Overnight and time deposits 39,851 39,427 

Current account liabilities 60,189 52,009 

Securities repurchase transactions 187 – 

Other liabilities 769 614 

Total 118,190 109,779 

(30) Securitised liabilities 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Bonds and notes issued 39,626 39,402 

Mortgage Pfandbriefs 5,553 5,615 

Public Pfandbriefs 11,836 12,148 

Other bonds and notes 22,237 21,638 

Other securitised liabilities 6,356 3,635 

Total 45,981 43,037 

The reporting period saw bonds and notes (including money market securities) to the value of 

EUR 59,149 million issued and EUR 49,401 million repaid. Repurchases amounted to 

EUR 1,858 million. 

(31) Liabilities held for trading 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Liabilities 1,002 1,022 

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (not hedge 
accounting) 6,959 8,352 

Total 7,961 9,374 

 

(32) Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Negative fair values from micro fair value hedges 928 1,135 

Negative fair values from portfolio fair value hedges 11 10 

Negative fair values from group fair value hedges 78 33 

Total 1,017 1,178 
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(33) Provisions 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 962 1,968 

Other provisions 940 927 

Provisions for off-balance-sheet transactions 128 141 

Loss allowances for financial guarantees/credit commitments as per 
IFRS 9 103 113 

Provisions for other contingent liabilities/other commitments 25 28 

Restructuring provisions 557 586 

Miscellaneous provisions 256 199 

Total 1,902 2,895 

The loss allowances for financial guarantees and for revocable and irrevocable credit commit-

ments to which the impairment rules under IFRS 9 apply comprise (for the breakdown of the loss 

allowances see note 19): 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loss allowances – Stage 1 24 26 

Loss allowances – Stage 2 55 56 

Loss allowances – Stage 3 22 30 

Loss allowances – POCI 2 1 

Total 103 113 

Changes in loss allowances 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

As at 1 Jan 26 28 56 15 30 64 1 5 113 113 

Currency-related changes – – 1 – – – – – 1 – 

Changes in the expected 
credit loss due to changes 
in the risk parameters (5) 6 5 25 (5) (1) – (1) (5) 29 

Additions due to lending 10 12 23 9 4 12 2 – 39 33 

Releases due to disposals (9) (11) (27) (18) (3) (11) (2) (1) (41) (41) 

Unwinding – – – – – (1) – – – (1) 

Reclassifications to Stage 1 
from Stage 2 3 1 (3) (1) – – – – – – 

Reclassifications to Stage 2 
from Stage 1 (1) (6) 1 6 – – – – – – 

Reclassifications to Stage 3 
from Stage 2 – – (1) – 1 – – – – – 

Transfers/other changes – – – – (4) (21) – – (4) (21) 

As at 30 Jun 24 31 55 35 22 44 2 3 103 113 

The exposure to financial guarantees and revocable and irrevocable credit commitments stood at 

EUR 58,728 million as at the reporting date (31 December 2020: EUR 58,836 million) and com-

prised: 
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EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Financial guarantees/credit commitments – Stage 1 50,813 50,134 

Financial guarantees/credit commitments – Stage 2 7,673 8,419 

Financial guarantees/credit commitments – Stage 3 238 270 

Financial guarantees/credit commitments – POCI 4 13 

Total 58,728 58,836 

Refer to note 19 for details about the post model adjustment shown as at 30 June 2021. 

(34) Liabilities of disposal groups 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Liabilities to banks 28 – 

Liabilities held for trading – 6 

Total 28 6 

Liabilities to banks relate to pass-through business and subsidised loans in connection with the 

customer receivables classified under IFRS 5 as at the reporting date (see the comments in 

note 26). As permitted under the exemption provided for under IFRS 5.5 (c), liabilities assigned to 

the Corporates & Markets segment are measured at amortised cost in accordance with the rules 

of IFRS 9 (see the comments on financial liabilities in the “financial liabilities measured at amor-

tised cost” category in the consolidated financial statements for 2020 (note 6). 

In addition, as at the reporting date the Group had off-balance sheet transactions in connection 

with customer receivables classified under IFRS 5 with an exposure of EUR 4 million (31 Decem-

ber 2020: EUR 0 million). This amount related exclusively to irrevocable credit commitments in 

Stage 1. 

(35) Other liabilities 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Accruals 279 284 

Lease liability from right-of-use assets 139 152 

Non-controlling interests (debt instruments) 103 68 

Other liabilities 88 80 

Total 609 584 

(36) Subordinated capital 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Subordinated liabilities 2,191 1,654 

Profit participation certificates (debt component) 30 30 

Dated silent partner contributions (debt component) 1 1 

Total 2,222 1,685 
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(37) Equity 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Equity excluding non-controlling interests 11,947 11,559 

Subscribed capital 3,412 3,412 

Statutory nominal capital 2,800 2,800 

Capital contribution 612 612 

Capital surplus 2,182 2,182 

Retained earnings 5,989 5,719 

Statutory reserve 1,268 1,268 

Other retained earnings 4,722 4,452 

Revaluation surplus 114 165 

Foreign currency translation reserve 2 5 

Consolidated profit/loss 248 75 

Non-controlling interests 17 18 

Total 11,963 11,576 

Revaluation surplus 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Gains or losses on fair value measurement of financial assets in the “financial 
assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income” category 155 206 

Loss allowances for financial assets in the “financial assets mandatorily 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” category 4 6 

Rating-related changes in the fair value of financial liabilities from the “fair 
value option” category recognised through other comprehensive income 19 35 

Changes in the fair value of currency swaps from currency basis spread 
fluctuations recognised through other comprehensive income (17) (12) 

Deferred taxes recognised through other comprehensive income (47) (70) 

Total 114 165 

The loss allowances for financial assets in the “financial assets mandatorily measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income” category comprised (for the breakdown of the loss 

allowances see note 19): 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loss allowances – Stage 1 2 3 

Loss allowances – Stage 2 1 3 

Loss allowances – POCI 1 1 

Total 4 6 
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Changes in loss allowances – Stage 1 

  Financial investments 

EUR million 2021 2020 

As at 1 Jan 3 2 

Changes in the expected credit loss due to changes in the risk parameters (1) 2 

Reclassifications to Stage 1 from Stage 2 1 – 

As at 30 Jun 2 4 

Changes in loss allowances – Stage 2 

  Financial investments 

EUR million 2021 2020 

As at 1 Jan 3 – 

Changes in the expected credit loss due to changes in the risk parameters (1) 1 

Reclassifications from Stage 2 to Stage 1 (1) 1 

As at 30 Jun 1 1 

Loss allowances for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (POCI) remained un-

changed at EUR 1 million as at the reporting date (31 December 2020: EUR 1 million) and all of 

them related to loans and advances to customers. 

The gross carrying amount of financial assets in the “financial assets mandatorily measured at 

fair value through other comprehensive income” category was EUR 19,111 million (31 Decem-

ber 2020: EUR 20,253 million) as at the reporting date and comprised: 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Financial assets – Stage 1 18,501 18,669 

Financial investments 18,501 18,669 

Financial assets – Stage 2 610 1,583 

Financial investments 610 1,583 

Financial assets – POCI 1 1 

Loans and advances to customers 1 1 

Total 19,111 20,253 
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Notes to financial instruments 

(38) Fair value of financial instruments1 

  Fair value 
Carrying 
amount Fair value 

Carrying 
amount 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2020 

Assets         

Cash reserves 33,915 33,915 9,342 9,342 

Loans and advances to banks2 58,939 59,069 56,114 56,177 

Loans and advances to customers2 158,553 154,730 157,339 152,376 

Assets held for trading 9,516 9,516 12,110 12,110 

Positive fair values from derivative financial 
instruments (hedge accounting) 583 583 876 876 

Financial investments 20,417 20,417 21,881 21,881 

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified 
as held for sale 146 138 26 26 

Liabilities         

Liabilities to banks 93,588 92,476 77,477 75,995 

Liabilities to customers 119,940 118,190 112,170 109,779 

Securitised liabilities 46,576 45,981 43,886 43,037 

Liabilities held for trading 7,961 7,961 9,374 9,374 

Negative fair values from derivative financial 
instruments (hedge accounting) 1,017 1,017 1,178 1,178 

Liabilities of disposal groups 28 28 6 6 

Other liabilities 103 103 68 68 

Subordinated capital 2,341 2,222 1,748 1,685 

1 The carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value for current financial instruments in other assets and liabilities. It is therefore 

not disclosed pursuant to IFRS 7.29 (a). In addition, the fair value of leasing liabilities included in other liabilities is not disclosed pursuant to IFRS 

7.29 (d). 

2 Carrying amount not including deductions of loss allowances for loans and advances to banks of EUR 10 million (31 December 2020: EUR 12 mil-

lion) and loans and advances to customers of EUR 1,029 million (31 December 2020: EUR 1,073 million) in the “financial assets measured at 

amortised cost” category. 
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(39) Financial instrument measurement categories 

EUR million 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 

Assets     

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 10,698 13,239 

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 10,598 13,133 

Loans and advances to customers 125 126 

Assets held for trading 9,516 12,110 

Financial investments 958 869 

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale – 26 

Fair value option 100 106 

Financial investments 100 106 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 247,804 217,843 

Cash reserves 33,915 9,342 

Loans and advances to banks1 59,069 56,177 

Loans and advances to customers1 154,604 152,249 

Financial investments 12 75 

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale 138 – 

Other assets2 66 64 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 19,348 20,831 

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 19,348 20,831 

Loans and advances to customers 1 1 

Financial investments 19,347 20,830 

Derivative financial instruments in hedges (hedge accounting) 583 876 

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) 583 876 

Liabilities     

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 14,989 17,058 

Held-for-trading financial liabilities 7,961 9,380 

Liabilities held for trading 7,961 9,374 

Liabilities of disposal groups – 6 

Fair value option 7,028 7,678 

Liabilities to banks 248 346 

Liabilities to customers 3,655 3,864 

Securitised liabilities 3,023 3,400 

Other liabilities 103 68 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 252,003 222,886 

Liabilities to banks 92,228 75,650 

Liabilities to customers 114,535 105,915 

Securitised liabilities 42,959 39,636 

Liabilities of disposal groups 28 – 

Other liabilities2 31 – 

Subordinated capital 2,222 1,685 

Derivative financial instruments in hedges (hedge accounting) 1,017 1,178 

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) 1,017 1,178 

Lease liabilities 139 152 

1 Not including deductions of loss allowances. 

2 From the first half of 2021, the financial instruments included in other assets and other liabilities and measured at amortised cost are disclosed. 

The previous year’s figures were restated accordingly. 
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In addition, as at the reporting date there was a portfolio hedge adjustment asset of 

EUR 541 million (31 December 2020: EUR 1,014 million) for hedged items for which fair value 

hedge accounting in the form of portfolio hedges was used. This is assigned to the “financial as-

sets measured at amortised cost” category. 

 

(40) Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received for the sale of an asset 

or paid for the transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date. Market participants are knowledgeable, willing partners that are independ-

ent of each other and able to enter into a transaction for the asset or liability. The relevant mar-

ket for measuring fair value is the most active market that the BayernLB Group has access to 

(principal market). If no principal market exists, the most advantageous market is used. 

Fair value is calculated where possible by reference to a quoted (unadjusted) price on an active 

market for an identical financial instrument. A market is considered active for a financial instru-

ment if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to 

provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. This means that pricing is regular, bid-ask 

spreads are small and several price contributors exist with only slightly different prices. 

If no active market exists, fair value is calculated using a range of measurement methods includ-

ing measurement models based on discounted cash flow methods and indicative valuation 

prices. The objective is to estimate the price at which an orderly transaction to sell the asset or 

transfer the liability would take place between market participants at the measurement date un-

der current market conditions. The valuation techniques applied maximise the use of relevant 

observable inputs and minimise the use of non-observable inputs.  

For a detailed description of the measurement models, see note 6 of the 2020 consolidated an-

nual statements. 

The fair value hierarchy divides the inputs used to measure the fair value of financial instruments 

into three levels: 

• Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices for identical financial instruments in active markets that the 

BayernLB Group can access at the measurement date 

• Level 2: Inputs not included within Level 1 that are observable either directly or indirectly, i.e. 

quoted prices for similar financial instruments in active markets, quoted prices in markets that 

are not active, other observable inputs that are not quoted prices, and market-corroborated 

inputs. 

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs 
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Financial instruments measured at fair value 

Financial instruments measured at fair value by level 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

EUR million 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 

Assets                 

Loans and advances to 
customers – – – – 126 127 126 127 

Assets held for trading 724 720 8,682 11,282 111 109 9,516 12,110 

Positive fair values from 
derivative financial 
instruments (hedge 
accounting) – – 583 876 – – 583 876 

Financial investments 14,959 15,677 5,110 5,802 335 326 20,404 21,805 

Non-current assets or 
disposal groups 
classified as held for sale – – – 26 – – – 26 

Total 15,683 16,397 14,375 17,986 572 563 30,629 34,946 

Liabilities                 

Liabilities to banks – – 248 346 – – 248 346 

Liabilities to customers – – 3,655 3,864 – – 3,655 3,864 

Securitised liabilities – – 3,023 3,400 – – 3,023 3,400 

Liabilities held for 
trading 31 15 7,916 9,353 14 7 7,961 9,374 

Negative fair values from 
derivative financial 
instruments (hedge 
accounting) – – 1,017 1,178 – – 1,017 1,178 

Liabilities of disposal 
groups – – – 6 – – – 6 

Other liabilities – – 103 68 – – 103 68 

Total 31 15 15,961 18,214 14 7 16,007 18,236 
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Reclassifications between Level 1 and 2 

  Reclassifications 

  to Level 1 from Level 2 to Level 2 from Level 1 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Assets         

Assets held for trading 4 88 – 15 

Financial investments 1,479 952 1,159 1,099 

Total 1,483 1,041 1,159 1,114 

Liabilities         

Securitised liabilities – 10 – – 

Liabilities held for trading – 13 – – 

Total – 23 – – 

 

In the reporting period, financial instruments were reclassified between Level 1 and Level 2, as 

they will be measured again/are no longer measured using prices quoted on active markets. The 

reclassifications were mainly the result of changes in the bid-ask spreads and the number of 

available price contributors for bonds. The amounts reclassified were calculated on the basis of 

the fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

 

Fair values calculated on the basis of unobservable market data (Level 3) by risk type 

  

  Interest rate risks Currency risks 
Equity and other price 

risks Total 

EUR million 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2020 

Assets                 

Loans and 
advances to 
customers 126 127 – – – – 126 127 

Assets held for 
trading 98 94 13 15 – – 111 109 

Financial 
investments 24 25 – – 311 301 335 326 

Total 247 246 13 15 311 301 572 563 

Liabilities                 

Liabilities held 
for trading 3 1 11 6 – – 14 7 

Total 3 1 11 6 – – 14 7 
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Changes in fair values calculated on the basis of unobservable market data (Level 3) – assets 

  

Loans and 
advances to 
customers 

Assets held for 
trading 

Financial 
investments 

Non-current assets or 
disposal groups 

classified as held for 
sale Total 

EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

As at 1 Jan 127 191 109 159 326 300 – – 563 650 

Currency-related changes (2) 2 1 3 1 – – – 1 6 

Income and expenses recognised in 
the income statement – (1)1 (27) 20 (2) 8 – – (30) 27 

Purchases – 2 54 47 10 2 – – 64 51 

Sales – – (38) – – (4) – – (38) (4) 

Settlements – (65)1 – – – (3) – – – (67) 

Reclassifications to Level 3 from 
Levels 1 and 2 – – 2 54 – – – – 2 54 

Reclassifications from Level 3 to 
Levels 1 and 2 – – (15) (50) – – – – (15) (50) 

Transfers/other changes – – 25 39 – (2) – 2 25 39 

As at 30 Jun 126 129 111 273 335 301 – 2 572 705 

Income and expenses recognised in 
the income statement during the 
period for financial instruments held 
at 30 June – (1) (27) 54 (2) 6 – – (29) 58 

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2). 

Changes in fair values calculated on the basis of unobservable market data (Level 3) – liabilities 

  Liabilities held for trading Total 

EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020 

As at 1 Jan 7 4 7 41 

Currency-related changes 2 6 2 61 

Income and expenses recognised in the income 
statement 15 (23) 15 (23)1 

Reclassifications from Level 3 to Levels 1 and 2 (37) (8) (37) (8) 

Transfers/other changes 25 39 25 39 

As at 30 Jun 14 18 14 18 

Income and expenses recognised in the income 
statement during the period for financial 
instruments held at 30 June 16 (23) 16 (23)1 

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2). 

The income and expenses recognised in the income statement are shown under net interest in-

come, risk provisions, gains or losses on fair value measurement, gains or losses on hedge ac-

counting and gains or losses on financial investments. 

Non-observable inputs were assessed for materiality at the end of the reporting period based on 

their fair value. As a result, financial instruments were reclassified to Level 3 from Levels 1 and 2 

and from Level 3 to Levels 1 and 2, as counterparty and own default risk continued to have or no 

longer had a significant influence on the fair value measurement as at the reporting date. 

The models used to calculate fair value must conform with accepted financial valuation methods 

and take account of all factors market participants would consider reasonable when setting a 

price. Within the BayernLB Group, the models used, including any major changes, are reported 

to the Board of Management for approval mainly by Group Risk Control and Group Development 

in the form of a separate resolution or as part of their regular reporting. All calculated fair values 
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are subject to internal controls and are independently checked or validated by risk-control units 

and the units with responsibility for equity interests in accordance with the dual control princi-

ple. The procedures used for this are contained in the guidelines approved by the Board of Man-

agement for the BayernLB Group. Significant changes in fair values calculated on the basis of un-

observable market data (Level 3) are communicated to the respective division managers and 

Board of Management separately on the reporting dates. 

The fair values of credit transactions assigned to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are calculated 

on the basis of inputs that are not observable on the market. As at 30 June 2021, the sensitivity 

of these credit transactions to changes in key factors was: 

• for a ten-basis point increase (decrease) in the measurement spread:  

EUR -0.4 million (EUR +0.4 million) (31 December 2020: EUR -0.3 million (EUR +0.3 million)). 

Other derivative financial instruments whose significant inputs for measuring fair value are not 

observable on the market are also allocated to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. As at 30 June 

2021, the sensitivity of these financial instruments to changes in key factors was 

• for a ten-percentage point increase (decrease) in expected loss given default:  

EUR -2.3 million (EUR +2.3 million) (31 December 2020: EUR -2.4 million (EUR +2.4 million)) 

• for a one notch improvement (deterioration) in the ratings:  

EUR +0.4 million (EUR -0.7 million) (31 December 2020: EUR +0.5 million (EUR -0.7 million)) 

In addition receivables secured by real estate that were purchased on the non-performing loan 

market were allocated to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as there was no current market activ-

ity in these or similar loans and advances. As at 30 June 2021, the sensitivity of these real estate-

secured receivables to changes in key factors was: 

• for a 5-percentage point increase (decrease) in the realisable value:  

EUR +0.0 million (EUR -0.0 million) (31 December 2020: EUR +0.1 million (EUR -0.1 million)). 

The BayernLB Group holds various forms of preferred stock in Visa Inc., San Francisco as a result 

of a former equity interest in Visa Europe Limited, London. The fair value of the preferred stock is 

based on the price of the Visa Inc. common stock, conversion ratios and potential risks from le-

gal disputes, in respect of which a risk discount has been applied. As at 30 June 2021, the key 

sensitivity of this financial instrument to changes in key factors was: 

• for a 10-percentage point upward (downward) movement in the subscription ratio:  

EUR +5.9 million (EUR -5.9 million) (31 December 2020: EUR +5.3 million (EUR -5.3 million)) 

As at 30 June 2021, the sensitivity of equity interests whose fair value is calculated using the Ger-

man income method (Ertragswertverfahren) to changes in key factors was:  

• for a 25-basis point upward (downward) movement in the base interest rate:  

EUR -4.2 million (EUR +4.5 million) (31 December 2020: EUR -4.5 million (EUR +4.8 million)) 

• for a 25-basis point upward (downward) movement in the market risk premium:  

EUR -3.3 million (EUR +3.5 million) (31 December 2020: EUR -3.6 million (EUR +3.8 million)) 

The base interest rate used moved within a range of 0.05-0.55 percent (average: 0.3 percent) 

(31 December 2020: -0.45-0.05 percent (average: -0.2 percent)), while the underlying market risk 
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premium moved within a range of 7.75-8.25 percent (average: 8.0 percent) (31 December 2020: 

7.75-8.25 percent (average: 8.0 percent)). 

(41) Derivatives transactions 

The tables below show interest rate and foreign currency-related derivatives still open at the end 

of the reporting period and other forward transactions and credit derivatives. Most were con-

cluded to hedge fluctuations in interest rates, exchange rates or market prices or were trades for 

the account of customers.  

Supplementary disclosures 

(42) Revenue from contracts with customers 

EUR million 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2021 
1 Jan - 30 Jun 

2020 

Commission income 402 374 

Securities business 65 56 

Credit business 95 89 

Payments 28 19 

Documentary business 3 9 

Credit card business 75 104 

Fund business 109 83 

Trust transactions 8 8 

Other 19 6 

Commission expenses (172) (185) 

Securities business (37) (36) 

Broker fees (3) – 

Credit business (5) (4) 

Payments (24) (29) 

Documentary business – (4) 

Credit card business (54) (78) 

Fund business (47) (31) 

Other (1) (2) 

Total 230 188 

 

  Nominal value Positive fair value Negative fair value 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Interest rate risks 458,604 495,663 13,963 20,140 14,108 20,791 

Currency risks 100,257 104,890 1,437 1,920 1,419 1,730 

Equity and other 
price risks 5,020 6,087 483 188 712 349 

Credit derivative 
risks 410 310 1 3 8 6 

Total 564,291 606,950 15,884 22,252 16,248 22,876 

of which:  
Derivatives for 
trading purposes 423,995 449,718 10,801 16,056 10,692 16,070 
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In the reporting period, revenue from contracts with customers of EUR 9 million (30 June 2020: 

EUR 4 million) for various services, in particular IT and financial services, was recognised in other 

income and expenses.  

The segment report (see note 4) shows net commission income and other income and expenses 

for each business segment of the BayernLB Group. This is presented in each case as a net figure 

consisting of commission income, commission expenses, other income and other expenses, and 

includes the revenue recognised from contracts with customers in accordance with IFRS 15. 

(43) Trust transactions 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Assets held in trust 5,648 5,552 

Loans and advances to banks 395 304 

Loans and advances to customers 5,253 5,248 

Liabilities held in trust 5,648 5,552 

Liabilities to banks 412 315 

Liabilities to customers 5,237 5,237 

(44) Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and other commitments 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Contingent liabilities 11,125 11,373 

Liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements 11,124 11,3731 

Other contingent liabilities 1 1 

Other commitments 29,141 28,945 

Irrevocable credit commitments 29,141 28,9451 

Total 40,266 40,319 

 1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2). 

 

As at the reporting date, there were contingent assets from loan commitments received in the 

double-digit million range.
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(45) Administrative bodies of BayernLB 

Supervisory Board 

Dr Wolf Schumacher 

Chairman of the BayernLB Supervisory Board 

Munich 

 

Walter Strohmaier 

Deputy Chairman of the BayernLB Supervisory 

Board 

CEO 

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte 

Straubing 

 

Jan-Christian Dreesen 

Deputy Chairman of the Executive Board 

FC Bayern München AG 

Munich 

 

Dr Roland Fleck 

Managing Director 

NürnbergMesse GmbH 

Nuremberg 

 

Dr Ute Geipel-Faber 

Independent management consultant 

Munich 

 

Dr Kurt Gribl 

Former Lord Mayor 

Augsburg 

 

Harald Hübner 

Deputy Secretary 

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance 

and Regional Identity 

Munich 

 

Dr Thomas Langer 

Under Secretary 

Bavarian State Ministry of Economic Affairs, 

Regional Development and Energy  

Munich 

 

Dr Jörg Schneider 

Lawyer 

Munich 

 

Judith Steiner 

Under Secretary 

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance 

and Regional Identity 

Munich 

 

Christian Wiglinghaus 

Chairman of the General Staff Council 

BayernLB 

Munich 
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Board of Management (including allocation of responsibilities as from 1 May 2021) 

 
Stephan Winkelmeier 

CEO  

Corporate Center 

Group Treasury 

Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft 

 

Marcus Kramer 

CRO 

Risk Office 

 

Dr Markus Wiegelmann 

CFO/COO 

Financial Office 

Operating Office 

 

Gero Bergmann 

since 1 April 2021 

Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institu-

tions 

Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt1 

Real I.S. AG Gesellschaft für Immobilien 

Assetmanagement 

BayernInvest Kapitalverwaltungs- 

gesellschaft mbH 

Johannes Anschott 

since 1 April 2021 

Corporates & Markets 

 

Dr Edgar Zoller 

until 30 April 2021 

Deputy Chairman until 30 April 2021 

 

Michael Bücker 

until 31 March 2021 

 

  

 
1 Dependent institution of the Bank. 
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(46) Related party disclosure 

The BayernLB Group maintains business relationships with related parties. These include the Free 

State of Bavaria and the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks, Munich (SVB), whose indirect 

stakes in BayernLB are 75 percent and 25 percent respectively, subsidiaries, joint ventures, associ-

ates, Versorgungskasse I BayernLB Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Munich and Ver-

sorgungskasse II BayernLB Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Munich and BayernLB Treu-

hand e.V., Munich. The members of BayernLB’s Board of Management and Supervisory Board 

and their close family members, and companies controlled by these parties or jointly controlled 

if these parties are members of their management bodies are also deemed related parties. 

Relationships with the Free State of Bavaria 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Receivables 2,292 2,822 

Assets held for trading 15 41 

Financial investments 177 179 

Liabilities 518 517 

Securitised liabilities 16 15 

Liabilities held for trading 14 8 

Liabilities held in trust 5,028 5,018 

Contingent liabilities 5 5 

Other commitments 1,066 1,066 

The following were material relationships with companies controlled by the Free State of Ba-

varia, or which it jointly controls or has significant influence over: 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loans and advances to customers 538 535 

Assets held for trading 21 66 

Liabilities to banks 3,775 3,687 

Liabilities to customers 115 125 

Securitised liabilities 93 103 

Assets held in trust 455 444 

Contingent liabilities 9 8 

Other commitments 214 128 

 

Relationships with the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Liabilities 49 30 

Other liabilities 3 7 
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Relationships with investees 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Loans and advances to customers 108 107 

Risk provisions 13 12 

Financial investments 60 76 

Other assets 2 5 

Liabilities to customers 138 151 

Provisions 1 4 

Other liabilities 1 1 

Contingent liabilities 4 4 

Other commitments 4 4 

An expense of EUR 1 million (30 June 2020: EUR 2 million) was recognised for non-recoverable or 

doubtful receivables in the reporting period. 

In the reporting period, no capital contributions were made to unconsolidated entities, joint ven-

tures or associates (31 December 2020: EUR 2 million), nor was any capital repaid to these inves-

tees (31 December 2020: EUR 3 million). 

Relationships with other related parties 

EUR million 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2020 

Liabilities to customers 1,671 1,230 

There were liabilities to benefit plans. 

The contribution to the plan assets of BayernLB Treuhandverein e. V., Munich stood at 

EUR 740 million in the reporting period. This was recognised through other comprehensive in-

come as a reduction in pension provisions. 

(47) Events after the reporting period 

The following events of significance to the BayernLB Group occurred after 30 June 2021: 

BayernLB recently issued a letter of comfort in its annual report for 2020 in which it accepted lia-

bility for ensuring Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin (DKB) is able to fulfil its con-

tractual obligations in proportion to the size of its equity interest except in cases of political risk. 

BayernLB hereby revokes and cancels this letter of comfort overall, with effect from the end of 

30 November 2021. With immediate effect, BayernLB revokes the letter of comfort for DKB’s 

creditors, where there was not yet any contractual relationship with DKB up to the end of 19 Au-

gust 2021. From 20 August 2021, new customers of DKB cannot utilise the existing letter of com-

fort. Accordingly, BayernLB also hereby revokes and cancels all letters of comfort in favour of 

DKB that were published in the past in its annual reports or communicated through different 

channels. 

It also intends to end the control and profit and loss transfer agreement between BayernLB and 

DKB at the next possible date in 2021. In respect of current income taxes, the BayernLB Group is 

forecasting it will need to pay an additional amount in the lower double-digit millions. The im-

pact on the deferred taxes cannot be reliably estimated at present.   
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To the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles for half-

yearly financial reporting and generally accepted accounting standards, the consolidated half-

yearly financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial performance and financial 

position of the Group, and the Group interim management report includes a fair review of the 

development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a 

description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of 

the Group in the remainder of the financial year. 

Munich, 16 August 2021 

Bayerische Landesbank 

The Board of Management 

   
   
   
   

Stephan Winkelmeier Marcus Kramer Dr Markus Wiegelmann 

   

   

Gero Bergmann Johannes Anschott 

 

 

 

 

Responsibility statement by the Board of 
Management 
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To Bayerische Landesbank, Munich 

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated half-year financial statements – comprising the 

condensed statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement of 

changes in equity, condensed statement of cash flows, and selected explanatory notes – and the 

interim group management report of Bayerische Landesbank, Munich, for the period from 1 Jan-

uary 2021 to 30 June 2021 which are part of the half-year financial report pursuant to § (Article) 

115 WpHG (“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”: German Securities Trading Act). The preparation of the 

condensed consolidated interim financial statements in accordance with the IFRS applicable to 

interim financial reporting as adopted by the EU and of the interim group management report in 

accordance with the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act applicable to interim group 

management reports is the responsibility of the parent Company's Board of Managing Directors. 

Our responsibility is to issue a review report on the condensed consolidated interim financial 

statements and on the interim group management report based on our review. 

We conducted our review of the condensed consolidated half-year financial statements and the 

interim group management report in accordance with German generally accepted standards for 

the review of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of 

Public Auditors in Germany) (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the review 

so that we can preclude through critical evaluation, with moderate assurance, that the con-

densed consolidated interim financial statements have not been prepared, in all material re-

spects, in accordance with the IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as adopted by the EU 

and that the interim group management report has not been prepared, in all material respects, 

in accordance with the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act applicable to interim 

group management reports. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and 

analytical procedures and therefore does not provide the assurance attainable in a financial 

statement audit. Since, in accordance with our engagement, we have not performed a financial 

statement audit, we cannot express an audit opinion. 

Based on our review, no matters have come to our attention that cause us to presume that the 

condensed consolidated interim financial statements have not been prepared, in all material re-

spects, in accordance with the IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as adopted by the EU 

nor that the interim group management report has not been prepared, in all material respects, in 

accordance with the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act applicable to interim group 

management reports. 

 

Munich, 16 August 2021  

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH  

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

 

Sven Hauke    Anne Witt  
Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüferin 
(German Public Auditor) German Public Auditor) 

 

Review Report 
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Financial measures not calculated in accordance with IFRS 

For its entire financial reporting and other documents it publishes, the BayernLB Group uses fi-

nancial measures not calculated in accordance with accounting standards under IFRS. These 

measures indicate historical or future financial performance, financial position and cash flows 

derived from the financial statements or internal management information prepared in accord-

ance with the relevant accounting framework and then adjusted. 

They should be seen as a supplement to and not a replacement of the figures calculated in ac-

cordance with IFRS. Readers of the financial reports and other documents containing these 

measures should be aware that similarly named financial measures published by other compa-

nies may have been calculated differently. 

The BayernLB Group uses the following financial measures not calculated in accordance with 

IFRS: 

• Return on equity (RoE) 

• Cost/income ratio (CIR) 

The RoE and CIR are important financial performance indicators. They provide information about 

profitability and are used by BayernLB to manage it. 

Return on equity (RoE) 

The RoE shown is calculated on the basis of internal management information from the ratio of 

profit before taxes to the average regulatory capital (Group)/the average allocated economic 

capital (at segment level). At Group level, the average Common Equity Tier 1/CET1 capital availa-

ble over the financial year has been used for this purpose. For all management levels below this, 

the average economic capital employed in the financial year is derived from the average risk-

weighted assets (RWAs) of the underlying individual transactions as specified by the regulatory 

authorities. The allocated amount corresponds to 14.0 percent (30 June 2020: 14.0 percent) of 

the average risk-weighted assets specified by the regulatory authorities arising from the individ-

ual transactions entered into by the respective segment in the reporting period concerned. Eco-

nomic capital is reconciled to regulatory capital in the column headed Consolidation.  

  

Supplementary information 
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RoE reconciliation calculation (as at 30 June 2021) 

EUR million 

Real Estate & Savings 
Banks/Financial 

Institutions 
Corporates & 

Markets DKB 

Central 
Areas & 
Others 

Consolid-
ation Group 

Profit/loss before taxes 155 97 273 (37) (4) 485 

Average risk-weighted assets 
(RWAs) 11,984 23,559 24,200 5,571 – 65,314 

Target CET1 ratio (%) 14.0 14.0 14.0 14.0 – – 

Average economic/regulatory 
capital 1,678 3,298 3,388 780 1,023 10,167 

Return on equity (RoE) (%) 18.5 5.9 16.1 -1 – 9.5 

1 The utility of key indicator RoE is very limited in the case of the Central Areas & Others sub-segment due to its specific characteristics. For this 

reason, the Bank will no longer report it from financial year 2021. The previous year's figure was adjusted accordingly. 

RoE reconciliation calculation (as at 30 June 2020) 

EUR million 

Real Estate & Savings 
Banks/Financial 

Institutions 
Corporates & 

Markets DKB 

Central 
Areas & 
Others 

Consolid-
ation Group 

Profit/loss before taxes 1171 (5)1 115 (82)1 12 158 

Average risk-weighted assets (RWAs) 12,151 24,356 25,109 5,320 – 66,936 

Target CET1 ratio (%) 14.0 14.0 14.0 14.0 – – 

Average economic/regulatory 
capital 1,701 3,410 3,515 745 592 9,963 

Return on equity (RoE) (%) 13.71 (0.3)1 6.6 – – 3.2 

1 Adjusted as per IFRS 8.29. 
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Cost/income ratio (CIR) 

The CIR is the ratio of administrative expenses and gross profit comprising net interest income, 

net commission income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, gains or losses on hedge ac-

counting, gains or losses on derecognised financial assets, gains or losses on financial invest-

ments and other income and expenses. The CIR is calculated using the figures reported in the re-

spective consolidated financial statements. 

CIR reconciliation calculation (as at 30 June 2021) 

EUR million 

Real Estate & 
Savings 

Banks/Financial 
Institutions 

Corporates & 
Markets DKB 

Central Areas 
& Others Consolidation Group 

Administrative expenses (200) (144) (342) (70) 1 (754) 

Net interest income 173 163 566 96 8 1,006 

Net commission income 135 43 25 (14) – 189 

Gains or losses on fair value 
measurement 37 35 28 57 (12) 145 

Gains or losses on hedge 
accounting – – 3 (6) – (3) 

Gains or losses on 
derecognised 
financial assets – 1 4 – – 5 

Gains or losses on financial 
investments – – 7 – – 7 

Other income and expenses 6 – 2 6 (1) 14 

Gross earnings 351 242 636 140 (5) 1,363 

Cost/income ratio (CIR) (%) 56.9 59.5 53.7 -1 – 55.3 

1 The utility of key indicator CIR is very limited in the case of the Central Areas & Others sub-segment due to its specific characteristics. For this 

reason, the Bank will no longer report it from financial year 2021. The previous year's figure was adjusted accordingly. 

CIR reconciliation calculation (as at 30 June 2020) 

EUR million 

Real Estate & 
Savings 

Banks/Financial 
Institutions 

Corporates & 
Markets DKB 

Central Areas & 
Others Consolidation Group 

Administrative expenses (199) (167) (332) (69) 2 (764) 

Net interest income 
1601 

 1481 476 781 11 873 

Net commission income 118 40 9 (14) – 154 

Gains or losses on fair value 
measurement 42 38 (12) (18) 1 51 

Gains or losses on hedge 
accounting – 1 (5) (6) – (9) 

Gains or losses on 
derecognised 
financial assets – 1 (2) – – (1) 

Gains or losses on financial 
investments 1 – 13 18 – 31 

Other income and expenses 4 – 3 34 (2) 38 

Gross earnings 3261 271 483 21 10 1,138 

Cost/income ratio (CIR) (%) 61.21 73.31 68.7 – – 67.2 

1 Adjusted as per IFRS 8.29.  

  

 

 

  



 

BayernLB - Group Half-Yearly Financial Report 2021 126 

Editorial Information 

 
Publisher 
Bayerische Landesbank 
Institution established under public law 
Brienner Strasse 18 
D-80333 Munich, Germany 
Tel. +49 89 2171-01 
info@bayernlb.de 
www.bayernlb.com 
 
Layout and printing 
Produced in-house with firesys 
 
The Annual Report is also available 
in German 
 

The translation of the half-yearly financial statements, comprising the balance sheet, the in-
come statement and the notes to the financial statements, together with the management 
report and the report by the Supervisory Board of Bayerische Landesbank as well as the Re-
view Report is for convenience only; the German versions prevail. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

Bayerische Landesbank 

Brienner Strasse 18 

80333 Munich, Germany 

bayernlb.de 

08
/2

02
1 

fi
re

sy
s 

p
d

f 


	Contents
	Group interim management report   5
	BayernLB Group – the first half of 2021 at a glance  3
	Consolidated half-yearly financial statements  68
	BayernLB Group –  the first half of 2021 at a glance
	Income statement (IFRS)
	Quarterly comparison
	Balance sheet (IFRS)
	Banking supervisory capital and ratios under CRR/CRD IV
	Employees
	Current ratings

	Foundations of the BayernLB Group
	Group structure
	Group management and controls
	Changes in the scope of consolidation and the investment portfolio

	Report on the economic position
	Macroeconomic and sector-specific environment
	Global environment much brighter
	Economic recovery and higher inflation after lockdown in Germany ends
	ECB holds course while Fed begins talking about tapering
	Sovereign bond yields rose from low levels while equities bounced ahead
	Banking sector turns in good performance thanks to support measures

	Regulatory environment
	Course of business  – the main developments and geopolitical events in the first half of 2021
	The BayernLB Group’s results of operations

	Report on the BayernLB Group’s net assets, financial position and results of operations
	Main changes to the BayernLB Group’s results of operations
	Net interest income
	Risk provisions
	Net commission income
	Gains or losses on fair value measurement
	Gains or losses on derecognised financial assets
	Gains or losses on financial investments
	Administrative expenses
	Expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme
	Income taxes

	Segments
	All segments posted pleasing results
	Corporates & Markets segment
	DKB segment
	Central Areas & Others segment

	Main changes to the BayernLB Group’s net assets
	Assets
	Cash reserves and loans and advances to banks
	Loans and advances to customers
	Risk provisions
	Portfolio hedge adjustment
	Assets held for trading
	Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale
	Liabilities
	Liabilities to banks
	Liabilities to customers
	Securitised liabilities
	Liabilities held for trading
	Provisions
	Liabilities of disposal groups
	Subordinated capital
	Equity

	Main changes to the BayernLB Group’s financial position
	Liquidity
	Ratings



	Risk report
	Principles
	Key developments in the first half of 2021
	Internal risk management system
	Risk-oriented management
	Regulatory capital adequacy (solvency)
	Economic capital adequacy (risk-bearing capacity)
	Current situation

	Stress testing

	Management of the specific risk types in the BayernLB Group
	Credit risk
	Current situation
	Breakdown by rating
	Renegotiated credits
	Current situation
	Breakdown by region
	Issuer risk
	Replacement risk
	Breakdown by size category
	Countries/Public-Sector/Non-Profit Organisations sub-portfolio
	Corporates sub-portfolio
	Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio
	Financial Institutions sub-portfolio
	Retail/Other sub-portfolio

	Summary
	Risk associated with equity interests
	Summary
	Business and strategic risk
	Summary
	Market risk
	Current situation

	Summary
	Pension basis risk
	Summary
	Liquidity risk
	Current situation

	Summary
	Reporting of products as defined in section 46f paras 5, 6 and 7 KWG
	Operational risk
	Current situation

	Summary


	Risk report summary

	Report on expected developments and opportunities
	Macroeconomic forecast
	Forecast horizon marked by recovery in industrialised countries. Real estate robust despite uncertainty
	Inflation temporarily higher, while Fed scales back bond purchases
	Rise in yields likely to continue, while stock markets lose some of their steam
	Dollar to weaken

	Banking sector must focus on clearing up after coronavirus
	Regulatory environment
	Company forecasts
	Expectations regarding the operating business segments
	Real Estate & Savings Banks/Financial Institutions segment
	Corporates & Markets segment
	DKB segment

	Future plans for the BayernLB Group
	Opportunities and risks


	Statement of comprehensive income
	Income statement
	Statement of comprehensive income (condensed)

	Balance sheet
	Assets
	Liabilities

	Statement of changes in equity
	Cash flow statement
	Notes
	Notes to the half-yearly financial statements                                                                                   77
	Notes to the half-yearly financial statements
	Accounting policies
	(1) Principles
	Impact of amended and new International Financial Reporting Standards
	• IFRS 4
	• IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16


	(2) Changes on the previous year
	Adjustments in accordance with IAS 8.14 et seq.
	Adjustments in accordance with IAS 8.32 et seq.
	Adjustments in accordance with IAS 8.41 et seq.

	(3) Scope of consolidation
	Determining the scope of consolidation


	Segment reporting
	(4) Notes to the segment report
	Notes on delimitation of segments


	Notes to the statement of comprehensive income
	(5) Net interest income
	(6) Risk provisions
	(7) Net commission income
	(8) Gains or losses on fair value measurement
	(9) Gains or losses on hedge accounting
	(10) Gains or losses on derecognised financial assets
	(11) Gains or losses on financial investments
	(12) Administrative expenses
	(13) Expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee scheme
	(14) Other income and expenses
	(15) Gains or losses on restructuring

	Notes to the balance sheet
	(16) Cash reserves
	(17) Loans and advances to banks
	(18) Loans and advances to customers
	(19) Risk provisions
	Impact of the coronavirus pandemic

	(20) Assets held for trading
	(21) Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)
	(22) Financial investments
	(23) Investment property
	(24) Property, plant and equipment
	(25) Intangible assets
	(26) Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale
	(27) Other assets
	(28) Liabilities to banks
	(29) Liabilities to customers
	(30) Securitised liabilities
	(31) Liabilities held for trading
	(32) Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)
	(33) Provisions
	(34) Liabilities of disposal groups
	(35) Other liabilities
	(36) Subordinated capital
	(37) Equity
	Revaluation surplus


	Notes to financial instruments
	(38) Fair value of financial instruments1
	(39) Financial instrument measurement categories
	(40) Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
	Financial instruments measured at fair value

	(41) Derivatives transactions

	Supplementary disclosures
	(42) Revenue from contracts with customers
	(43) Trust transactions
	(44) Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and other commitments
	(45) Administrative bodies of BayernLB
	Supervisory Board
	Board of Management (including allocation of responsibilities as from 1 May 2021)

	(46) Related party disclosure
	Relationships with the Free State of Bavaria
	Relationships with the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks
	Relationships with investees
	Relationships with other related parties

	(47) Events after the reporting period


	Responsibility statement by the Board of Management
	Review Report
	Supplementary information
	Financial measures not calculated in accordance with IFRS
	Return on equity (RoE)
	Cost/income ratio (CIR)



